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Throughout this review (unless otherwise stated):
1. Growth rates are on an underlying basis, excluding the impact of currency movements and portfolio changes. In 2005, currency movements 

increased sales on a continuing business basis by £46m and profits by £12m, while portfolio changes increased sales by £29m and profits by £9m.
2. Profit measures are presented on an adjusted basis to exclude: i) other net gains and losses arising in connection with the sale of

subsidiaries, investments and associates; ii) amortisation of acquired intangible assets; and iii) short-term fluctuations in the market value 
of financial instruments (under IAS 39) and other currency movements (under IAS 21).

3. The ‘business performance’ measures, which Pearson uses alongside other measures to track performance are non-GAAP measures 
for both US and UK reporting. Pearson uses these measures because we consider them to be most useful for tracking underlying 

business performance. Reconciliations of operating profit, adjusted earnings per share and operating free cash flow to the equivalent 
statutory heading under IFRS are included in notes 2, 9 and 29 of the governance and financial statements.

4. Dollar comparative figures have been translated at the year end rate of $1.72: £1 sterling for illustrative purposes only.



Dear shareholder,

This is my first letter to you as chairman and a fellow shareholder of Pearson.
I have long admired Pearson’s brands and content and am honoured to be
associated with them.

This is an exciting time for your company. We have reported very strong
operating results for 2005. Our education business, the world leader, has
increased sales and profits five-fold over the past eight years and shows good
future prospects. Penguin and the FT Group are recovering after some tough
years and adding to the sense of growing momentum in Pearson as a whole.

Our thanks go to the people in Pearson for this excellent result.

SH A R E H O L D E R VA LU E

My personal focus over the next few years will be to help build long-term value
for Pearson’s shareholders. I believe the key to long-term value is growth: growth
in customer revenues; growth in earnings; and growth in the returns on the
capital you have entrusted to us.

Our current results provide us with a solid base for future growth.
But growth is not easy. To succeed, we need to adapt to constantly
changing markets.

ADA P T I N G TO C H A N G E

We have to recognise the pace and nature of change in the
media industry. The relentless shift to a digital world has
huge implications for how we create, store, protect, package
and charge for our content. This shift also brings new
sources of competition: free content on the internet; a free-
flowing market for secondhand books; easy copying of
digital files; and increasingly powerful search engines.

CH A I R M A N’S STAT E M E N T
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It is comforting to see that Pearson recognised those changes at an early stage
and has been investing to ensure we’re well placed to benefit from the associated
opportunities. In education, for example, we are shifting from a textbook
company to a multimedia student and instructor services resource, providing
online homework, assessment and tutoring to complement our more traditional
content. That strategy has delivered consistently excellent results. The future for
customised materials that enable students to work at their own pace, in their own
way, looks promising.

The good news is that Pearson is facing change from a position of strength,
with the best brands, the best content and the best people in our industries.

ST R AT E G I C F L E X I B I L I T Y

Pearson is constantly thinking about the future of its businesses. The board has a
well-established process of reviewing the strategy and plans of the whole
company and of each of its constituent parts.

In recent years, though the pace of portfolio change may have slowed from the
radical reshaping that took place between 1997 and 2000, Pearson has continued
to change shape. We have sold our stakes in Recoletos and MarketWatch, and
steadily invested in smaller acquisitions which are performing well and creating
value. The clear strategy is to reallocate scarce capital resources towards the best
opportunities for growth in earnings and returns. We expect that process 
to continue.

TH E B OA R D

Your board will also experience its fair share of change this year.
Dennis Stevenson has stepped down after 19 years as a director and eight years

as chairman. He played a critical role in Pearson’s development, combining 
the courage to support our reshaping with the determination to steady it through
some of its toughest years. He will take as much pleasure as any of us in seeing 
the promise of Pearson now coming through, and I know that shareholders will
want to join me in thanking Dennis for his enormous contribution throughout
the years.
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As Dennis announced at last year’s annual meeting, two non-executive
directors, with more than 30 years of service between them, are also stepping
down this year. Reuben Mark and Vernon Sankey have brought deep business
experience, wise counsel and international perspectives to our board, and have
chaired our personnel and audit committees with distinction. We thank them for
the part they have played in the company for so long.

In their place, we are proposing to add two excellent independent 
non-executive directors to the board. Sir David Arculus was chairman of O2 until
it was acquired by Telefonica earlier this year and has led several media companies
including IPC Group, United Business Media and EMAP. Ken Hydon, a non-
executive director of Tesco and Reckitt Benckiser, is the former finance director 
of Vodafone. They bring tremendous experience of the media and technology
industries and will add much to the board’s work on strategy and governance.

I am very much looking forward to meeting many of you at our annual
meeting later this year. I hope it will be the first of many where we can all celebrate
excellent operating performance and a sustained increase in shareholder value.

Glen Moreno, Chairman
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2005 2004
HEADLINE UNDERLYING

£M $M £M $M GROWTH % GROWTH %

Business performance

Sales – continuing 4,096 7,045 3,696 6,357 11 9

Adjusted operating profit – 
continuing 509 875 400 688 27 22

Adjusted profit before tax 422 726 350 602 21 23

Adjusted earnings per share 34.1p 58.7¢ 27.5p 47.3¢ 24 24

Operating cash flow 570 980 418 719 36 –

Free cash flow 431 741 284 488 52 –

Return on invested capital 6.7% 6.2% – 1.0% pts

Net debt 996 1,713 1,221 2,100 18 –

Statutory results

Operating profit 536 922 404 695 33 –

Profit before tax 466 802 325 559 43 –

Basic earnings per share 78.2p 134.5¢ 32.9p 56.6¢ 138 –

Basic earnings per share – 
continuing 40.4p 69.5¢ 30.8p 53.0¢ 31 –

Cash flow from operations 875 1,505 705 1,213 24 –

Dividend per share 27.0p 46.4¢ 25.4p 43.7¢ 6 –

The profit measures within business performance above are presented on an adjusted basis to exclude: i) other net gains and losses 
arising in connection with the sale of subsidiaries, investments and associates; ii) amortisation of acquired intangible assets;
and iii) short-term fluctuations in the market value of financial instruments (under IAS 39) and other currency movements

(under IAS 21). Growth rates are on an underlying basis, excluding the impact of currency movements and portfolio changes.
The underlying growth in the return on invested capital represents the constant currency growth.



AD J U S T E D OP E R AT I N G PRO F I T: TOTA L £M $M

SA L E S : TOTA L £,M $,M
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Penguin: 20%
£804m $1,383m

FT Group:*
15%
£629m
$1,082m

School: 32%
£1,295m $2,227m

Europe: 24%
£963m $1,656m

North
America: 66%
£2,717m $4,673m

Asia
Pacific: 7%
£300m $516m

RoW: %
£116m $200m

Asia Pacific: 7%
£37m $64m

Europe: 5%
£24m $41m

North
America: 85%
£431m $741m

RoW: 3%
£17m $29m

Higher
Education: 19%
£779m $1,340m

Professional: 14%
£589m $1,013m

Penguin: 12%
£60m $102m

FT Group:*
20%
£101m
$174m

School: 29%
£147m $253m

Higher
Education: 30%
£156m $269m

Professional: %
£45m $77m

*Includes IDC.
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Sales

05 £4,096m $7,045m

04 £3,696m $6,357m

03 £3,850m $6,622m

Adjusted Operating Profit – Continuing 

05 £509m $875m

04 £400m $688m

03 £416m $716m

Adjusted Earnings per share

05 34.1p 58.7¢

04 27.5p 47.3¢

03 27.6p 47.5¢

Free Cash Flow

05

04 £284m  $488m

£431m  $741m

03 £190m  $327m

Return on Invested Capital

05 6.7%

*at constant currency

04 6.2%

03 6.0%

Net Debt

05 £996m $1,713m

04 £1,221m $2,100m

03 £1,376m $2,367m

Dividend Per Share

05 27.0p 46.4¢

04 25.4p 43.7¢

03 24.2p 41.6¢

7.2% *

Margin

05 12.4%

04 10.8%

03 10.8%
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ooking back on last year, I am as proud as I possibly can be of Pearson 
and the 33,000 people who work here. We said that 2005 would be a year
when all we’ve done to make our company a leader in its markets would

begin to pay off, and we’ve kept our word.

TH E H E A D L I N E S

The results – outlined on the page opposite – speak for themselves. But I hope you
won’t mind if I belabour the highlights just a little:

• Sales were up 9%, growing faster than at any time in the past five years.

• Profits were up 22% to £509m, with margins rising to 12.4%, helped by our
efforts to get leaner and more efficient.

• We generated more cash than ever before. Operating cash flow grew by more
than a third and free cash flow by more than half, to £431m.

• Each business contributed to the growth. The largest – education – posted records,
with sales up 12% to £2.66bn and profits up 22% to £348m.

We’re pleased with that financial progress and what it 
means for the value of our shareholders’ (and our own)

investments. But, as always with Pearson, the numbers tell 
only part of the story. The financial performance was 
the product of our achievements in helping students learn,

helping business people make sense of the world,
and helping stimulate the thinking and imaginations 

of readers of all ages. The value of those achievements 
is incalculable.

CH I E F EX E C U T I V E’S REV I EW

L
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A few examples:

• Last year our education customers – teachers and students alike – really began
to feel the power of a new generation of computer-delivered learning tools that
help each student help himself. We launched a string of products that use
on-the-spot, personalised assessment and different kinds of media to present
material in varied ways and at varied paces; and we had some stunning results.
Our aim continues to be to make education not just universally available, but
universally effective.

• Last year our global business newspaper restored its profitability and upheld its
singular reputation around the world. It benefited from a sharp focus on

business and financial news, comment and analysis; and it
benefited from its uniquely international perspective –
making it an attractive worldwide advertising medium and
extremely pertinent in coverage of the long-expected
phenomenon of the globalisation of business and politics.

• Last year Penguin celebrated its 70th birthday in vintage form: it numbered
among its authors those who won the year’s best prizes – a Pulitzer prize, a
National Book Award, the Whitbread Book of the Year award, to name a few.
And while it was celebrating, it did what Penguin has done best for seven
decades – it invented some new ways to publish its renowned bestsellers.

TH E S T R AT E G Y

Last year’s growth was possible (and heralds good prospects for more of the same)
as a result of a strategy we’ve pursued for some years now:

We believe education – lifelong, from childhood through our working 
lives and into our dotage – will be one of the great growth industries of the 
21st Century. While the developing worlds of China and India are getting
younger, America and Western Europe are getting older, yet both ends of that
spectrum will have to learn and go on learning. Our health and the cost of living
and state of our pensions allow and require us to work longer than our forebears;
and our economies now need workers with brainpower more than muscle power.

About 60% of all Pearson’s sales already come from institutional education,
but we see the opportunity as a lot wider than that. Much of education does not
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Above: All Pearson’s businesses depend on people wanting to read for education, information or
entertainment. Good reading habits are learnt in the early years and in 2005 we published Reading Street,
our new elementary reading curriculum. Millions of American elementary school children will learn to
read through this programme, the first to comply with the US Department of Education’s nationwide
literacy initiative, Reading First.

So we’ve been building an education company to suit that world. We want to be
the biggest, the most effective, and the most valuable. But most importantly, we want
to be the kind of ‘education company’ that is focused on making people more able to
learn in different ways; more able to get a job; more able to move on in their career;
more able to make better decisions; more able to understand new concepts; more able
to use their intellect to solve problems or just to draw more out of life.

happen formally in a classroom: much of learning is on-the-job; much 
of it is in the process of entertaining ourselves; much of it is through what we
read; much of it is through talking to others about what they have read 
or learned or interpreted.
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To be that broad and versatile ‘education company’, we think we have to achieve a
few simple business goals:

Market leadership Our brands are some of the world’s most durable and most
familiar. Many of them define their product categories. The Financial Times
stands for probing business news and analysis. Penguin stands for a quality
read…and a good read. In formal education, too, our brands are world leaders:
Scott Foresman in elementary schools; Prentice Hall in secondary schools and,
with Addison Wesley, on college campuses; Longman in English language
teaching. Coupling those brands with outstanding content, inventive technology
applications and constantly improving operations has given Pearson its edge.

Organic investment For many years, even the leaner ones, we’ve been investing
from the inside out, improving our products and services. We’ve steadily devoted
capital to the publishing industry’s version of ‘research and development’ – new
books and new teaching programmes. As a result, we’re publishing more first-
time Penguin authors; more first editions in higher education; and more major
school programmes than ever before.

We’ve also allocated a good bit of that organic investment to some newer, fast-
growing areas (for instance, school testing, professional certification, learning
software). We invested in technology early, consistently during the internet boom
and stolidly through the bust to prepare our businesses for the age of digital
media. That age is here, and we’re ready.

International expansion Their international reach sets each one of our businesses
apart. We’ve taken the Financial Times from being the UK’s business newspaper

to being the world’s business newspaper – the only paper with
more readers outside its home market than in.
Penguin stands for high quality books throughout the
English-speaking world. We help more people around
the world learn English than any other company. And
our education business has sales of $1.4bn outside the
US – three times the size of its nearest competitor.

Efficiency improvement All the while we’ve been investing in growth and change
and technology, we’ve also been trying to become more efficient, usually by
making more of our scale as one company. Pearson’s margins improved from
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Above: For the past four years, while the FT’s business and financial advertising suffered, its luxury goods
categories boomed. We invested heavily in How To Spend It, the FT’s luxury lifestyle magazine which
appeals to the hearts of the FT’s affluent readers and the minds of discerning luxury goods advertisers.
How To Spend It is now established as a premier advertising vehicle for the world’s most exclusive
consumer goods companies, and its advertising revenues have increased at an average rate of more than
10% over the past four years.

10.8% in 2004 to 12.4% in 2005 and our working capital to sales ratio improved
by two percentage points to 27.4%.

We’ve now saved many millions in costs, and in the process we’ve also become
better at sharing assets. By the end of this year, we will have made more than 
$1bn of revenue from products and services that involved more than one Pearson
company in their creation and sale.
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Left: In Jamie’s Italy, one of Penguin’s 183 bestsellers in 2005, chef Jamie Oliver travelled the country
learning about the culinary traditions and techniques that have passed from generation to generation.
His previous book Jamie’s Dinners, also a 2005 bestseller, sparked a national debate in the UK about the
quality of school meals and the importance of healthy eating.

Constant change From 1997 to 2000, Pearson embarked on a radical
transformation from a company with diverse, well-known and respected assets to
a company united by the similarity of focus and assets and attributes of all its
businesses. Since 2000, we’ve shifted our focus from that pruning phase to organic
growth and operating efficiency.

But we’re never finished evolving. Our industries are changing fast, and we’re
constantly reviewing our approach to that change for the whole company and for
its individual parts. Over the past four years, we sold three times (by value) as
many assets as we acquired. In 2005, we sold our stakes in Recoletos and
MarketWatch, though both are very fine companies, and we made a series of small
acquisitions to take our businesses into new markets (special needs education
through a company called AGS, teacher development and school reform through
Co-Nect and professional testing through Promissor).

We believe these attitudes and actions put us on the path for producing
continuing growth in sales, profits, cash and return on capital; for continuing to
increase our dividend above inflation; and for continuing to build an enduring
business of increasing value that helps educate people in a variety of ways.

To our shareholders, thank you for sticking with Pearson through some tough
years. I hope you feel that in 2005 we began to repay your trust and patience.
All of us are working to make good on our promise again this year, and well into
the future.

Marjorie Scardino, Chief executive
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Pearson Education is the world’s leading education company, providing print and
digital learning materials and services used by more than 100 million students of
all ages every year. Our business serves educators and their students in three
worldwide sectors: School, Higher education and Professional.

chool Over the past five years, we have become the world’s leading school
company. We built our business around our customers – teachers, schools
and administrators – and their mission to make a lasting impact on learning

for each and every child.
To do that, we have invested in vivid, research-based instructional content,

rigorous assessment, pertinent data about students and powerful technology.
Put together, these resources enable teachers to measure
and pinpoint their students’ learning needs, and to teach
each child in his own way, at his own pace.

That approach puts us in the sweet spot of several trends
in school education, which helped us to a record year in
2005 (our School sales were up 16% to almost £1.3bn and

profits 29% higher at £147m). In the US, our largest market, the federal
government is focusing attention and investment on several areas where we lead
the field: testing, reading instruction, student information and the professional
development of teachers. In the UK, we are helping to modernise school testing,
marking millions of examinations on-screen and making the process faster, more
secure and more informative for students, parents and teachers.

PE A R S O N ED U C AT I O N

S

Pearson  Education

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £1,295M $2,227M

04 £1,087M $1,870M

03 £1,149M $1,977M

05 £147M $253M

04 £108M $186M

03 £116M $200M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £779M $1,340M 05 £156M $269M

SALES £1,295M $2,227M ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT £147M $253M

SC H O O L PE R F O R M A N C E
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Above: The British Council estimates that, within 10-15 years, two billion people will be learning
English. Pearson is the world’s leading publisher for students of English as a second language, and in the
past two years we have invested in major new international programmes for elementary, secondary, adult
and business markets. English Adventure, our award-winning course for children aged 3-12, combines
the educational pedigree of Pearson Longman with the enchanting power of Disney characters that
children know and love. We have launched local versions across the globe and the programme will
ultimately be sold in more than 50 countries.

Disney material © 2004 Disney Enterprises, Inc. Pearson produces the English Adventure product pursuant to a license agreement with Disney publishing.
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In many other markets around the world, demand is growing for materials
to improve reading and maths skills and to help students learn English as a 
second language.

Looking ahead, these trends in school education and the strengths in these
very areas built into our business give us plenty of scope for long-term growth.
We think our school business will continue its growth in sales and profits as it
helps teachers teach and students learn.

igher education Pearson is the worldwide leader in
publishing, technology and related services for college
and university students. Our higher education business

– the world’s largest, with £779m in sales in 2005 – has grown
faster than its industry for each of the past seven years.

The foundation of this business is its content: across almost
all academic disciplines, we publish some of the world’s most
renowned thinkers and authors, including Kotler in marketing, Campbell in
biology and Hubbard in economics. We work very closely with our authors,
typically over many years, to ensure their teaching materials meet the learning
needs and styles of today’s students.

Higher education publishing has been a very predictable growth market, with
industry sales increasing every year for the past two decades. In the US, our largest
market, student enrolments have been increasing steadily – from 14 million in

H

Left: Technology is changing the way that teachers teach and students learn. In US Higher Education,
Pearson has pioneered a series of online learning resources such as MyMathLab. The system allows
college maths students to practice problems and submit assignments online, and the software intervenes
and provides assistance if the student is struggling. Last year students submitted 11 million assignments
online through this programme, and colleges using the system are reporting significant increases in
student pass rates.

Pearson  Education

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £1,295M $2,227M

04 £1,087M $1,870M

03 £1,149M $1,977M

05 £147M $253M

04 £108M $186M

03 £116M $200M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £779M $1,340M

04 £729M $1,254M

03 £770M $1,324M

05 £156M $269M

04 £129M $221M

03 £142M $244M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £589M $1,013M

04 £507M $872M

$

05 £45M $77M

04 £40M $69M

$

SA L E S £779M $1,340M AD J U S T E D OP E R AT I N G PRO F I T £156M $269M

HI G H E R ED U C AT I O N PE R F O R M A N C E




PE A R S O N AN N UA L REV I EW 2005

1995 to 17 million in 2005 – and are projected to continue to grow, reaching 
19 million by the end of this decade.

Yet behind this picture of consistent growth also lies one of the most dynamic
and innovative segments of the media and publishing industries. We have grown
and prospered because of our unique combination of industry-leading
innovation and worldwide scale. Three strategies in particular are setting Pearson
apart from competitors and helping us to grow faster than the market:

Technology We combine print textbooks with web-based
services. Over 3.6 million college students in America use
one of our online services which enable them to explore
content, do their homework, take practice tests, receive
instant feedback and connect with their professors. These
services are growing rapidly, helping students to improve
their performance.

Customisation We offer educators the chance to create
textbooks and digital resources built around their own courses, blending content
from our books, their own course materials and many other sources. This
business has grown its sales by more than 25% for each of the past five years.

International expansion Many of our higher education textbooks are seasoned
travellers. Kotler’s Principles of Marketing, for instance, has been printed in 
23 languages. We are also now taking our online programmes and custom
publishing capabilities and making them available in international markets.

Those advantages helped Pearson’s higher education business to a record year
in 2005, with sales up 5% and profits up 19% to £156m. With strong competitive
advantages and healthy markets, we believe this business is well set for continued,
steady growth in the years ahead.

rofessional Peter Drucker, the world-famous management thinker, once
wrote: “The growth industry of the future in the world will soon be the
continuing education of adults . . . the educated person of the future is

somebody who realises the need to continue to learn.”
P





If he was right, our professional education business, which provides a range of
content and services for adult learners, has good prospects. It has three major parts.

Professional testing and certification We are a world
leader in assessing and certifying people to practice in
their chosen profession. This year some 3.5 million
people – including nurses, dentists, lawyers, securities
dealers and business school applicants as well as local
real estate and insurance agents – will take a test in one
of our 400 centres worldwide. This business is growing
very fast indeed – up more than 30% in each of the past
two years – as we benefit from a series of large contract
wins and our leadership in computer-based testing.

Technology publishing We are the world’s leading publisher of books about
technology, from the basics of using a PC, an iPod or a video game through to
detailed technical manuals for software engineers. For the past five years, this
market has been in decline, reflecting the overall trend of the IT industries. We
have been moving our business more toward digital publishing and at the same
time maintained our healthy margins and market share, and we now begin to see
improved market conditions ahead of us.

Government Solutions We provide a range of services to connect citizens to
government services. Our largest customer is the US Department of Education
for whom we manage college students’ applications for federal financial support.
This business has the advantage of very reliable, predictable revenue streams
because it is based on multi-year contracts with governments: in 2005 alone it
won more than $1bn of new business for the future, some of it under contract as
far ahead as 2015.
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Pearson  Education

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £1,295M $2,227M

04 £1,087M $1,870M

03 £1,149M $1,977M

05 £147M $253M

04 £108M $186M

03 £116M $200M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £779M $1,340M

04 £729M $1,254M

03 £770M $1,324M

05 £156M $269M

04 £129M $221M

03 £142M $244M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £589M $1,013M

04 £507M $872M

03 £503M $865M

05 £45M $77M

04 £40M $69M

03 £34M $58M

The Financial Times Group

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £629M $1,082M 05    £101M $174M

SA L E S £589M $1,013M AD J U S T E D OP E R AT I N G PRO F I T £45M $77M

PRO F E S S I O NA L PE R F O R M A N C E
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he FT Group brings together some of the most trusted and reliable 
brands in business and financial information. In 2005 it increased profits by
more than one-third and restored its world-famous pink newspaper to profit.

Interactive Data Corporation, our 62%-owned financial information business,
was once again the powerhouse behind this progress. Acquired by Pearson in 1995
to counter the cyclical swings of our advertising-funded business newspapers,
IDC has been a model of rapid and consistent growth, increasing profits almost

four-fold in only seven years to a record £80m.
2005 was also a year when our business newspapers began to

emerge from a deep four-year business advertising recession.
The Financial Times achieved a profit of £2m – an improvement of
£14m on 2004 – as newspaper circulation stabilised and advertising
revenues increased by 9%. Global advertising – booked for all print
editions of the FT newspaper – was up more than 20%, and it now
accounts for around half of all the FT’s advertising. FT.com showed
its importance to the FT’s future, with over 3.2 million unique

users, 84,000 paying subscribers and online advertising increasing by 27%.
Through the year, the FT continued to expand its reach and influence around

the world. The Global Capital Markets Survey named the FT the world’s ‘most
important business read’ and the European Opinion Leaders Survey named it
Europe’s leading, most credible and most respected title. The FT’s Asia edition,
launched in 2003, achieved a circulation of over 36,400 in the second half of 2005
– a 14% increase year on year – and FTChinese.com logged 250,000 registered

TH E FI NA N C I A L TI M E S GRO U P

T



Pearson  Education

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £1,295M $2,227M

04 £1,087M $1,870M

03 £1,149M $1,977M

05 £147M $253M

04 £108M $186M

03 £116M $200M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £779M $1,340M

04 £729M $1,254M

03 £770M $1,324M

05 £156M $269M

04 £129M $221M

03 £142M $244M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £589M $1,013M

04 £507M $872M

03 £503M $865M

05 £45M $77M

04 £40M $69M

03 £34M $58M

The Financial Times Group

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £629M $1,082M

04 £587M $1,010M

03 £588M $1,011M

05    £101M $174M

04 £71M $122M

03 £41M $71M

The Penguin Group

S

SA L E S £629M $1,082M ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT £101M $174M

TH E FI NA N C I A L TI M E S GRO U P PE R F O R M A N C E
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users and a formidable reputation among China’s business elite. A similar story
was told across the FT’s network of leading national business titles. In France,
Les Echos reached a circulation of 119,000. In Germany, FT Deutschland
celebrated its fifth anniversary with a circulation of more than 100,000 copies.
And The Economist, the world’s best weekly newspaper, took its circulation past
1,000,000 for the first time in its history.

We’ve followed a very clear strategy for the FT Group: to take a UK business
newspaper and make it the world’s business newspaper; to take a once-a-day
morning read and make it a relevant through-the-day business tool; to attract
premium advertising by collecting a global audience of the people who run the
world; and to construct a powerful, resilient financial information business in
IDC that can prosper through the business cycle.

That strategy is working, as the FT benefits from its unique position as a global
source of news, comment and analysis.

Above: The FT continues to provide leaders in business, finance and politics with the best news,
comment and analysis on the major international issues of the day. Our investment in the FT’s Asia
edition has coincided with intense interest in the rise of India and China, and the implications for
international business, politics and economics.
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n 2005, Penguin celebrated 70 years of publishing high quality books for a
wide audience at affordable prices. Marking the anniversary, the UK’s
Independent newspaper said: “More than any Education Act, Penguin

redesigned the intellectual landscape of Britain,” and The Times declared: “In its
three score and ten, the cheeky Penguin has achieved more for the uplift of the
British mind than even the leviathans of Oxbridge.”

In publishing terms, it was a year as strong as any in Penguin’s proud history.
Our authors scooped a string of major awards: a Pulitzer Prize (for Steve Coll’s 
Ghost Wars), a National Book Award (William T. Vollman’s Europe Central), the

Whitbread Book of the Year (Hilary Spurling’s
Matisse the Master) and the Financial Times &
Goldman Sachs Business Book of the Year Award
(Thomas Friedman’s The World is Flat).

And it was also a year when Penguin put a
tough 2004 behind it and looked forward. In its
seventieth year, an impressive publishing

performance ensured it had an average of two New York Times bestsellers and a
UK top ten bestseller every week. In 2005, Penguin made its biggest ever
investment in new talent, publishing more than 150 first-time authors in the US
alone. It also built on its reputation for innovation, launching new book formats
and enjoying rapid growth in online sales, online book clubs and podcasts. At the
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05 £1,295M $2,227M

04 £1,087M $1,870M

03 £1,149M $1,977M

05 £147M $253M

04 £108M $186M

03 £116M $200M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £779M $1,340M

04 £729M $1,254M

03 £770M $1,324M

05 £156M $269M

04 £129M $221M

03 £142M $244M

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £589M $1,013M

04 £507M $872M

03 £503M $865M

05 £45M $77M

04 £40M $69M

03 £34M $58M

The Financial Times Group

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £629M $1,082M

04 £587M $1,010M

03 £588M $1,011M

05    £101M $174M

04 £71M $122M

03 £41M $71M

The Penguin Group

Sales Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £804M $1,383M

04 £786M $1,351M

03 £840M $1,445M

05 £60M $102M

04 £52M $90M

03 £83M $143M

SA L E S £804M $1,383M AD J U S T E D OP E R AT I N G PRO F I T £60M $102M

TH E PE N G U I N GRO U P PE R F O R M A N C E
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same time, it moved ahead in newer markets like India and China, publishing its
first books in Hindi and acquiring worldwide rights to one of China’s most
popular authors. And it made room for all those investments with a series of
actions to reduce costs and become more efficient.

Book publishing is not an easy market – it faces pressure from secondhand
books, price discounting and the internet. But Penguin marked its 70th birthday
in style, beating off world-famous brands from all industries to be named British
Brand of the Year. With the power of its brand, the talent of its authors and 
its commitment to creativity and innovation, the world-famous bird is in 
good health.

Above: Penguin had a fantastic bestseller performance in the US and UK in 2005, with 129 New York
Times bestsellers and a 66 week run for Khaled Hosseini’s The Kite Runner. In the UK, Penguin had 54
titles featured in the top ten in 2005, with 12 titles making it to the number one spot.
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elcome to our report on ‘Our Business and Society’ for 2005.
Social responsibility is core to our business, whether we’re helping
students achieve the best possible results at school, encouraging college

students to become teachers or helping business people make better decisions.
In everything we do, our aim is to combine a commitment to our commercial

goals with a clear understanding of our responsibilities in the wider world and
our performance has continued to improve over the past year.

We have seen a terrible succession of disasters and man-made
tragedies across the world – from the earthquake in Pakistan and
India, to the hurricanes in the US and the terrorist attacks in
London. In each case, the spirit and practical response of people all
around Pearson was characteristically generous and inspiring. We
have continued to develop our relationship with Jumpstart and
Book Aid International and we’re pushing forward with the work

of the Pearson Foundation in the US.
As a creative business, we rely heavily on the imagination and brainpower of the

thousands of people who work here and we continue to place great emphasis on the
need for the makeup of our businesses to reflect the communities in which they operate.

It may sound like a cliché, but it is true that we believe our people are our
greatest asset. For us, corporate responsibility does not belong in a ‘box’
somewhere out of sight. It is a daily part of what the company strives to be: brave,
imaginative and decent in the way it treats its customers, its suppliers, its own
people and the wider world in which it operates.

The following pages briefly outline how we performed against last year’s
targets and set some standards for us to reach in 2006. The full report is available
at www.pearson.com/community/csr_report2005. Please do not hesitate to send
questions or comments to david.bell@pearson.com.

David Bell, Director for people

OU R BU S I N E S S A N D SO C I E T Y

W
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Above: This year Pearson and non-profit organisation Jumpstart will create the largest ever shared
reading experience. Jumpstart, Pearson’s long-term partner in the US, has chosen a special edition 
of Penguin’s The Little Engine That Could to be the official book for the Read for the Record event 
in August 2006. Each book sold will fund an hour of individual Jumpstart mentoring for an at-risk 
pre-school child.
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In 2005 we focused on some specific targets. Here’s how we performed against them:

1. Continue to advance in key indices of social responsibility. We again improved our
score in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices 2005. We also moved forward again
in the 2004 Business in the Community Corporate Responsibility Index and have
been included in the FTSE4Good Indices since inception. And for the second
year, Pearson was ranked as a top 100 company in the Most Sustainable
Companies in the World listing by Innovest.

2. Commission an independent review of social, environmental and ethical (SEE)
processes. With an independent consultancy, we carried out a review of the SEE
risk processes in our UK businesses. The review found that overall the current
processes were appropriate, but made some recommendations to strengthen our
approach which we are now implementing.

3. Work with UK media companies and industry bodies to benchmark measurements
of good practice. We continue to work with the CSR media forum. This group
consists of many of the major media companies in the UK and meets regularly
throughout the year. We also presented our sustainable paper sourcing policy in
the UK to other national newspaper publishers through the Newspaper
Publishers Association.

4. Introduce independent verification for targeted areas of social responsibility
activities. Our environmental review was independently verified and the
statement can be viewed at www.pearson.com/environment. Pearson also joined
with several UK publishing groups under the auspices of Publishers Resolution
for Ethical International Manufacturing Standards (PRELIMS) to introduce a
social accountability audit of the printers we use around the world. From 
1 January 2007, none of the signatories to PRELIMS will use a printer who has
not satisfactorily engaged in this process, by either achieving the standard or
having in place an acceptable plan for improvement.

5. Complete the register of the environmental performance of our key printers.
We have added further printers to our register during the year and this objective
is broadly complete. This register is updated regularly.
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6. Map the sources of wood, certification methods used and recycled content for the
paper supplied to us for our books and newspapers. We have established a new
process to receive annual returns data from our main global paper suppliers on
the source, certification and recycled content of the paper we use. This
information is helping us meet our commitments on improved certification of
the paper we use. We continue to work with WWF UK Forest and Trade Network
as we enhance our responsible paper sourcing practice.

7. Continue to assess key printers and paper suppliers against UN Global Compact
standards. Our programme of supplier visits in China, India and elsewhere
continued in 2005. Some existing plants were revisited, particularly where we had
concerns, and the programme was extended to include South Korea.

8. Continue to reduce energy used in our buildings. We achieved progress towards
our target of a 10% reduction in electricity and gas usage per square metre of our
space, from 2003 to 2008. Energy use figures are included in our environmental
review at www.pearson.com/environment.

9. Continue to recruit and promote people from diverse backgrounds as well as
increase the number of women in senior management roles. In 2005 we created and
circulated our ‘diversity mid career hiring strategy’ to senior managers in the UK
and the US. Each company has been asked to develop an approach to encourage
more recruitment from diverse backgrounds, especially in areas which are
currently under-represented. Pearson hosted the first main event for the National
Newspaper Diversity Forum (NNDF) in 2005 – the prize-giving ceremony for the
School Journalism Competition. NNDF was set up in 2004 to generate more
interest in journalism among under-represented groups in society and is chaired
by David Bell.

10. Develop a strategic community partnership in the UK. Pearson is piloting a new
community programme in the UK, giving a free book to every five year old in
Warwickshire and Southwark in their first term of primary school.
The programme aims to promote the pleasure of reading, encouraging children
and parents to take time to read together. Pearson is working on the programme
with Booktrust, an independent national charity. If the pilot is successful, the
programme will be extended more widely across the UK in 2006.
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Continue to advance in the key indices of social responsibility.

Examine ways to minimise the environmental impact of book packaging.

Extend our environment and labour standards auditing to our printers in 
South Africa and Latin America.

Continue our drive for independently verified certification to ensure the
suitability of paper we purchase for our books and newspapers – this will

expand to include jackets and covers.

Conduct our biennial employee survey.

Continue to recruit and promote people from diverse backgrounds 
and increase the number of women in senior management roles.

Introduce networking groups in the UK and US to develop future leaders 
and retain key employees.

Conduct a full evaluation of the pilot of our UK community programme
and, subject to that, roll out the project more widely.

Continue to develop our partnership with Jumpstart in the US, to support 
and encourage college students to become teachers.

RE M E M B E R, F O R T H E D E TA I L E D R E P O RT V I S I T

W W W.P E A R S O N.C O M/C O M M U N I T Y/C S R_R E P O R T2005
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Chairman
Glen Moreno• chairman, aged 62, was appointed
chairman of Pearson on 1 October 2005. He is the
senior independent non-executive director of Man
Group plc and also a director of Fidelity International
Limited and a trustee of The Prince of Liechtenstein
Foundation and of The Liechtenstein Global Trust.

Executive directors
Marjorie Scardino• chief executive, aged 59, joined 
the Pearson board in January 1997. She trained and
practised as a lawyer, and was chief executive of
The Economist Group from 1993 until joining
Pearson. She is also a non-executive director of
Nokia Corporation.

David Bell director for people, aged 59, became 
a director of Pearson in March 1996. In 1998 he 
was appointed Pearson’s director for people with
responsibility for the recruitment, motivation,
development and reward of employees. He is 
also chairman of the Financial Times Group,
a non-executive director of VITEC Group plc and
chairman of the International Youth Foundation.

John Makinson chairman and chief executive officer 
of The Penguin Group, aged 51, joined the Pearson
board in March 1996 and was finance director 
until June 2002. He was appointed chairman of
The Penguin Group in May 2001. He is also chairman
of Interactive Data Corporation and a non-executive
director of George Weston Limited in Canada.

Rona Fairhead s chief financial officer, aged 44, joined
the Pearson board in June 2002, after serving as deputy
finance director from October 2001. From 1996 until
2001, she worked at ICI, where she served as executive
vice president, group control and strategy. She is also a
non-executive director of HSBC Holdings plc.

Non-executive directors
Terry Burns*†• aged 61, was the UK government’s 
chief economic adviser from 1980 until 1991 and
Permanent Secretary of HM Treasury from 1991 
until 1998. He is non-executive chairman of

Abbey National plc and Glas Cymru Limited and a
non-executive director of Banco Santander Central
Hispano. On 1 October 2005, he was appointed deputy
chairman of Marks and Spencer Group plc. He was
appointed a non-executive director of Pearson in 
May 1999 and senior independent director in 
February 2004.

Reuben Mark*†• aged 67, is chairman and chief
executive of the Colgate-Palmolive Company 
and a non-executive director of Time Warner Inc.
He became a non-executive director of Pearson 
in 1988. He will retire from the board at the 
2006 AGM.

Vernon Sankey*•s aged 56, was previously chief
executive of Reckitt & Colman plc and is chairman 
of Photo-Me International plc. He is a non-executive
director of Taylor Woodrow plc and Zurich Financial
Services AG. He became a non-executive director 
of Pearson in 1993. He will retire from the board at the 
2006 AGM.

Rana Talwar†•s aged 57, was previously group chief
executive of Standard Chartered plc. He is chairman 
of Sabre Capital Worldwide and Centurion Bank and 
a non-executive director of Schlumberger Limited and
Fortis Bank. He became a non-executive director of
Pearson in March 2000.

Patrick Cescau*• aged 57, is group chief executive 
of Unilever. He became a non-executive director 
of Pearson in April 2002.

Susan Fuhrman• aged 61, is dean of Penn Graduate
School of Education at the University of Pennsylvania.
She is a member of the Board of Trustees of the
Carnegie Foundation for the Advancement of Teaching
and a member of the Council for Corporate and School
Partnerships of the Coca-Cola Foundation. She became
a non-executive director of Pearson in July 2004.

* A member of the audit committee.
† A member of the personnel committee.
• A member of the nomination committee.
s A member of the treasury committee.



2005 overview
Pearson predicted that 2005 would be a year of strong
growth and financial progress, driven by education,
our largest business. We have reported that Pearson
Education had its best year ever; that the FT Group
achieved a further significant profit improvement;
and that we see good prospects for continued growth
in 2006 and beyond.

Pearson’s sales increased 9% in 2005, the fastest rate 
of growth for five years. Adjusted operating profit
increased by 22%, well ahead of sales, with profits
improving in all businesses. Operating margin
improved by 1.6% points to 12.4%. Adjusted earnings
per share were 34.1p, up 24%.

In 2005, Pearson generated more cash than ever before,
increasing operating cash flow by £152m or 36% to
£570m and free cash flow by £147m or 52% to £431m.
Cash conversion was particularly strong at 113% of
operating profit. The average working capital to sales
ratio at Pearson Education and Penguin improved by 
a further 2% points to 27.4%, even as we continued to
make a significant investment in new products and
services that will support our future growth.

Our return on invested capital improved to 6.7%,
or 7.2% at constant currency, from 6.2% in 2004.

Our statutory results show an increase in operating
profit to £536m (2004: £404m) and in statutory basic
earnings per share to 78.2p (2004: 32.9p), benefiting
from a £302m profit from Recoletos. We ended the
year with net debt of £996m, a £225m reduction on
2004 despite the sharp increase in the value of the 
US dollar to £1:$1.72 at 31 December which increased
our dollar denominated net debt by £121m.
The £426m proceeds from the sale of our interests 
in Recoletos and MarketWatch were partially used 
in a series of bolt-on acquisitions in education and
financial information, including AGS, Co-nect 
and IS.Teledata.

The board is proposing a dividend increase of 6% to
27.0p. Subject to shareholder approval, 2005 will be
Pearson’s 14th straight year of increasing our dividend
above the rate of inflation, and in the past eight years
we have returned approximately £1.5bn or one-quarter
of our current market value to shareholders through
the dividend.

Rona Fairhead, Chief financial officer
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Adjusted Earnings Per Share

05 34.1p 58.7¢

04 27.5p 47.3¢

03 27.6p 47.5¢

Our progress We increased adjusted earnings per share by 24% on an  
underlying basis. We expect future strong underlying earnings growth in  
2006 as we continue to increase margins and grow ahead of our markets.

Free Cash Flow

05 £431M $741M

04 £284M $488M

03 £190M $327M

Our progress Our free cash flow improved by £147m or 52% to £431m,
helped by strong operating performance and working capital efficiencies.
Although our cash flow benefited from some one-off factors, we expect
another good cash performance in 2006.

Return on Invested Capital

05 6.7% 7.2% *

04 6.2%

03 6.0%

Our progress Our return on invested capital improved from 6.2% in 2005  
to 6.7% or 7.2% at constant currency. We expect a further significant  
improvement in 2006.

*Constant currency
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School
Headline Underlying

2005 2004 growth growth
£m £m % %

Sales 1,295 1,087 19 16

Adjusted 
operating profit 147 108 36 29

Record results in 2005: Sales up 16% to almost £1.3bn;
Profits up 29% to £147m.

Rapid growth in US School publishing, testing 
and technology

• Pearson’s US School publishing business 
grew 12%, ahead of industry growth of 10.5%
(source: Association of American Publishers).

• New adoption market share of 33% where 
Pearson competed (and 24% of the total new
adoption market); leading positions in maths,
science, literature and foreign languages.

• School testing sales up more than 20%, benefiting
from significant market share gains and first year of
mandatory state testing under No Child Left Behind.

• Strong performance in school software, with good
sales and profit growth in curriculum and school
administration services.

Good progress in international school markets

• High single-digit growth in international school
publishing. Worldwide English Language Teaching
business benefiting from strong demand for English
language learning and investments in new products,
including English Adventure (with Disney) for the
primary school market, Sky for secondary schools,
Total English for adult learners, and Intelligent Business
(with The Economist) for the business market.

• Strong growth in international school testing.
Four million UK GCSE, AS and A-Level scripts
marked on screen; first year of running UK National
Curriculum tests completed successfully; new
contract for national school testing pilot in Australia.

Significant efficiency gains and margin improvement

• School margins up by 1.5% points to 11.4% with
efficiency gains in central costs, production,
distribution and software development.

Continued investment for future growth

• US School new adoption market expected to grow
strongly 2007 - 09 (estimated at $620m in 2006;
$800m in 2007; $900m in 2008; $1bn in 2009).

• Steady investment in School publishing: Pearson
publishing major new basal curriculum programmes
for reading, science and social studies, the three
largest adoption disciplines in 2006.

• Healthy outlook in school testing underpinned by
2005 contract wins with a lifetime value of $700m
(including Texas, Virginia, Michigan and Minnesota).

• AGS Publishing, acquired in July 2005, performing
ahead of expectations as special needs market grows
rapidly and integration is on track.

• Acquisition of Co-nect in December 2005 and
creation of Pearson Achievement Solutions targets
growing market for teacher professional development
and integrated school solutions.

Sales

05 £2,663M $4,580M

04 £2,323M $3,996M

03 £2,422M $4,166M

Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £348M $599M

04 £277M $476M

03 £292M $502M



Higher education
Headline Underlying

2005 2004 growth growth
£m £m % %

Sales 779 729 7 5

Adjusted 
operating profit 156 129 21 19

Record results in 2005: Sales up 5% to £779m;
Profits up 19% to £156m.

Above-market growth and significant 
margin improvement

• US Higher education business up 6%, ahead of
industry growth of 5% (source: Association of
American Publishers).

• Pearson’s US Higher education business has grown
faster than the industry for seven straight years.

• Higher education margins up by 2.3% points to 20%.
Good margin improvement in US and International
publishing, boosted by shared services across US 
and international units and saving in central costs;
technology, production and manufacturing.

Strong publishing performance

• Continued growth from market-leading authors 
in key academic disciplines including biology
(Campbell & Reece), chemistry (Brown & LeMay),
sociology (Macionis), marketing (Kotler & Keller),
maths (Tobey & Slater), developmental maths
(Martin-Gay) and English composition 
(Faigley’s Penguin Handbook).

• Rapid expansion in career and workforce education
sector, with major publishing initiatives gaining share
in allied health, criminal justice, paralegal, homeland
security and hospitality.

Rapid growth in online learning and custom publishing

• Approximately 3.6 million US college students
studying through one of our online programmes,
an increase of 20% on 2004.

• MyMathLab, Pearson’s innovative online homework
and assessment programme, increases unit sales 
by almost 50% to 1.1 million, with student
registrations 47% higher. Usage increases by 60%,
with students completing and submitting 11 million
assignments online. Research by colleges using
MyMathLab demonstrates significant improvements
in student achievement.

• Continued strong double-digit growth in custom
publishing - which builds customised textbooks and
online services around the courses of individual
faculties or professors.

Good progress in international markets

• 4% sales growth in Higher education publishing
outside the US. International businesses benefit 
from local adaptation of global authors, including
Campbell and Kotler, and introduction of custom
publishing and online learning capabilities into new
markets in Asia and the Middle East.

Continued investment for future growth

• 2006 expected to be a record year for first editions,
with major new titles in statistics, algebra, psychology,
economics, health and writing.

• Launch of online homework and assessment
programmes in new curriculum areas including
economics, psychology and developmental writing.

• Creation of Custom Media Solutions Group,
extending highly successful customised print
publishing model to online curriculum and 
course management programmes.
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Professional
Headline Underlying

2005 2004 growth growth
£m £m % %

Sales 589 507 16 15

Adjusted 
operating profit 45 40 13 13

Sales up 15% to £589m;
Profits up 13% to £45m.

Professional testing: rapid organic growth; Promissor
acquisition opens new markets

• Professional testing sales up more than 40%,
benefiting from successful start-up of major new
contracts including the Driving Standards Agency,
National Association of Securities Dealers and the
Graduate Management Admissions Council.

• Acquisition of Promissor in January 2006 brings
together two leading international professional testing
companies and takes Pearson into new US state and
federal regulatory markets.

Government Solutions: sales up 38% and $1bn of new
long-term contracts

• Sales up a further 38%, helped by new contracts with
the US Department of Education, the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services and the London
Borough of Southwark. Margins a little lower,
resulting from new contract start-up costs.

• More than $1 billion of new, long-tem contract 
wins for customers including the US Department of
Education, Department of Commerce and the
University of California.

Professional publishing: margins maintained despite
further declines in technology markets

• Worldwide sales of technology-related books
7% lower with continued weakness in 
professional markets partly offset by consumer 
technology publishing.

• Pearson maintains leading market share and 
single-digit margins through further cost actions;
sees stronger schedule of new software releases in
professional and consumer technology markets 
in 2006.

• Good growth in business publishing imprints
including Wharton School Publishing and Financial
Times Prentice Hall. Strong 2006 business list
includes new books from NY Times bestselling
authors Bernard Lewis, Jeffrey Gitomer,
Ken Blanchard and Oren Harari.

OP E R AT I N G A N D FI NA N C I A L REV I EW CO N T I N U E D




PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005

OP E R AT I N G A N D FI NA N C I A L REV I EW CO N T I N U E D

TH E FI NA N C I A L TI M E S GRO U P

FT Publishing
Headline Underlying

2005 2004 growth growth
£m £m % %

Sales 332 318 4 4

Adjusted 
operating profit 21 4 – –

Profits up by £17m on £14m sales improvement

Advertising growth continues and Financial Times 
returns to profit

• FT newspaper sales up 6% to £221m; £14m profit
improvement to £2m.

• FT advertising revenues up 9% (and up 18% in 
the fourth quarter), improving through the year.
Sustained growth in luxury goods and worldwide
display advertising. FT.com advertising revenues up
27% as FT’s biggest advertisers shift to integrated
print and online campaigns.

• More than 90% of advertising revenue improvement
converted to profit in 2005.

• FT’s average worldwide circulation 2% lower for the
year at 426,453 but 1% higher in the second half
at 430,635. FT.com’s paying subscribers up 12% 
to 84,000 and average monthly audience up 7% 
to 3.2 million.

Sustained progress at network of business newspapers

• Sales broadly level and profits £3m higher at the FT
Group’s other business newspapers and magazines.

• Les Echos advertising revenues and circulation level
with 2004 (average circulation of 119,000) despite
tough trading conditions.

• FT Business improves margins and profits with good
growth in international finance titles.

• FT Deutschland reduces losses further despite a weak
advertising market in Germany, and increases average
circulation by 6% to 102,000.

• The Economist, in which Pearson owns a 50% stake,
increases its circulation by 10% to 1,038,519 (for the
January - June ABC period).

Interactive Data Corporation (NYSE: IDC)
Headline Underlying

2005 2004 growth growth
£m £m % %

Sales 297 269 10 7

Adjusted
operating profit 80 67 19 13

Record results in 2005: Sales up 7% to £297m;
Profits up 13% to £80m;
Margins up 2% points to 26.9%.

Sales

05 £629M $1,082M

04 £587M $1,010M

03 £588M $1,011M

Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £101M $174M

04 £71M $122M

03 £41M $71M
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Strong organic growth and operating improvements

• FT Interactive Data, IDC’s largest business
(approximately two-thirds of IDC revenues),
generates strong growth in North America and
returns to growth in Europe.

• Modest growth at Comstock, IDC’s real-time
datafeed business for global financial institutions,
and at CMS BondEdge, its fixed income 
analytics business.

• Renewal rates for IDC’s institutional businesses
remain at around 95%.

• eSignal, IDC’s active trader services business, increases
headline sales by 27% with continued growth of
subscriber base and full-year contribution from
FutureSource, acquired in September 2004.

• Continued progress in transition to two new
consolidated data centres, enabling IDC’s four major
businesses increasingly to feed off one centralised data
and technology infrastructure.

Continued expansion into adjacent markets

• Acquisition of IS.Teledata for $51m (net of cash
acquired) in December 2005 adds web-based
financial data applications and further expands 
IDC’s presence in continental Europe.

• Agreement to acquire Quote.com and related assets
for $30m in February 2006 which will broaden 
IDC’s range of online services for active traders and
financial professionals, and create a new revenue
stream in online financial advertising.
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TH E PE N G U I N GRO U P

Headline Underlying
2005 2004 growth growth

£m £m % %

Sales 804 786 2 1

Adjusted 
operating profit 60 52 15 4

Sales up 1% 
Profit up 4%

Strong operational progress

• Sales up 1%; profit up 4%; margins up 0.9%; strong
cash generation.

• Successful format innovation to help address
weakness of mass market category in the US, down 
a further 4% for the industry in 2005. First seven
Penguin Premium paperbacks published, priced at
$9.99, and all become bestsellers, with authors
including Nora Roberts, Clive Cussler and 
Catherine Coulter.

• Pearson Education moves successfully into new
shared UK warehouse in second half of 2005.

Outstanding publishing performance

• Penguin authors win a Pulitzer Prize (for Steve Coll’s
Ghost Wars), a National Book Award (William T.
Vollman’s Europe Central), the Whitbread Book 
of the Year (Hilary Spurling’s Matisse the Master),
the Whitbread Novel of the Year (Ali Smith’s 
The Accidental) and the FT & Goldman Sachs 
Business Book of the Year Award (Thomas
Friedman’s The World is Flat).

• 129 New York Times bestsellers and 54 top 10
bestsellers in the UK. Major bestselling authors
include Patricia Cornwell, John Berendt, Sue Grafton,
Jared Diamond, Jamie Oliver, Gillian McKeith,
Jeremy Clarkson and Gloria Hunniford.

Successful focus on new talent

• Strong contribution from new imprints and first-time
authors. New imprint strategy continues to gather
pace and Penguin publishes more than 150 new
authors in the US and approximately 250 worldwide
– its largest ever investment in new talent.

• Sue Monk Kidd’s first novel, The Secret Life of Bees,
has been a New York Times bestseller for almost two
years; her second, The Mermaid Chair, reaches
number one in 2005. The Kite Runner, Khaled
Hosseini’s first book, stays on the New York Times
bestseller list for all of 2005, selling an additional two
million copies (three million in total). In the UK,
strong performance from new fiction authors
including Jilliane Hoffman, PJ Tracy, Karen Joy
Fowler and Marina Lewycka.

Continued investment in new markets 
and international talent

• Launch of regional language publishing programme
in India with first ten titles in Hindi and Marathi;
approximately 70 new titles to be published in 2006.
Acquisition of worldwide English language rights to
Wolf Totem, one of China’s top five bestselling books
for more than a year.

Strong 2006 publishing schedule

• Strong list of new titles for 2006 from bestselling
authors including Nathaniel Philbrick, Patricia
Cornwell, Senator Edward M. Kennedy, Jamie Oliver,
Sue Townsend and Jeremy Paxman.

Sales

05 £804M $1,383M

04 £786M $1,351M

03 £840M $1,445M

Adjusted Operating Profit

05 £60M $102M

04 £52M $90M

03 £83M $143M
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Adjusted operating profit increased 22% to £509m on
a continuing business basis.

Our adjusted earnings exclude other gains and losses
on the sale or closure of businesses. We also exclude
amortisation of acquired intangible assets (defined
under IFRS 3); short-term fluctuations in the market
value of financial instruments (as determined under
IAS 39) and other currency movements charged to
statutory profits (in accordance with IAS 21).

Statutory numbers in 2005 are significantly improved
by profits on disposals (notably Recoletos and
Marketwatch); statutory profit for the year was £644m,
up £360m on 2004, with continuing operations up
from £262m to £342m.

This year we saw relatively small effects of exchange 
on our income statement. The average US dollar rate
against sterling strengthened slightly to £1:$1.81 
(2004: £1:$1.83) which marginally increased our
reported operating profit. However, the strong year
end dollar (£1:$1.72 vs £1:$1.92 in 2004) clearly had a
significant impact on our balance sheet.

Financial statements
These are our first set of consolidated financial
statements under International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). We have chosen a transition date 
to IFRS of 1 January 2003, which means we have
comparable data under IFRS for both 2004 and 2003
displayed in our financial statements. Where material,
the impact of IFRS on our accounts is discussed below.

Interest Net interest payable in 2005 was £77m, up from
£74m in 2004. Although we were partly protected by
our fixed rate policy (see page 10), the strong rise in 
US dollar floating interest rates had an adverse effect.
Year on year, average three month LIBOR (weighted
for the Group’s borrowings in US dollars, Euro and
Sterling) rose by 1.9% to 3.4%. In addition, in 2005 
we did not benefit from a one-off credit of £9m for
interest on a repayment of tax that occurred in 2004.
These increases were offset by the £260m fall in average
net debt, reflecting in particular the proceeds from 
the disposal of Recoletos and good cash generation.
The Group’s average net interest rate payable rose by
0.9% to 5.9%.

Taxation The tax rate on adjusted earnings has barely
changed from 2004 to 2005, reducing from 30.9% to
30.3%. The tax rate on adjusted earnings is very close
to the UK statutory rate of 30%. The higher tax rate 
on US and overseas profits was offset by the use of
UK losses and by credits relating to previous years,
reflecting continued progress in settlement of the
Group’s affairs with the authorities.

The total tax charge for the year was £124m,
representing a 27% rate on pre-tax profits of £466m
(on a statutory basis excluding discontinued
operations). This compares with a 2004 rate of 19%
(or £63m on a pre-tax profit of £325m). In 2004,
the tax charge reflected credits of £48m relating to
previous years, a substantial element of which was
non-recurring; adjustments relating to previous years
in 2005 resulted in a credit of £18m. The 2005 rate
benefited from the fact that the profit of £40m on the
sale of Marketwatch.com is free of tax.

F I NA N C I A L REV I EW
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Minority interests Following the disposal of our 79%
holding in Recoletos in April 2005 and the purchase 
of the 25% minority stake in Edexcel our minority
interests now comprise mainly the 39% minority share
in IDC. In January 2006 we increased our stake in IDC
by the purchase of 1.1m shares, so the future minority
interest will be 38%.

Dividends Under IFRS, dividends are accrued only
once approved. Therefore, the dividend accounted 
for in our 2005 financial statements totalling £205m,
represents the final dividend (15.7p) in respect of
2004 and the 2005 interim dividend of 10p.

We are proposing a final dividend for 2005 of 17p,
bringing the total paid and payable in respect of 2005
to 27p, a 6.5% increase on 2004. This final 2005
proposed dividend was approved by the board in
February 2006, is subject to shareholder approval 
at the forthcoming AGM and will be charged 
against 2006 profits. In 2005, the dividend paid
(including minorities) is covered 1.9 times by total 
free cash flow.

We seek to maintain a balance between the
requirements of our shareholders for a rising stream of
dividend income and the reinvestment opportunities
which we identify around the Group. This balance has
been expressed in recent years as a desire to increase
our annual dividend by more than inflation, while also
reinvesting a higher proportion of our distributable
earnings in our businesses.

Other financial items
Pensions Pearson operates a variety of pension
schemes. Our UK scheme is by far the largest and we 
also have some smaller defined benefit schemes in the 
US and Canada. Outside the UK, most of our
companies operate defined contribution schemes.
Pension funding levels are kept under regular review 
by the Company and the Fund trustees.

The UK scheme was valued as at 1 January 2004 and
the next valuation will be as at 1 January 2006. As a
result of the 2004 valuation, the Company agreed to
increase contributions to £30m in respect of 2004;
to £35m in 2005; and to £41m annually from 2006 
to 2014.

Our total gross liability for retirement benefits was
£389m at 31 December 2005 (2004: £408m) of
which the UK scheme represented £271m, a 
reduction from £304m in 2004 as a result of good
investment performance.

Accounting policies and disclosures As noted above,
Pearson has adopted IFRS for its 2005 consolidated
financial statements, in compliance with European
Union regulation. This has resulted in changes to the
format of presentation but has had no impact on the
cash resources available to the Group. A full list of IFRS
accounting policies can be found in note 1 to our
financial statements.

In summary, the main changes to our reported 2005
statutory accounts from IFRS adoption are as follows:

Goodwill and other intangibles Under IFRS 3 ‘Business
Combinations’, goodwill is no longer amortised, but
instead is assessed annually for impairment. Goodwill
which arose on acquisitions prior to 1 January 2003
and which was capitalised under UK GAAP has not
been restated; other intangible assets arising from
acquisitions since 1 January 2003 have been separately
identified, fair valued and capitalised. They are being
amortised over their estimated useful economic life.
The charge to the income statement for such
amortisation was £11m in 2005 (2004: £5m).

Share-based payments Under IFRS 2 ‘Share-based
payment’, a proportion of the imputed fair value 
at the date of grant of restricted shares, SAYE schemes
and share options issued to employees has been
charged to operating profit. The proportion charged is
determined with respect to the relevant vesting period.
The amount charged in 2005 was £23m (2004: £25m).

FI NA N C I A L REV I EW CO N T I N U E D
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Employee benefits Under IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’,
assets and liabilities relating to pension and other
post-retirement benefits are valued and accounted for
at the balance sheet date.

The income statement expense is determined using
annually derived assumptions as to salary inflation,
investment returns and discount rates, based 
on prevailing conditions at the start of the year.
The assumptions for 2005 are disclosed in note 24
to our accounts, along with the year-end deficits in 
our defined benefit schemes. We recognise actuarial
gains and losses arising when assumptions diverge
from reality through the statement of recognised
income and expense (SORIE).

Our charge to profit in respect of worldwide pensions
under IAS 19 amounted to £64m in 2005 (2004: £57m)
of which a charge of £60m was reported in operating
profit and the net finance charge (£4m) was reported
against interest.

Pearson has adopted IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ as at 1 January 2005,
and the results of this are detailed below under our
Treasury policy.

There are a number of other relatively minor statutory
presentation and disclosure changes under IFRS which
are treated consistently across our 2005 actual IFRS
reported numbers and our 2004 and 2003 restated
comparatives. The total impact of these changes on
previously reported profits can be seen from 
our five-year summary at the back of the 
financial statements.

Managing our financial risks
This section explains the Group’s approach to the
management of financial risk.

Treasury policy The Group holds financial instruments
for two principal purposes: to finance its operations
and to manage the interest rate and currency risks
arising from its operations and its sources of finance.
The Group finances its operations by a mixture of cash
flows from operations, short-term borrowings from
banks and commercial paper markets, and longer term
loans from banks and capital markets. The Group
borrows principally in US dollars, Euro and Sterling,
at both floating and fixed rates of interest, using
derivative financial instruments (‘derivatives’), where
appropriate, to generate the desired effective currency
profile and interest rate basis. The derivatives used 
for this purpose are principally rate swaps, rate caps
and collars, currency rate swaps and forward foreign
exchange contracts. The main risks arising from the
Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk,
liquidity and refinancing risk, counterparty risk and
foreign currency risk. These risks are managed by 
the chief financial officer under policies approved 
by the treasury committee of the board, which are
summarised below. Apart from the change to interest
rate policy and the modification to currency risk policy
identified below, all other treasury policies have
remained unchanged throughout 2005. The treasury
committee of the board, and a group of external
treasury advisers, receives reports on the Group’s
treasury activities, policies and procedures.
The treasury department is not a profit centre 
and its activities are subject to regular internal audit.
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Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
From 1 January 2005 the Group adopted IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’. The market values of the Group’s
derivatives were taken onto the balance sheet at the
adoption date. Subsequent changes in them will
change the carrying values on the balance sheet and
create movements in the finance costs section of the
income statement, unless they have been designated
(and passed the prescribed tests) for hedge accounting
treatment. By contrast, under UK GAAP accounting,
except for the impact of some currency rate derivatives,
the values of derivatives were not carried in the balance
sheet, nor were movements in those values taken to 
the income statement (although information on
derivatives was disclosed in the notes). Thus both the
balance sheet and the income statement have the
potential to be more volatile under IAS 39 than they
were before.

In addition, IAS 39 required us to value our derivatives
at 1 January 2005 as if the standard had been in place
at the start date of each individual contract. This has
given rise to transition adjustments, which in some
cases will have to be amortised over the remaining life
of the relevant transaction. Also, where we have
achieved hedge accounting on a derivative,
the carrying value of the relevant bond is adjusted at
each reporting date to reflect this (in addition to the
requirement under IFRS that accrued interest should
be included in the carrying value of the bond or
derivative, in contrast to its treatment as a creditor
under UK GAAP).

As the Company elected to adopt IAS 39 from 
1 January 2005, the effects described above are not
reflected in the 2004 and 2003 comparatives.

Interest rate risk The Group’s exposure to interest 
rate fluctuations on its borrowings is managed by
borrowing on a fixed rate basis and by entering into
rate swaps, rate caps and forward rate agreements.
Since September 2005 the Group’s policy objective 
has been to set a target proportion of its forecast
borrowings (taken at the year end, with cash netted
against floating rate debt) to be hedged (i.e. fixed 
or capped) over the next four years, subject to a
maximum of 65% and a minimum that starts at 
40% and falls by 10% at each year end. Previously the
minimum was 40% throughout. At the end of 2005 the
hedging ratio was 55%. A simultaneous 1% change on
1 January in the Group’s variable interest rates in each
of US dollar, Euro and Sterling, taking into account
forecast seasonal debt would have a £7m effect on
profit before tax.

Use of interest rate derivatives The policy in the section
above creates a group of derivatives, under which the
Group is a payer of fixed rates and a receiver of floating
rates. The Group also strives to avoid undue exposure
to a single interest rate setting. Reflecting this, it swaps
its fixed rate bond issues to floating rate at their
launch. These create a second group of derivatives,
under which the Group is a receiver of fixed rates 
and a payer of floating rates.

The Group’s accounting objective in its use of interest
rate derivatives is to minimise the impact on the
income statement of changes in the mark-to-market
value of its derivative portfolio as a whole. It uses
duration calculations to estimate the sensitivity of the
derivatives to movements in market rates. The Group
also identifies which derivatives are eligible for fair
value hedge accounting (which reduces sharply the
income statement impact of changes in the market
value of a derivative). The Group then divides the 
total portfolio between hedge-accounted and pooled
segments, so that the expected movement on the
pooled segment is minimal.
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Liquidity and refinancing risk The Group’s objective 
is to procure continuity of funding at a reasonable 
cost. To do this it seeks to arrange committed funding
for a variety of maturities from a diversity of sources.
The Group’s policy objective has been that the
weighted average maturity of its core gross borrowings
(treating short-term advances as having the final
maturity of the facilities available to refinance them)
should be between three and 10 years. At the end of
2005 the average maturity of gross borrowings was 
five years and non-banks provided £1,855m (95%) 
of them (down from six years and up from 91%
respectively at the beginning of the year). The Group
believes that ready access to different funding markets
also helps to reduce its liquidity risk, and that
published credit ratings and published financial
policies improve such access. All of the Group’s 
credit ratings remained unchanged during the year.
The long-term ratings are Baa1 from Moody’s and
BBB+ from Standard & Poor’s, and the short-term
ratings are P2 and A2 respectively. The Group strives 
to maintain a rating of at least BBB+/Baa1 over 
the long term. The Group will also continue to use
internally a range of ratios to monitor and manage its
finances. These include interest cover, net debt to
operating profit, net debt to enterprise value and cash
flow to debt measures. The Group also maintains
undrawn committed borrowing facilities. At the end of
2005 these amounted to £786m and their weighted
average maturity was 3.5 years.

Net borrowings fixed and floating rate
2005 2004

£m £m

Fixed Rate 549 740

Floating Rate 447 481

Total 996 1,221

Gross Borrowings
2005 2004

£m £m

Bank debt 105 173

Bonds 1,854 1,650

Total 1,959 1,823

Gross borrowings by currency
Currency

As reported derivatives Combined
2005 2005 2005 2004

£m £m £m £m

US dollar 1,165 290 1,455 1,335 

Sterling 357 (150) 207 202 

Euro 437 (140) 297 284 

Other – – – 2

Total 1,959 – 1,959 1,823 
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Counterparty risk The Group’s risk of loss on deposits
or derivative contracts with individual banks is
managed in part through the use of counterparty
limits. These limits, which take published credit limits
(among other things) into account, are approved by
the Chief financial officer. In addition, for a currency
rate swap that transforms a major part of the 6.125%
Euro Bonds due 2007 into a US dollar liability, the
Group has entered into a mark-to-market agreement
which significantly reduces the counterparty risk of
that transaction.

Currency risk Although the Group is based in the 
UK, it has its most significant investment in overseas
operations. The most significant currency for the
Group is the US dollar. The Group’s policy on 
routine transactional conversions between currencies
(for example, the collection of receivables, and the
settlement of payables or interest) remains that these
should be completed at the relevant spot exchange 
rate. No unremitted profits are hedged with foreign
exchange contracts, as the Company judges it
inappropriate to hedge non-cash flow translational
exposure with cash flow instruments. However, the
Group does seek to create a ‘natural hedge’ through 
its policy of aligning approximately the currency
composition of its core net borrowings with its 
forecast operating profit. This policy aims to dampen
the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on
consolidated interest cover and earnings. In September
2005 this policy was modified to apply only to
currencies that accounted for more than 15% of group
operating profit, which currently is only the US dollar.

Previously, the policy applied specifically to US dollars,
Euro and Sterling. However, the Group still borrows
small amounts in other currencies, typically for
seasonal working capital needs. In addition, the Group
currently expect to hold the legacy borrowings 
in Euro and Sterling to their maturity dates: our 
policy does not require existing currency debt to 
be terminated to match declines in that currency’s
share of group operating profit. Included within 
year end net debt, the net borrowings/(cash) in the
three principal currencies above (taking into account
the effect of cross currency swaps) were: US dollar
£1,114m, Euro £78m and Sterling £(93)m.

Use of currency debt and derivatives The Group uses
both currency denominated debt and derivative
instruments to implement the above policy.
Its intention is that gains/losses on the derivatives 
and debt offset the losses/gains on the foreign currency
assets and income. Each quarter the value of hedging
instruments is monitored against the assets in the
relevant currency and, where practical, a decision is
made whether to treat the debt or derivative as a net
investment hedge (permitting foreign exchange
movements on it to be taken to reserves) for the
purposes of IAS 39.
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Directors
The present members of the board, together with 
their biographical details, are shown on page 31 of the
annual review and summary financial statements.
Dennis Stevenson, who was formerly chairman, retired
with effect from 1 October 2005 and Glen Moreno was
appointed as chairman in his place.

Details of directors’ remuneration and interests in
ordinary shares and options of the company are
contained in the report on directors’ remuneration 
on pages 21 to 37. Five directors, David Bell, Terry
Burns, Reuben Mark, Vernon Sankey and Rana Talwar
will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (AGM) on 21 April 2006. Three of
them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election. Reuben Mark, who joined the board as a 
non-executive director in 1988, and Vernon Sankey,
who joined the board as a non-executive director in
1993, will not offer themselves for re-election at the
AGM. In addition, Glen Moreno, who joined the board
as chairman on 1 October 2005, will retire from office
in accordance with the company’s articles of
association. He will offer himself for reappointment at
the AGM.

Details of directors’ service contracts can be found on
page 26. No director was materially interested in any
contract of significance to the company’s business.

Corporate governance 
Introduction A detailed account of how we comply
with the provisions of the Combined Code (hereinafter
referred to as the Code) can be found on our website 
at www.pearson.com/investor/corpgov.htm, or by
telephoning our company secretarial department on
+44 (0)20 7010 2257 or 2253.

In terms of compliance with the Code during 2005,
the only area where explanation is required, since the
resignation of Peter Jovanovich, in January 2005, who
had a service contract that provided for two years’
severance pay, is the independence of both Reuben
Mark and Vernon Sankey as non-executive directors,
which is covered below. Except for this, the board
believes that we are in full compliance with the Code.

Composition of the board The board consists of the
chairman, Glen Moreno, four executive directors
including the chief executive, Marjorie Scardino, and
six non-executive directors. Terry Burns was appointed
as our senior independent director in 2004.

DI R E C TO R S’ RE P O RT

The directors are pleased to present their report to
shareholders, together with the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2005 on pages 38 to 41
and 44 to 116 respectively. Details of the businesses, the
development of the Group and its subsidiaries and
likely future developments are given on pages 1 to 13
and on pages 16 to 30 of the annual review and
summary financial statements. Sales and profits of
the different sectors and geographical markets are
given on pages 53 to 56.

Results and dividend 
The profit for the financial year ended 31 December
2005 was £644m (2004: £284m) and has been
transferred to reserves. A final dividend of 17p per
share is recommended for the year ended 31 December
2005. This, together with the interim dividend already
paid, makes a total for the year of 27p (2004: 25.4p).
The final dividend will be paid on 5 May 2006 to
shareholders on the register at the close of business on
7 April 2006, the record date.

Significant acquisitions and disposals
In April 2005, Pearson disposed of its 79% interest 
in Recoletos Grupo de Comunicación, S.A. to 
Retos Cartera, a consortium of investors, for net 
cash proceeds of £371m. In January 2005, Pearson 
sold its 22% stake in MarketWatch to Dow Jones & Co.
for $101m.

Transactions with related parties
Details of transactions with related parties, which are
reportable under IAS 24 ‘Related party disclosures’,
are given in note 32 to the accounts on page 97.

Capital expenditure
The analysis of capital expenditure and details of
capital commitments are shown in notes 11, 12, 17
and 31 to the accounts on pages 65 to 69, 75 and 97.

Events after the balance sheet date
On 9 January 2006, Pearson announced the purchase
of 1,130,739 shares in Interactive Data Corporation
(IDC) for $21.67 per share in cash. This purchase
brings Pearson’s total holding in IDC to almost 62%.
On 23 January 2006, Pearson announced the
acquisition of Promissor, a leading professional
testing business from Houghton Mifflin Company 
for $42m in cash.
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Independence of directors As announced last year both
Vernon Sankey and Reuben Mark will stand down
from the board at the 2006 AGM. Both have served on
the board for more than the recommended nine years
under the Code, but both have continued to perform
as exceptional independent directors. The board
considered their independence during 2005, as they 
are required to do under the Code, and concluded that
both continued to demonstrate a robust independence

and to make a substantial, constructively critical
contribution as directors. As a result of their standing
down, and in order to restore balance to the board,
we are expecting to announce the appointment of
two new non-executive directors in the near future.

Following the approval of their appointments at the
AGM, the board will then consist of six independent
directors, four executive directors and the chairman.

DI R E C TO R S’ RE P O RT CO N T I N U E D

Board meetings
The board meets six times a year and at other times as appropriate. The following table sets out the attendance
of our directors at the board and committee meetings during 2005:

Audit Treasury Personnel Nomination
Board committee committee committee committee

meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
(maximum 6) (maximum 4) (maximum 1) (maximum 5) (maximum 2)

Chairman

Dennis Stevenson* 5 1 2

Glen Moreno† 1

Executive directors

Marjorie Scardino 6 2

David Bell 6

Rona Fairhead 6 1

John Makinson 6

Non-executive directors

Terry Burns 5 and 3 and
part of 1 part of 1 5 2

Patrick Cescau 6 4 2

Susan Fuhrman 6 2

Reuben Mark 3 and 3 and 
part of 3 part of 1 3 2

Vernon Sankey 6 4 1 2

Rana Talwar 6 1 5 2

*Until 1 October 2005.
†Glen Moreno was appointed chairman on 1 October 2005.

The role and business of the board The formal matters
reserved for the board’s decision and approval are:
the company’s strategy; acquisitions, disposals and
capital expenditure projects above certain thresholds;
all guarantees over £10m; treasury policies; the interim
and final dividends and the financial statements;
borrowing powers; appointments to the board; and the
appointment and removal of the company secretary.

The board receives timely, regular and necessary
management and other information to fulfil its duties.
Directors can obtain independent professional advice
at the company’s expense in the performance of their
duties as directors. All directors have access to the
advice and the services of the company secretary.

In addition to these formal roles, we aim to give the
non-executive directors access to the senior managers
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of the business via involvement at both formal and
informal meetings. In this way we hope that the
experience and expertise of the non-executive directors
can be garnered to the benefit of the company.
At the same time, the non-executive directors will
develop an understanding of the abilities of the 
most senior managers that will help them judge the
company’s prospects and plans for succession.

Board evaluation With the introduction of a new
chairman late in the year, our focus is on continuing 
to enhance board and committee effectiveness going
forward. The chairman has begun a process of
meeting with the directors to discuss their views on
board performance and effectiveness and to develop
proposals for implementation during 2006. The results
of this review will be reported back to the board at a
forthcoming meeting. We also plan during the year,
to review the composition and structure of each of our
board committees. During 2005 the executive directors
were evaluated by the chief executive for performance
against personal objectives under the company’s
standard appraisal mechanism.

Directors’ training Directors receive an induction
programme and a range of information about the
company when they join the board. This includes
background information on Pearson and its 
directors and details of board procedures, directors’
responsibilities and various governance-related issues,
including procedures for dealing in Pearson shares;
their legal obligations as directors; as well as continuing
updates to the induction programme through
presentations about the company’s operations at board
meetings and ongoing information. The induction 
also includes a series of meetings with members of
the board, presentations regarding the business from
senior executives and a briefing on Pearson’s investor
relations programme. We supplement the existing
directors’ training programme by making available to
the directors the opportunity for additional visits to
operating company divisions and meetings with local
management, as well as facilitating access to externally
run courses should a director wish to make use of them.

Directors’ indemnities The company grants an
indemnity to all of its directors in accordance with
section 337A of the Companies Act 1985 in relation 
to costs incurred by them in defending any civil or
criminal proceedings and in connection with an
application for relief under section 144(3) or (4) or
section 727 of the Companies Act, so long as it is

repaid not later than when the outcome becomes 
final if: i) they are convicted in the proceedings;
ii) judgement is given against them; or iii) the court
refuses to grant the relief sought.

Dialogue with institutional shareholders There is an
extensive programme for executive directors, including
the chairman, and top managers to meet with
institutional shareholders. The non-executive directors
meet informally with shareholders both before and
after the AGM, and respond to shareholder queries 
and requests. The chairman and senior independent
director make themselves available to meet any
significant shareholder, as required. Makinson Cowell
reports to the board each year the results of an
extensive survey on major shareholders’ views and at
every board meeting on changes in market positions
and shareholders’ views.

Board committees
The board has established four committees. Chairmen
and members of these committees are appointed by
the board on the recommendation (where appropriate)
of the nomination committee and in consultation with
each requisite committee chairman.

i Audit committee During the year, the committee
comprised: Vernon Sankey (chairman), Terry Burns,
Patrick Cescau, Reuben Mark.

All of the committee members are independent 
non-executive directors and have significant financial
experience due to the senior positions they hold or
held in other listed or publicly traded companies.

The committee has written terms of reference
which clearly set out its authority and duties.
These can be found on the company website at 
www.pearson.com/investor/corpgov.htm.

The committee provides the board with the means 
to appraise Pearson’s financial management and
reporting, and to assess the integrity of the Group’s
accounting procedures and financial controls.
The Group’s internal and external auditors have direct
access to the committee to raise any matter of concern
and to report the results of work directed by the
committee. The committee reports to the full board 
of Pearson. The committee also reviews the objectivity
of the external auditors, including non-audit services
supplied, and ensures that there is an appropriate 
audit relationship.

DI R E C TO R S’ RE P O RT CO N T I N U E D




PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005

The committee met four times during the year with 
the chief financial officer, head of group control and
other members of the senior management team,
together with the external auditors, in attendance.
The committee meets privately with the external
auditors and the head of group control at least once a
year or more regularly if required at its or their request.

Following the departure of Vernon Sankey from 
the board at the 2006 AGM, the board plans to review
the composition and structure of the audit committee
and will appoint a new chairman of the committee 
in due course.

ii Personnel committee During the year, the committee
comprised: Reuben Mark (chairman), Terry Burns,
Rana Talwar.

The committee is comprised solely of independent
non-executive directors and meets at least three 
times a year and on other occasions when
circumstances require.

The committee has responsibility for determining the
remuneration and benefits packages of the executive
directors, the chief executives of the principal operating
companies and other members of the management
committee, as well as recommending the chairman’s
remuneration to the board for its decision. It also
reviews the company’s management development,
diversity and succession plans.

The committee takes independent advice from
consultants when required. No executive director takes
part in any discussion or decision concerning their
own remuneration. The committee reports to the 
full board and its report on directors’ remuneration,
which has been considered and adopted by the board,
is set out on pages 21 to 37.

The committee has written terms of reference 
which clearly set out its authority and duties.
These can be found on the company website at 
www.pearson.com/investor/corpgov.htm.

Following the departure of Reuben Mark from 
the board at the 2006 AGM, the board plans to review
the composition and structure of the personnel
committee and will appoint a new chairman of the
committee in due course.

iii Nomination committee During the year the
committee comprised: Dennis Stevenson (chairman),
Marjorie Scardino, Terry Burns, Patrick Cescau,

Susan Fuhrman, Reuben Mark, Vernon Sankey,
Rana Talwar.

The committee is comprised of the chairman, chief
executive and all of the non-executive directors and
meets as and when required. The committee primarily
monitors the composition and balance of the board
and its committees, and identifies and recommends to
the board the appointment of new directors. Whilst the
chairman of the board chairs this committee he is not
permitted to chair meetings when the appointment of
his successor is being considered or during discussion
regarding his performance.

In accordance with the company’s articles of
association, directors are subject to reappointment 
at the AGM immediately following the date of their
appointment, and thereafter they must seek re-election
no more than three years from the date they were last
re-elected. The committee will recommend to the
board the names of the directors who are to seek 
re-election at the AGM.

During the year Glen Moreno was appointed to 
the board as chairman. When considering the
appointment of a new chairman the committee
reviews the current balance of skills and experience 
on the board. A detailed specification is drawn up to
include any specific knowledge or expertise that is
considered necessary for the board. External search
consultants are then used to identify suitable
candidates who are shortlisted and then evaluated by
the committee before it submits its recommendation 
to the board as a whole.

The committee has written terms of reference 
which clearly set out its authority and duties.
These can be found on the company website at 
www.pearson.com/investor/corpgov.htm.

iv Treasury committee During the year the 
committee comprised: Dennis Stevenson (chairman),
Rona Fairhead, Vernon Sankey, Rana Talwar.

The committee sets the policies for the company’s
treasury department and reviews its procedures on a
regular basis. The treasury committee schedules one
meeting a year and arranges to meet at other times,
if necessary.

Internal control
The board of directors has overall responsibility for
Pearson’s system of internal control, which is designed

DI R E C TO R S’ RE P O RT CO N T I N U E D
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to manage the risks facing the Group, safeguard assets
and provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material financial misstatement or loss.

In accordance with the provisions of the Combined
Code, the directors confirm that they have reviewed 
its effectiveness.

They also confirm that there is an ongoing process
allowing for the identification, evaluation and
management of significant business risks. This process
accords with the revised Turnbull guidance and has
been in place throughout 2005 and up to the date of
approval of this annual report.

The Group’s internal control framework covers
financial, operational and compliance risks. Its main
features are described below:

i Board – The board of directors, which has overall
responsibility for Pearson’s system of internal control,
exercises that control through an organisational
structure with clearly defined levels of responsibility
and authority and appropriate reporting procedures.
To maintain effective control over strategic, financial,
operational and compliance matters the board meets
regularly, and has a formal schedule of matters that is
brought to it, or its duly authorised committees, for
attention. Responsibility for financial management and
reporting, internal control and risk management has
been delegated to the audit committee by the board.
At each meeting, the audit committee considers reports
from management, group control and the external
auditors, with the aim of reviewing the effectiveness 
of the internal financial and operating control
environment of the Group.

ii Operating company controls – The identification and
mitigation of major business risks is the responsibility
of operating company management. Each operating
company maintains internal controls and procedures
appropriate to its structure and business environment,
whilst complying with Group policies, standards 
and guidelines.

iii Financial reporting – There is a comprehensive
strategic planning, budgeting and forecasting system
with an annual operating plan approved by the board
of directors. Monthly financial information, including
trading results, balance sheets, cash flow statements
and indebtedness, are reported against the
corresponding figures for the plan and prior years,
with corrective action outlined by operating company

executives as appropriate. Group senior management
meets, on a quarterly basis, with operating company
management to review their business and financial
performance against plan and forecast. Major business
risks relevant to each operating company are reviewed
in these meetings.

In addition, the chief executive prepares a monthly
report for the board on key developments,
performance and issues in the business.

iv Risk management – Operating companies undertake
formal semi-annual risk reviews to identify new or
potentially under-managed risks. The results of these
reviews are submitted to group control for evaluation
and onward reporting to the board, via the audit
committee. Throughout the year, risk sessions
facilitated by group control, are held with operating
company management and with the Pearson executive
committee to discuss and review the significant risks
facing the business.

v Group control – The group control function is
responsible for providing independent assurance to
management on the effectiveness of internal controls.
The annual internal audit plan, derived from a 
risk model, is approved by the audit committee.
Internal audit activity is supplemented by annual
financial control self-assessment returns, completed by
the businesses. Recommendations to improve internal
controls and/or to mitigate risks are agreed with
operating company management after each audit.
Formal follow-up procedures allow group control to
monitor operating companies’ progress in
implementing its recommendations and resolve any
control deficiencies. Regular reports on its findings are
provided to executive management and, via the audit
committee, to the board.

The head of group control is jointly responsible with
the group legal counsel for monitoring compliance
with our Code of Business Conduct, and investigating
any reported incidents.

vi Treasury management – The treasury department
operates within policies approved by the board and its
procedures are reviewed regularly by the treasury
committee. Major transactions are authorised outside
the department at the requisite level, and there is an
appropriate segregation of duties. Frequent reports are
made to the chief financial officer and regular reports
are prepared for the treasury committee.
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vii Insurance – Insurance is provided through Pearson’s
insurance subsidiary or externally, depending on the
scale of the risk and the availability of cover in the
external market, with the objective of achieving the
most cost effective balance between insured and
uninsured risks.

Sarbanes Oxley
As a requirement of our US listing we are required 
to comply with various provisions of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act, including Section 404 relating to the
effectiveness of our financial reporting internal
controls. This will apply to Pearson for the first time 
in 2006. Significant work has already been undertaken
to ensure compliance and we continue on track to
meet our deadlines.

Going concern
Having reviewed the Group’s liquid resources and
borrowing facilities, and the 2006 and 2007 cash flow
forecasts contained in the 2006 operating plan, the
directors believe that Pearson has adequate resources to
continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, the financial statements have, as usual,
been prepared on that basis.

Shareholder communication
Pearson has an extensive programme of
communication with all its shareholders – large 
and small, institutional and private. We also make a
particular effort to communicate regularly with our
employees, a large majority of whom are shareholders
in the company. We post all company announcements
on our website, www.pearson.com, as soon as they 
are released, and major shareholder presentations 
are made accessible via webcast or conference 
call. Our website contains a dedicated investor 
relations section with an extensive archive of past
announcements and presentations, historical financial
performance, share price data and a calendar of events.
It also includes information about all of our businesses,
links to their websites, and details of our corporate
responsibility policies and activities.

In 2005, we continued our programme of educational
seminars for our institutional shareholders focusing on
individual parts of Pearson. The seminars are available
to all shareholders via webcast on www.pearson.com.

Our AGM – which will be held on 21 April this year 
– includes opportunities to meet the company’s
managers, presentations about Pearson’s businesses
and the previous year’s results as well as general 
AGM business.

People 
During 2005, Pearson employed over 33,000 people in
60 countries. Each business has detailed employment
practices for recruitment, remuneration, employee
relations, health and safety, and terms and conditions
designed for the different sectors and countries in
which it operates.

We are committed to equality of opportunity for 
all regardless of gender, race, age, physical ability,
religion or sexual orientation. This applies equally to
recruitment and to the promotion, development and
training of people who are already part of Pearson.
The company takes seriously its obligations to the
disabled and seeks not to discriminate against current
or prospective employees because of any disability.
We are always willing to make reasonable adjustments
to premises or employment arrangements if these
substantially disadvantage a disabled employee or
prospective employee. Every effort is made to find
suitable alternative jobs and, as necessary, training for
those who are unable to continue in their existing role
due to disability.

Pearson is committed to clear and timely
communication with its people concerning business
performance. It works hard to maintain effective
channels of communication and supports employee
representation to help positive employee relations.
Twice a year, the European Employee Forum meets to
discuss issues of importance to staff in their businesses
across Europe.

The directors believe that the best way for people to
profit from the success of the company is for them to
become shareholders. Pearson operates worldwide
share plans taking account of local country tax and
securities regulation. With more than half of our
people based in the US, we have taken special care to
make it easy for them to acquire shares in Pearson.
The listing of our shares on the New York Stock
Exchange allows us to operate a US Employee Stock
Purchase Plan that makes share ownership in Pearson
accessible to the majority of our employees.

DI R E C TO R S’ RE P O RT CO N T I N U E D
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Supplier payment policy
Operating companies are responsible for agreeing 
the terms and conditions under which business
transactions with their suppliers are conducted.
It is company policy that suppliers are aware of such
terms of payment and that payments to them are made
in accordance with these, provided that the supplier is
also complying with all relevant terms and conditions.
Group trade creditors at 31 December 2005 were
equivalent to 30 days of purchases during the year
ended on that date. The company does not have any
significant trade creditors and therefore is unable to
disclose average supplier payment terms.

External giving
In 2005, Pearson’s charitable giving totalled £3.3m 
(2004: £2.5m). In addition to cash donations, Pearson
provides in-kind support such as books, publishing
expertise, advertising space and staff time. We focus
our charitable giving on projects related to education.
We encourage our employees to support their personal
charities by matching donations and payroll giving.

More details can be found on our website at
www.pearson.com/community/csr_report2005.

Share capital
Details of share issues are given in note 25 to the
accounts on page 92. At the AGM held on 
29 April 2005, the company was authorised, subject 
to certain conditions, to acquire up to 80 million 
of its ordinary shares by market purchase.
Although circumstances have not merited using 
this authority and there are no plans at present 
to do so, shareholders will be asked to renew this
authority at the AGM on 21 April 2006.

At 26 February 2006, beneficial interests amounting to
3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the
company notified to the company comprised:

Number of shares Percentage

Franklin Resources, Inc. 104,485,808 13.00%

The Capital Group
Companies Inc. 55,653,209 6.92%

Annual general meeting – The notice convening the
AGM to be held at 12 noon on Friday, 21 April 2006 
at The Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre,
Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, London SW1P 3EE,
is contained in a circular to shareholders to be dated 
21 March 2006.

Registered auditors – In accordance with 
section 384 of the Companies Act 1985 (the Act)
resolutions proposing the reappointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors to the
company will be proposed at the AGM, at a level 
of remuneration to be agreed by the directors.

Auditor independence – In line with best practice,
the audit committee has introduced a policy that
defines those non-audit services that the independent
auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, may or may
not provide to Pearson. The policy requires the
provision of these services to be approved in advance
by the audit committee. The policy also establishes
other procedures to ensure that the auditors’
independence has not been compromised. A full
statement of the fees for audit and non-audit services 
is provided in note 5 on page 59 to the accounts.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities – Company law
requires the directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group as at the end of the
year and of the profit or loss of the Group for that
period. The directors are responsible for keeping
proper accounting records that disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time, the financial position
of the company and the Group and to enable them to
ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Act. They are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the Group, and hence for taking reasonable
steps towards preventing and detecting fraud and other
irregularities. In preparing the financial statements on
pages 38 to 41 and 44 to 116 inclusive, the directors
consider that appropriate accounting policies have
been used and applied in a consistent manner,
supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates, and that all relevant accounting standards
have been followed.

Approved by the board on 26 February 2006 and
signed on its behalf by

Philip Hoffman, Secretary
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The board presents its report on directors’
remuneration to shareholders. This report complies
with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations
2002.

This report also demonstrates how the principles of the
Combined Code relating to directors’ remuneration are
applied.

A resolution will be put to shareholders at the annual
general meeting on 21 April 2006 inviting them to
consider and approve this report.

The personnel committee
During 2005, Reuben Mark chaired the personnel
committee; Terry Burns and Rana Talwar were 
the other members. All three members of the
committee were independent non-executive directors.
Reuben Mark is standing down as a director of the
company at the annual general meeting. The board is
considering who will serve as chairman of the
committee thereafter.

Dennis Stevenson, chairman until 1 October 2005,
Marjorie Scardino, chief executive, David Bell, director
for people, and Robert Head, compensation and
benefits director, provided material assistance to the
committee during the year. They attended meetings of
the committee, although no director was present when
his or her own position was being considered.

To ensure that it receives independent advice, the
committee has appointed Towers Perrin to supply
survey data and to advise on market trends, long-term
incentives and other general remuneration matters.
Towers Perrin also advised the company on health and
welfare benefits in the US, but has no other
involvement with the company.

The committee’s terms of reference are set out on the
company’s website.

Compliance
The committee believes that the company has
complied with the provisions regarding remuneration
matters contained within the Combined Code.

Items subject to audit
The items subject to audit in this report comprise the
sections on directors’ remuneration, directors’ pensions
and movements in directors’ interests in restricted
shares and share options set out in tables 1, 2, 4 and 5
together with the accompanying notes set out below
each table.

Remuneration policy
This report sets out the company’s policy on directors’
remuneration. This policy will continue to apply to
each director for 2006 and, so far as practicable, for
subsequent years. The committee considers that a
successful remuneration policy needs to be sufficiently
flexible to take account of future changes in the
company’s business environment and in remuneration
practice. Future reports, which will continue to be
subject to shareholder approval, will describe any
changes in policy for years after 2006. Shareholders
should consider all statements in this report about
remuneration policy for years after 2006 in 
this context.

Pearson seeks to generate a performance culture by
operating incentive programmes that support its
business goals and reward their achievement.
It is the company’s policy that total remuneration 
(base compensation plus short- and long-term
incentives) should reward both short- and long-term
results, delivering competitive rewards for target
performance, but outstanding rewards for exceptional
company performance.

The company’s policy is that base compensation
should provide the appropriate rate of remuneration
for the job, taking into account relevant recruitment
markets and business sectors and geographic regions.
Benefit programmes should ensure that Pearson
retains a competitive recruiting advantage.

Share ownership is encouraged throughout the
company. Equity-based reward programmes align the
interests of directors, and employees in general, with
those of shareholders by linking rewards directly to
Pearson’s financial performance.

RE P O RT O N DI R E C TO R S’ RE M U N E R AT I O N
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The committee selects performance conditions for 
the company’s various performance-related annual 
or long-term incentive plans that are linked to the
company’s strategic objectives and aligned with the
interests of shareholders.

All outstanding long-term incentive awards for each of
the executive directors are set out in tables 4 and 5 on
pages 32 to 37 of this report.

The committee determines whether or not targets have
been met under the company’s various performance-
related annual or long-term incentive plans based on
the relevant information and input from advisers.

For 2005, the Group’s financial results have been
reported under IFRS. In order to reflect the
performance of the business on a consistent basis,
earnings per share and any other accounting measures
for prior years used for the purposes of the company’s
short- or long-term incentive plans have been rebased
on IFRS.

Performance
Below we set out Pearson’s total shareholder return 
on three bases. First, we set out Pearson’s total
shareholder return performance relative to the FTSE
All-Share index on an annual basis over the five-year
period 2000 to 2005. We have chosen this index, and
used it consistently in each report on directors’
remuneration since 2002, on the basis that it is a
recognisable reference point and an appropriate
comparator for the majority of our investors.

Secondly, we show Pearson’s total shareholder return
relative to the FTSE Media index on an annual basis
over the same five-year period.

And thirdly, we show Pearson’s total shareholder return
relative to the FTSE All-Share and Media indices on a
monthly basis over 2005, the period to which this
report relates.

Pearson is a constituent of all the indices shown above.

Main elements of remuneration
Total remuneration is made up of fixed and
performance-linked elements, with each element
supporting different objectives.

Base salary and other fixed remuneration (such as
benefits and pension) reflect competitive market level,
role and individual contribution. Annual incentives
motivate achievement of annual strategic goals.
Long-term incentives drive long-term earnings and
share price growth, improvement in returns and value
creation and align with shareholders’ interests through
ownership and retention of shares.

RE P O RT O N DI R E C TO R S’ RE M U N E R AT I O N CO N T I N U E D
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Consistent with its policy, the committee places
considerable emphasis on the performance-linked
elements i.e. annual incentive, bonus share matching
and long-term incentives. Based on the details set out
in this report, our policy is that the relative importance
of fixed and performance-related remuneration for
each of the directors should be as follows:

The committee will continue to review the mix of fixed
and performance-linked remuneration on an annual
basis, consistent with its overall philosophy.

Our policy is that the remuneration of the executive
directors should be competitive with those of directors
and executives in similar positions in comparable
companies. We use a range of UK companies in
different sectors including the media sector. Some are
of a similar size to Pearson, while others are larger,
but the method which the committee’s independent
advisers use to make comparisons on remuneration
takes this into account. In addition, all have very
substantial overseas operations. We also use selected
media companies in North America.

We use these companies because they represent the
wider executive talent pool from which we might
expect to recruit externally and the pay market to
which we might be vulnerable if our remuneration was
not competitive.

Base salary
Our policy is to review salaries annually, considering
levels of pay and pay increases throughout the
company.

The committee has reviewed executive directors’ base
salaries for 2006 consistent with this policy. Full details
will be set out in the report on directors’ remuneration
for 2006.

Other emoluments
It is the company’s policy that its benefit programmes
should be competitive in the context of the local labour
market, but as an international company we require
executives to operate worldwide and recognise that
recruitment also operates worldwide.

Annual incentive
The committee establishes the annual incentive plans
for the executive directors and the chief executives 
of the company’s principal operating companies,
including performance measures and targets.
The committee also establishes the target and
maximum levels of individual incentive opportunity
based on an assessment by the committee’s
independent advisers of market practice for
comparable companies and jobs.

The performance measures relate to the company’s
main drivers of business performance at both the
corporate and operating company level. Performance 
is measured separately for each item. For each
performance measure, the committee establishes
thresholds, targets and maxima for different levels of
payout. With the exception of the CEO, 10% of the
total annual incentive opportunity for the executive
directors and other members of the Pearson
Management Committee is based on performance
against personal objectives.

For 2006, the financial performance measures for
Pearson plc are sales, growth in underlying adjusted
earnings per share for continuing operations at
constant exchange rates, average working capital as a
ratio to sales and operating cash flow. For subsequent
years, the measures will be set at the time.

There have been no changes to the executive directors’
individual incentive opportunities. For the CEO,
the target annual incentive opportunity is 100% 
of base salary and the maximum is 150%. For the
other executive directors and other members of the
Pearson Management Committee, the target is up 
to a maximum of 75% of salary and the maximum 
is twice target.

The committee may award individual discretionary
payments.

Details of actual payouts for 2005 are set out in table 1
and the notes on page 29 of this report.
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Marjorie Scardino 
Proportion of total remuneration

41.2%

David Bell 
37.8%

Rona Fairhead
38.4%

John Makinson 
34.0%

25.7%

26.7%

27.1%

24.0%

33.1%

35.5%

34.5%

42.0%

n Base salary and other fixed remuneration
n Target annual incentive and bonus share matching
n Target long-term incentives
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The committee will continue to review the annual
incentive plans each year and to revise the performance
measures, targets and individual incentive
opportunities in light of current conditions.

Annual incentive payments do not form part of
pensionable earnings.

Bonus share matching
The company encourages executive directors and other
senior executives to acquire and hold Pearson shares.

The annual bonus share matching plan permits
executive directors and senior executives around 
the company to invest up to 50% of any after-tax
annual bonus in Pearson shares. For awards to be
made in 2006 and thereafter, if these shares are held
and the company’s adjusted earnings per share increase
in real terms by at least 3% per annum compound over
a five-year period, the company will match them on a
gross basis of one share for every one held. Half the
matching shares will vest if the company’s adjusted
earnings per share increase in real terms by at least 3%
per annum compound over the first three years.

Real growth is measured against the UK Government’s
Index of Retail Prices (All Items). We choose to test our
earnings per share growth against UK inflation over
three and five years to measure the company’s financial
progress over the period to which the entitlement to
matching shares relates.

Since its introduction, there have been four 
full five-year cycles of this plan. For the 1998 award,
the first one-for-two match vested, but not the full
one-for-one. For both the 1999 and 2000 award,
both matches lapsed. For the 2001 award, the full 
one-for-one match vested as set out in the notes to
table 4 on page 33 of this report.

Long-term incentives
We are asking shareholders by separate resolution to
approve the renewal of the long-term incentive plan
first introduced in 2001.

The committee has reviewed the operation of this 
plan in the light of the company’s strategic goals 
and concluded that it is operating satisfactorily and
achieving its objectives. We are therefore seeking
approval of its renewal on broadly its original terms.

Subject to shareholders’ approval, executive directors,
senior executives and other managers will be eligible 
to participate in the plan which can deliver restricted
stock and/or stock options. The aim as before is to give
the committee a range of tools with which to link
corporate performance to management’s long-term
reward in a flexible way.

Restricted stock granted to executive directors will vest
only when stretching corporate performance targets
over a specified period have been met. Awards will
vest on a sliding scale based on performance over the
period. There will be no retesting. The committee 
will determine the performance measures and targets
governing an award of restricted stock prior to grant.

The conditions that will apply for the 2006 award and
subsequently for the executive directors will be focused
on delivering and improving returns to shareholders.
The performance measures will be relative total
shareholder return, return on invested capital and
earnings per share growth.

The committee chose total shareholder return relative
to the constituents of the FTSE World Media index
because, in line with many of our shareholders, it felt
that part of executive directors’ rewards should be
related to performance relative to the company’s peers.

We chose return on invested capital, which is 
defined as operating profit net of 15% cash tax 
divided by net operating assets plus gross goodwill
(pre-amortisation), because, over the past few years,
the transformation of Pearson has significantly
increased the capital invested in the business 
(mostly in the form of goodwill associated with
acquisitions) and required substantial cash 
investment to integrate those acquisitions.

Earnings per share growth was chosen because strong
bottom-line growth is imperative if we are to improve
our total shareholder return and our return on
invested capital.

Pearson wishes to encourage executives and managers
to build up a long-term holding of shares so as to
demonstrate their commitment to the company.
To achieve this, for awards of restricted stock that are
subject to performance conditions over a three-year
period, 75% of the award will vest at the end of the
three-year period. The remaining 25% of the award
will only vest if the participant retains the after-tax
number of shares that vest at year three for a further
two years.
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Restricted stock may be granted without performance
conditions to satisfy recruitment and retention
objectives. Restricted stock awards that are not subject
to performance conditions will not be granted to any
of the current executive directors.

It is not the committee’s intention to grant stock
options in 2006. Should the committee decide to grant
them in future, options granted to executive directors
would come with a minimum three-year vesting
period and would vest on a sliding scale based on
stretching performance over the three-year period with
no retesting.

The committee’s independent advisers calculate the
expected value of both restricted stock and stock
options i.e. their net present value after taking into
account all the conditions and, in particular, the
probability that any performance conditions will 
be met.

Taking into account these values and assessments by
the committee’s independent advisers of market
practice for comparable companies, the committee
establishes guidelines each year for the maximum
expected value of individual awards. Since 2001,
we have adopted this market-based approach which
established maximum award levels of 300% of salary
expected value for the CEO and 200% of salary
expected value for the other executive directors.
In practice, since 2002, actual awards have always 
been below these maximum levels. The expected 
value of awards for the executive directors in 2006 as a
percentage of base salary will be in line with the value
of awards granted in 2004 and 2005. As the 2006 award
will not be made until later in the year, full details will
be set out in the report on directors’ remuneration 
for 2006.

In establishing these guidelines for the maximum
expected value of individual awards, the committee
also has regard to the face value of the awards and their
potential value should the performance targets be met.

In any rolling 10-year period, no more than 10% of
Pearson equity will be issued, or be capable of being
issued, under all Pearson’s share plans, and no more
than 5% of Pearson equity will be issued, or be capable 
of being issued, under executive or discretionary plans.

Details of the actual awards, performance periods,
measures and targets for the 2005 restricted stock
awards are set out in table 4 and the notes on pages
32 to 34 of this report.

At 31 December 2005, stock awards granted in the 
last 10 years under this and all other employee share
plans, to be satisfied by new-issue equity, amounted 
to 3.6% of the company’s issued share capital and
under this and other executive or discretionary 
plans amounted to 2.5%.

All-employee share plans
Executive directors are eligible to participate in the
company’s all-employee share plans on the same 
terms as other employees. These plans comprise share
acquisition savings programmes in the UK and the US.

These plans operate within specific tax legislation
(including a requirement to finance acquisition of
shares using the proceeds of a monthly savings
contract) and the acquisition of shares under these
plans is not subject to the satisfaction of a performance
target.

Shareholding policy
As previously noted, in line with the policy of
encouraging widespread employee ownership, the
company encourages executive directors to build up 
a substantial shareholding in the company.

Given the share retention features of the annual bonus
share matching and long-term incentive plans and
the volatility of the stock market, we do not think it 
is appropriate to specify a particular relationship of
shareholding to salary. However, we describe separately
here both the number of shares that the executive
directors hold and the value expressed as a percentage
of base salary.

The current value of holdings of the continuing
executive directors based on the middle market value 
of Pearson shares of 705.5p on 24 February 2006
against the base salary set out in this report is as follows:

Number Value (% of
of shares base salary)

Marjorie Scardino 184,889 184%

David Bell 103,158 184%

Rona Fairhead 43,209 73%

John Makinson 149,466 222%
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Service agreements
As set out in the annual report for 2004, Peter
Jovanovich stood down as a director of the company
for health reasons on 31 January 2005, but remained
entitled to contractual short- and long-term disability
and other benefits. These arrangements are set out in
an agreement dated 28 January 2005.

Dennis Stevenson retired as chairman and director 
on 1 October 2005. Glen Moreno was appointed
chairman and director on 1 October 2005.

In accordance with long established policy, all
continuing executive directors have rolling service
agreements under which, other than by termination 
in accordance with the terms of these agreements,
employment continues until retirement.

These service agreements provide that the company
may terminate these agreements by giving 12 months’
notice, and they specify the compensation payable by
way of liquidated damages in circumstances where the
company terminates the agreements without notice or
cause. We feel that these notice periods and provisions
for liquidated damages are adequate compensation for
loss of office and in line with the market.

We summarise the service agreements that applied
during 2005 (or in the case of Peter Jovanovich and 
Dennis Stevenson that applied to 31 January 2005 
and 1 October 2005 respectively) and that continue 
to apply for 2006 as follows:
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Compensation on 
termination by the company 

Name Date of agreement Notice periods without notice or cause

Dennis Stevenson 13 May 1997 Six months from the director; 100% of salary at the date 
(for service to 12 months from the company of termination

1 October 2005)

Glen Moreno 29 July 2005 12 months from the director; 100% of annual fees at the date 
(for service from 12 months from the company of termination
1 October 2005)

Marjorie Scardino 27 February 2004 Six months from the director; 100% of annual salary at the date 
12 months from the company of termination, the annual 

cost of pension and all other 
benefits and 50% of potential 

annual incentive

David Bell 15 March 1996 Six months from the director; 100% of annual salary at the date 
12 months from the company of termination, the annual 

cost of pension and all other 
benefits and 50% of potential 

annual incentive

Rona Fairhead 24 January 2003 Six months from the director; 100% of annual salary at the date 
12 months from the company of termination, the annual 

cost of pension and all other 
benefits and 50% of potential 

annual incentive

Peter Jovanovich 9 October 2000 Employment may be terminated 200% of annual salary
(for service to by either party at any time, and target annual incentive

31 January 2005) subject to three months’ notice 
from the director in the case of

voluntary resignation

John Makinson 24 January 2003 Six months from the director; 100% of annual salary at the date 
12 months from the company of termination, the annual 

cost of pension and all other 
benefits and 50% of potential 

annual incentive
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Retirement benefits
We describe the retirement benefits for each of the
executive directors. Details of directors’ pension
arrangements are set out in table 2 on page 30 of
this report.

Executive directors participate in the approved pension
arrangements set up for Pearson employees. Marjorie
Scardino, John Makinson, Rona Fairhead and Peter
Jovanovich will also receive benefits under unapproved
arrangements because of the cap on the amount of
benefits that can be provided from the approved
arrangements in the US and the UK.

The pension arrangements for all the executive
directors include life insurance cover while in
employment, and entitlement to a pension in the event
of ill-health or disability. A pension for their spouse
and/or dependants is also available on death.

In the US, the approved defined benefit arrangement 
is the Pearson Inc. Pension Plan. This plan provides a
lump sum convertible to a pension on retirement. The
lump sum accrued at 6% of capped compensation
until 31 December 2001 when further benefit accruals
ceased. Normal retirement is age 65 although early
retirement is possible subject to a reduction for early
payment. No increases are guaranteed for pensions 
in payment. There is a spouse’s pension on death in
service and the option to provide a death in retirement
pension by reducing the member’s pension.

The approved defined contribution arrangement 
in the US is a 401(k) plan. At retirement, the account
balances will be used to provide benefits. In the event
of death before retirement, the account balances will 
be used to provide benefits for dependants.

In the UK, the approved plan is the Pearson Group
Pension Plan and executive directors participate in the
Final Pay section. Normal retirement age is 62 but,
subject to company consent, retirement is possible after
age 50. The accrued pension is reduced on retirement
prior to age 60. Pensions in payment are guaranteed to
increase each year at 5% or the increase in the Index of
Retail Prices, if lower. Pensions for a member’s spouse,
dependent children and/or nominated financial
dependant are payable in the event of death.

In response to the UK Government’s plans for
pensions simplification and so-called ‘A-Day’ effective
from April 2006, UK executive directors and other 

members of the Pearson Group Pension Plan who are,
or become, affected by the lifetime allowance will be
offered a cash supplement as an alternative to further
accrual of pension benefits on a basis that is broadly
cost neutral to the company. Further details will be set
out in the report on directors’ remuneration for 2006.

Marjorie Scardino
Marjorie Scardino participates in the Pearson Inc.
Pension Plan and the approved 401(k) plan.
Additional pension benefits will be provided through
an unfunded unapproved defined contribution 
plan and a funded defined contribution plan 
approved by HM Revenue and Customs as a
corresponding plan to replace part of the unfunded
plan. The account balance of the unfunded
unapproved defined contribution plan is determined
by reference to the value of a notional cash account
that increases annually by a specified notional interest
rate. This plan provides the opportunity to convert 
a proportion of this notional cash account into a
notional share account reflecting the value of a
number of Pearson ordinary shares. The number of
shares in the notional share account is determined by
reference to the market value of Pearson shares at the
date of conversion.

David Bell
David Bell is a member of the Pearson Group Pension
Plan. He is eligible for a pension of two-thirds of his
final base salary at age 62 due to his long service but
early retirement with a reduced pension before that
date is possible, subject to company consent.

Rona Fairhead
Rona Fairhead is a member of the Pearson Group
Pension Plan. Her pension accrual rate is 1/30th of
pensionable salary per annum, restricted to the
earnings cap introduced by the Finance Act 1989.
The company also contributes to a Funded
Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (FURBS) 
on her behalf. In the event of death before retirement,
the proceeds of the FURBS account will be used to
provide benefits for her dependants.

Peter Jovanovich
Peter Jovanovich is a member of the Pearson Inc.
Pension Plan and the approved 401(k) plan. He also
participates in an unfunded, unapproved Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) that provides an
annual accrual of 2% of final average earnings, less
benefits accrued in the Pearson Inc. Pension Plan and
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US Social Security. He ceased to build up further
benefits in the SERP at 31 December 2002. Additional
defined contribution benefits are provided through 
a funded, unapproved 401(k) excess plan and an
unfunded, unapproved arrangement. In the event of
death while in receipt of disability benefits, the account
balances in the defined contribution arrangements will
be used to provide benefits for dependants. The SERP
arrangement provides a spouse’s pension on death
while in receipt of disability benefits and the option 
of a death in retirement pension by reducing the
member’s pension.

John Makinson
John Makinson is a member of the Pearson Group
Pension Plan under which his pensionable salary is
restricted to the earnings cap. The company ceased
contributions on 31 December 2001 to his FURBS
arrangement. During 2002 it set up an Unfunded
Unapproved Retirement Benefits Scheme (UURBS) 
for him. The UURBS tops up the pensions payable
from the Pearson Group Pension Plan and the closed
FURBS to target a pension of two-thirds of a revalued
base salary on retirement at age 62. The revalued base
salary is defined as £450,000 effective at 1 June 2002,
increased at 1 January each year by reference to the
increase in the Index of Retail Prices. In the event of his
death a pension from the Pearson Group Pension Plan,
the FURBS and the UURBS will be paid to his spouse
or nominated financial dependant. Early retirement is
possible from age 50, with company consent.

The pension is reduced to reflect the shorter service,
and before age 60, further reduced for early payment.

Executive directors’ non-executive directorships
Our policy is that executive directors may, by
agreement with the board, serve as non-executives 
of other companies and retain any fees payable for
their services.

Chairman’s remuneration
Our policy is that the chairman’s pay should be set at 
a level that is competitive with those of chairmen in
similar positions in comparable companies. He is 
not entitled to any annual or long-term incentive,
retirement or other benefits.

The committee’s view is that, taking into account the
remuneration of chairmen in comparable positions,
the appropriate total pay level is £425,000 per year.

Non-executive directors
Fees for non-executive directors are determined by 
the full board having regard to market practice and
within the restrictions contained in the company’s
articles of association. Non-executive directors receive
no other pay or benefits (other than reimbursement
for expenses incurred in connection with their
directorship of the company) and do not participate 
in the company’s equity-based incentive plans.

For 2005, the chairman and the executive directors 
of the board reviewed the level and structure of
non-executive directors’ fees, which had not been
changed since January 2000. After reviewing external
benchmarks, they agreed an increase in the basic fee 
to £45,000, an increase in the fee for the committee
chairmen to £10,000, the introduction of separate 
fees of £5,000 for committee membership and of
£10,000 for the senior independent director and the
replacement of the fee for non-UK based directors
with a fee of £2,500 for overseas meetings.

Fees 
payable from 

1 January 
2005

Basic non-executive director fee £45,000

Chairmanship of audit and 
personnel committees £10,000

Membership of audit and 
personnel committees £5,000

Senior independent director’s fee £10,000

Overseas meetings (per meeting) £2,500

One-third of the basic fee, or the entire fee in the case
of Rana Talwar, is paid in Pearson shares that the 
non-executive directors have committed to retain for
the period of their directorships.

In the case of Patrick Cescau, his fee was paid over to
his employer.

Non-executive directors serve Pearson under letters 
of appointment and do not have service contracts.
There is no entitlement to compensation on the
termination of their directorships.
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Table 1: Remuneration of the directors 
Excluding contributions to pension funds and related benefits set out in table 2, directors’ remuneration was 
as follows:

2005
2005 Annual 2005 2005 2004

All figures in £000s Salaries/Fees Incentive1 Other2 Total Total

Chairman

Dennis Stevenson (retired 1 October 2005) 281 – – 281 325

Glen Moreno (appointed 1 October 2005) 106 – – 106 –

Executive directors

Marjorie Scardino 710 1,038 62 1,810 1,538

David Bell 395 560 17 972 874

Rona Fairhead 420 608 16 1,044 907

Peter Jovanovich (stepped down 31 January 2005) 41 – 373 414 1,052

John Makinson 475 564 211 1,250 791

Non-executive directors

Terry Burns 71 – – 71 35

Patrick Cescau 55 – – 55 35

Susan Fuhrman 55 – – 55 18

Reuben Mark 70 – – 70 47

Vernon Sankey 60 – – 60 40

Rana Talwar 55 – – 55 35

Total 2,794 2,770 679 6,243 5,697

Total 2004 2,878 2,507 312 – 5,697
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Note 1 For Marjorie Scardino, David Bell and Rona Fairhead, annual
incentives were based on the financial performance of Pearson plc. In the case
of John Makinson, 70% of his annual incentive was based on the performance
of Penguin Group and 20% on the financial performance of Pearson plc. In
the case of David Bell, Rona Fairhead and John Makinson, 10% of their annual
incentives was based on performance against personal objectives.

For Pearson plc, the performance measures were earnings per share growth,
operating cash flow, sales and average working capital as a ratio to sales.
Actual underlying growth in adjusted earnings per share at constant exchange
rates consistent with the reported adjusted earnings per share (pre-intangibles)
of 34.1p, operating cash flow of £570m and average working capital as a ratio
to sales were each better than the level of performance required for maximum
payout. Actual sales at £4,096m were above target but below maximum.

For Penguin Group, the performance measures were operating profit,
operating cash flow and average working capital as a ratio to sales.
For operating cash flow and working capital as a ratio to sales actual
performance was better than that required for maximum payout and for
operating profit was above target but below maximum.

Note 2 Other emoluments include company car and healthcare benefits.
In the case of Marjorie Scardino, these include £39,245 in respect of housing
costs and a cash US payroll supplement of £8,372. John Makinson is entitled 
to a location and market premium in relation to the management of the
business of the Penguin Group in the US. He received £186,279 in cash for
2005. Marjorie Scardino, Rona Fairhead, David Bell and John Makinson have
the use of a chauffeur. In accordance with the agreement dated 28 January
2005 referred to on page 26 of this report, Peter Jovanovich received short- 
and long-term disability payments in cash for the period 1 February 2005 
to 31 December 2005.

Note 3 No amounts as compensation for loss of office and no expense
allowances chargeable to UK income tax were paid during the year.

Note 4 The following executive directors served non-executive directorships
elsewhere and received fees as follows: Marjorie Scardino (Nokia Corporation
– 1110,000, MacArthur Foundation (from 1 December 2005) – $3,667);
David Bell (VITEC Group plc – £28,542); Rona Fairhead (HSBC Holdings plc
– £70,000); John Makinson (George Weston Limited – C$89,000).



*Less directors’ contributions.

†Net of inflation.

Note 1 The accrued pension at 31 December 2005 is that which would become
payable from normal retirement age if the member left service at 31 December
2005. For Marjorie Scardino it relates only to the pension from the US Plan.
For David Bell and Rona Fairhead it relates to the pension payable from the
UK Plan. For Peter Jovanovich it relates to the pension from the US Plan and
the US SERP. For John Makinson it relates to the pension from the 
UK Plan, the FURBS and the UURBS in aggregate.

Note 2 The UK transfer values at 31 December 2005 are calculated using the
assumptions for cash equivalents payable from the UK Plan and are based 
on the accrued pension at that date. For the US SERP, transfer values are
calculated using a discount rate equivalent to current US government 
long-term bond yields. The US Plan is a lump sum plan and the accrued
balance is shown.

Note 3 For UK benefits, this column comprises contributions to FURBS.
For US benefits, it includes company contributions to funded defined
contribution plans and notional contributions to unfunded defined
contribution plans.

Note 4 This column comprises life cover and long-term disability insurance
not covered by the retirement plans.
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Table 2: Directors’ pensions
Transfer Other

Increase value of the pension
Increase in accrued increase in costs to the Other

in accrued Accrued Transfer Transfer Increase in pension† accrued company pension
pension over pension at value at value at transfer during pension over the related

Age at the period 31 Dec 05 31 Dec 04 31 Dec 05 value* the period at 31 Dec 05*† period benefit costs
Directors’ pensions 31 Dec 05 £000 £000(1) £000(2) £000 £000 £000 pa £000 £000(3) £000(4)

Marjorie Scardino 58 0.4 4.2 29.5 34.6 5.1 0.3 2.5 514.3 26.5

David Bell 59 21.3 254.6 3,311.9 4,085.0 753.4 14.9 219.7 – –

Rona Fairhead 44 3.8 14.5 69.1 100.9 26.7 3.4 18.9 109.2 –

Peter Jovanovich 56 6.8 64.2 404.5 497.5 93.0 5.3 41.1 246.9 0.8

John Makinson 51 19.6 169.5 1,438.3 1,762.1 318.7 15.6 157.1 – 4.2
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Table 3: Interests of directors
Ordinary Ordinary 
shares at shares at 
1 Jan 05 31 Dec 05

Dennis Stevenson 167,043 174,517

Glen Moreno – 100,000

Marjorie Scardino 127,761 184,889

David Bell 77,305 103,158

Terry Burns 4,089 5,439

Patrick Cescau – –

Rona Fairhead 12,710 43,209

Susan Fuhrman 551 2,318

Peter Jovanovich 86,461 86,461

John Makinson 115,898 149,466

Reuben Mark 14,798 16,546

Vernon Sankey 3,943 5,285

Rana Talwar 8,152 13,103

Note 1 Ordinary shares includes both ordinary shares listed on the London
Stock Exchange and American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) listed on the New
York Stock Exchange. The figures include both shares and ADRs acquired by
individuals investing part of their own after-tax annual bonus in Pearson
shares under the annual bonus share matching plan.

Note 2 In the case of Peter Jovanovich and Dennis Stevenson, the closing
balance represents the number of shares held on 31 January 2005 and 
1 October 2005 respectively.

Note 3 Executive directors of the company, as possible beneficiaries, are also
deemed to be interested in the Pearson Employee Share Ownership Trust,
the trustees of which held 5,249,407 Pearson ordinary shares of 25p each at 
31 December 2005 and 5,248,615 at 26 February 2006.

Note 4 At 31 December 2005, John Makinson held 1,000 shares in Interactive
Data Corporation.

Note 5 From 2004, Marjorie Scardino is also deemed to be interested in a
further number of shares under her unfunded pension arrangement described
on page 27 of this report, which provides the opportunity to convert a
proportion of her notional cash account into a notional share account
reflecting the value of a number of Pearson shares.

Note 6 The register of directors’ interests (which is open to inspection during
normal office hours) contains full details of directors’ shareholdings and
options to subscribe for shares. The market price on 31 December 2005 was
687.5p per share and the range during the year was 608.0p to 694.5p.
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Table 4: Movements in directors’ interests in restricted shares
Restricted shares designated as: a annual bonus share matching plan; b long-term incentive plan; and * where
shares at 31 December 2005 have vested and are held pending release.

Market value Earliest Market value
at date vesting Date of at date

Date of award 1 Jan 05 Awarded Released Lapsed 31 Dec 05 of award date release of release

Dennis Stevenson

b 5/5/04 30,000 30,000 673.5p 5/5/07

Total 30,000 – – – 30,000

Marjorie Scardino

a* 11/5/01 14,181 14,181 1438.5p 11/5/06

b* 9/5/01 39,057 29,293 9,764 1421.0p 9/5/04 1/3/05 641.5p

b 16/12/02 362,040 60,340 301,700 638.5p 28/6/05 26/7/05 676.0p

b 26/9/03 144,240 144,240 582.0p 26/9/06

b 21/12/04 416,130 416,130 613.0p 21/12/07

b 23/09/05 – 450,000 450,000 655.0p 23/9/08

Total 975,648 450,000 89,633 – 1,336,015

David Bell

a* 11/5/01 6,371 6,371 1438.5p 11/5/06

a* 17/4/03 3,052 3,052 541.0p 17/4/06

a 17/4/03 3,053 3,053 541.0p 17/4/08

a 16/4/04 4,503 4,503 652.0p 16/4/07

b* 9/5/01 15,369 11,527 3,842 1421.0p 9/5/04 1/3/05 641.5p

b 16/12/02 159,678 26,613 133,065 638.5p 28/6/05 26/7/05 676.0p

b 26/9/03 98,880 98,880 582.0p 26/9/06

b 21/12/04 165,063 165,063 613.0p 21/12/07

b 23/09/05 – 170,000 170,000 655.0p 23/9/08

Total 455,969 170,000 38,140 – 587,829

Rona Fairhead

a* 19/4/02 466 466 892.0p 19/4/05

a 19/4/02 467 467 892.0p 19/4/07

a* 17/4/03 7,551 7,551 541.0p 17/4/06

a 17/4/03 7,552 7,552 541.0p 17/4/08

a 16/4/04 5,146 5,146 652.0p 16/4/07

a 15/4/05 – 19,746 19,746 631.0p 15/4/08

b 8/4/02 5,000 5,000 – 843.0p 8/10/04 1/3/05 641.5p

b 16/12/02 159,678 26,613 133,065 638.5p 28/6/05 26/7/05 676.0p

b 26/9/03 98,880 98,880 582.0p 26/9/06

b 21/12/04 165,063 165,063 613.0p 21/12/07

b 23/09/05 – 200,000 200,000 655.0p 23/9/08

Total 449,803 219,746 31,613 – 637,936
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PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005

RE P O RT O N DI R E C TO R S’ RE M U N E R AT I O N CO N T I N U E D

Table 4: Movements in directors’ interests in restricted shares continued
Restricted shares designated as: a annual bonus share matching plan; b long-term incentive plan; and * where
shares at 31 December 2005 have vested and are held pending release.

Market value Earliest Market value
at date vesting Date of at date

Date of award 1 Jan 05 Awarded Released Lapsed 31 Dec 05 of award date release of release

Peter Jovanovich

b* 9/5/01 29,300 21,975 7,325 1421.0p 9/5/04 1/3/05 641.5p

b 16/12/02 198,396 33,066 165,330 638.5p 28/6/05 28/6/05 649.5p

b 26/9/03 98,880 98,880 582.0p 26/9/06

b 21/12/04 165,063 165,063 613.0p 21/12/07

Total 491,639 – 55,041 – 436,598

John Makinson

a* 11/5/01 9,553 9,553 1438.5p 11/5/06

a* 17/4/03 6,105 6,105 541.0p 17/4/06

a 17/4/03 6,105 6,105 541.0p 17/4/08

b* 9/5/01 18,598 13,948 4,650 1421.0p 9/5/04 1/3/05 641.5p

b 16/12/02 206,880 34,480 172,400 638.5p 28/6/05 26/7/05 676.0p

b 26/9/03 98,880 98,880 582.0p 26/9/06

b 21/12/04 165,063 165,063 613.0p 21/12/07

b 23/09/05 – 180,000 180,000 655.0p 23/9/08

Total 511,184 180,000 48,428 – 642,756

Total 2,914,243 1,019,746 262,855 – 3,671,134

Note 1 The number of shares shown represents the maximum number of
shares that may vest, subject to any performance conditions being met.

Note 2 No variations to the terms and conditions of plan interests were made
during the year.

Note 3 Each plan is described below in relation to its status during the year 
i.e. whether awards have been released or lapsed, have vested and are held,
are outstanding or were granted.

>Awards released The long-term incentive plan shares awarded to Rona
Fairhead on 8 April 2002 in accordance with the terms agreed with her when
she joined the company vested in 2004 on the third anniversary of her date of
her appointment and were released on 1 March 2005. No consideration was
payable for these shares. Details of this award are set out in table 4 and itemised
as b on page 32 of this report.

The first tranche of long-term incentive plan shares granted on 16 December
2002 vested and were released on 28 June 2005 with the exception of the
awards for Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Rona Fairhead and John Makinson
which were released on 26 July 2005. The shares were released in accordance
with the original terms of the award disclosed in detail in the report on
directors’ remuneration for 2002. No consideration was payable by 
participants for these shares. Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Rona Fairhead,
Peter Jovanovich and John Makinson held awards under this plan.
Details of these awards are set out in table 4 and itemised as b on pages 
32 and 33 of this report.

>Awards vested and held The restricted stock awards made on 9 May 2001
vested with a payout of 70.5% of the shares originally awarded and
three-quarters of the vested shares were released on 1 March 2005. The
original terms of the award and the company’s performance against the
relevant targets were disclosed in detail in the report on directors’

remuneration for 2004. No consideration was payable for these shares. The
remaining one-quarter of the vested shares may be called within six months of
9 May 2006, being the fifth anniversary of the original grant date, but only if
the participant has not disposed of any shares in the first three-quarters, other
than those that may be released in order to satisfy personal tax liabilities.
Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Peter Jovanovich and John Makinson hold
shares under this plan. Details of these awards are set out in table 4 and
itemised as b* on pages 32 and 33 of this report.

The target for the increase in adjusted earnings per share from 2000 to 2005 
for the annual bonus share matching plan awards made on 11 May 2001 
was 27.7% i.e. inflation of 12.7% plus 15% (3% per annum for five years).
The increase in adjusted earnings per share over the period has been 28.2%
which means that the target, which was consistent with policy when the award
was made, has been met. The awards will vest and be released on 11 May 2006.
Marjorie Scardino, David Bell and John Makinson held awards under this plan.
Details of these awards are set out in table 4 and itemised as a* on pages 32 and
33 of this report.

The target for the increase in adjusted earnings per share from 2002 to 2005 
for the annual bonus share matching award made on 17 April 2003 was 17.7%
i.e. inflation of 8.7% plus 9% (3% per annum for three years). The increase in
adjusted earnings per share over the period has been 34.8% which means that
the target, which was consistent with policy when the award was made, has
been met. Participants are entitled to receive half of their matching shares.
These shares, together with the remaining half of the matching shares which
are subject to the performance target being met over the period 2002 to 2007,
will be released on 17 April 2008. If participants elect to call for the first half
of the matching shares on 17 April 2006, their entitlement to the second half
of the matching shares lapses. David Bell, Rona Fairhead and John Makinson
hold awards under this plan. Details are set out in table 4 and itemised as a*
on pages 32 and 33 of this report.




PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005


PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005

RE P O RT O N DI R E C TO R S’ RE M U N E R AT I O N CO N T I N U E D

Table 5: Movements in directors’ interests in share options 
Shares under option are designated as: a executive; b worldwide save for shares; c premium priced; and 
d long-term incentive; and * where options are exercisable.

Earliest 
Option exercise Expiry Date of Price on Gain on

Date of grant 1 Jan 05 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 Dec 05 price date date exercise exercise exercise

Dennis Stevenson

b 30/4/04 3,556 3,556 – 494.8p 1/8/11 1/2/12

Total 3,556 – – 3,556 –

Marjorie Scardino

a* 14/9/98 176,556 176,556 973.3p 14/9/01 14/9/08

a* 14/9/98 5,660 5,660 1090.0p 14/9/01 14/9/08

b 15/5/98 2,839 2,839 – 686.7p 1/8/05 1/2/06 17/8/05 685.0p (£48)

b 9/5/03 2,224 2,224 424.8p 1/8/06 1/2/07

c* 8/6/99 37,583 37,583 1372.4p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c* 8/6/99 37,583 37,583 1647.5p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 8/6/99 37,583 37,583 1921.6p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 3/5/00 36,983 36,983 – 2763.6p 3/5/03 3/5/10

c 3/5/00 36,983 36,983 3224.3p 3/5/03 3/5/10

d* 9/5/01 41,550 41,550 1421.0p 9/5/02 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 41,550 41,550 1421.0p 9/5/03 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 41,550 41,550 1421.0p 9/5/04 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 41,550 41,550 1421.0p 9/5/05 9/5/11

Total 540,194 – 2,839 36,983 500,372

> Awards outstanding Outstanding awards under the annual bonus share
matching plan and the long-term incentive plan for Dennis Stevenson,
Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Rona Fairhead, Peter Jovanovich and John
Makinson are set out in table 4 and itemised as a and b respectively on pages
32 and 33 of this report.

The performance and other conditions that apply to these awards and that 
have yet to be met were set out in the reports on directors’ remuneration for
the years in which they were granted.

> Awards granted The annual bonus share matching plan shares awarded on
15 April 2005 will vest in full on 15 April 2010 if the increase in the company’s
adjusted earnings per share exceeds inflation by at least 3 percentage points per
annum over the period 2004 to 2009. Half this number of shares will vest on
15 April 2008 if the increase in the company’s adjusted earnings per share
exceeds inflation by at least 3 percentage points per annum over the period
2004 to 2007. The market price of the shares on the date of the award was
631p. The latest vesting date of this award is 15 April 2010. Rona Fairhead
holds shares under this plan. Details of this award are set out in table 4 and
itemised as a on page 32 of this report.

The shares awarded on 23 September 2005 were based on three performance
measures: relative total shareholder return, return on invested capital, and a
combination of earnings per share and sales growth. The award is split equally
across all three measures.

For relative total shareholder return, the comparator group is all the
constituents of the FTSE World Media index. Total shareholder return 
will be measured over the three-year period 2005 to 2008 based on the 
period immediately following the 2004 results announcement to the period
immediately following the 2007 results announcement. Subject to the

committee satisfying itself that the recorded total shareholder return is a
genuine reflection of the underlying financial performance of the business,
the award will vest in full if Pearson’s total shareholder return relative to this
group of companies is ranked at the upper quartile or better. Two-fifths of the
award will vest at the median. No part of the award will vest for performance
below median.

For return on invested capital, the award will vest in full if Pearson’s 2007
return on invested capital is 9.0% or better. A quarter of the award will vest for
return on invested capital of 7.5%. No part of the award will vest for return on
invested capital below 7.5%.

For sales and earnings per share growth, the measures work inter-dependently
i.e. this element does not pay out at all unless there is growth in both sales 
and EPS. The threshold for payout, at which 30% of the award vests, is
compound annual growth of at least 3% in both sales and EPS. Subject to
threshold performance being achieved, this element of the award pays out in
full only for significant growth of at least 10% per annum compound in either
sales or EPS or good growth in both.

The market price of the shares on the date of the award was 655p.
The vesting date of this award is 23 September 2008. A participant may call 
for three-quarters of the shares that vest within six months of the vesting date.
However, the remaining one-quarter of the shares that vest may be called
within six months of the second anniversary of the vesting date but only if the
participant has not disposed of any shares in the first three-quarters, other
than those that may be released in order to satisfy personal tax liabilities.

Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Rona Fairhead and John Makinson hold shares
under this plan. Details of these awards are set out in table 4 and itemised as b
on pages 32 and 33 of this report.
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Table 5: Movements in directors’ interests in share options continued
Shares under option are designated as: a executive; b worldwide save for shares; c premium priced; and 
d long-term incentive; and * where options are exercisable.

Earliest 
Option exercise Expiry Date of Price on Gain on

Date of grant 1 Jan 05 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 Dec 05 price date date exercise exercise exercise

David Bell

a* 14/9/98 20,496 20,496 973.3p 14/9/01 14/9/08

b* 16/5/99 184 184 – 913.0p 1/8/04 1/2/05

b* 9/5/01 202 202 – 957.0p 1/8/04 1/2/05

b 10/5/02 272 272 696.0p 1/8/05 1/2/06

b 9/5/03 444 444 424.8p 1/8/06 1/2/07

b 30/4/04 1,142 1,142 494.8p 1/8/07 1/2/08

b 6/5/05 – 373 373 507.6p 1/8/08 1/2/09

c* 8/6/99 18,705 18,705 1372.4p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c* 8/6/99 18,705 18,705 1647.5p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 8/6/99 18,705 18,705 1921.6p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 3/5/00 18,686 18,686 – 2763.6p 3/5/03 3/5/10

c 3/5/00 18,686 18,686 3224.3p 3/5/03 3/5/10

d* 9/5/01 16,350 16,350 1421.0p 9/5/02 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 16,350 16,350 1421.0p 9/5/03 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 16,350 16,350 1421.0p 9/5/04 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 16,350 16,350 1421.0p 9/5/05 9/5/11

Total 181,627 373 – 19,072 162,928

Rona Fairhead

b 30/4/04 1,904 1,904 494.8p 1/8/07 1/2/08

d* 1/11/01 20,000 20,000 822.0p 1/11/03 1/11/11

d* 1/11/01 20,000 20,000 822.0p 1/11/04 1/11/11

d* 1/11/01 20,000 20,000 822.0p 1/11/05 1/11/11

Total 61,904 – – – 61,904




PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005


PE A R S O N GOV E R NA N C E A N D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S 2005

Table 5: Movements in directors’ interests in share options continued
Shares under option are designated as: a executive; b worldwide save for shares; c premium priced; and 
d long-term incentive; and * where options are exercisable.

Earliest 
Option exercise Expiry Date of Price on Gain on

Date of grant 1 Jan 05 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 Dec 05 price date date exercise exercise exercise

Peter Jovanovich

a* 12/9/97 8,250 8,250 757.5p 12/9/00 12/9/07

a* 12/9/97 102,520 102,520 676.4p 12/9/00 12/9/07

c* 8/6/99 32,406 32,406 1372.4p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c* 8/6/99 32,406 32,406 1647.5p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 8/6/99 32,406 32,406 1921.6p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 3/5/00 33,528 33,528 – 2763.6p 3/5/03 3/5/10

c 3/5/00 33,528 33,528 3224.3p 3/5/03 3/5/10

d* 9/5/01 31,170 31,170 $21.00 9/5/02 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 31,170 31,170 $21.00 9/5/03 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 31,170 31,170 $21.00 9/5/04 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 31,170 31,170 $21.00 9/5/05 9/5/11

d* 1/11/01 20,000 20,000 $11.97 1/11/03 1/11/11

d* 1/11/01 20,000 20,000 $11.97 1/11/04 1/11/11

d* 1/11/01 20,000 20,000 $11.97 1/11/05 1/11/11

Total 459,724 – – 33,528 426,196

John Makinson

a* 20/4/95 20,160 20,160 – 486.7p 20/4/98 20/4/05 13/4/05 642.0p £31,308

a* 8/8/96 36,736 36,736 584.0p 8/8/99 8/8/06

a* 12/9/97 73,920 73,920 676.4p 12/9/00 12/9/07

a* 14/9/98 30,576 30,576 973.3p 14/9/01 14/9/08

b 9/5/03 4,178 4,178 424.8p 1/8/10 1/2/11

c* 8/6/99 21,477 21,477 1372.4p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c* 8/6/99 21,477 21,477 1647.5p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 8/6/99 21,477 21,477 1921.6p 8/6/02 8/6/09

c 3/5/00 21,356 21,356 – 2763.6p 3/5/03 3/5/10

c 3/5/00 21,356 21,356 3224.3p 3/5/03 3/5/10

d* 9/5/01 19,785 19,785 1421.0p 9/5/02 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 19,785 19,785 1421.0p 9/5/03 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 19,785 19,785 1421.0p 9/5/04 9/5/11

d* 9/5/01 19,785 19,785 1421.0p 9/5/05 9/5/11

Total 351,853 – 20,160 21,356 310,337

Total 1,598,858 373 22,999 114,495 1,461,737

RE P O RT O N DI R E C TO R S’ RE M U N E R AT I O N CO N T I N U E D
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Note 1 No variations to the terms and conditions of share options were made
during the year.

Each plan is described below.

a Executive – The plans under which these options were granted were replaced
with the introduction of the Long-Term Incentive Plan in 2001. No executive
options have been granted to the directors since 1998.

All options that remain outstanding are exercisable (all performance
conditions having already been met prior to 2005) and lapse if they remain
unexercised at the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Peter Jovanovich and John Makinson hold
options under this plan. Details of these awards are set out in table 5 and
itemised as a on pages 35 and 36 of this report.

b Worldwide save for shares – The acquisition of shares under the worldwide
save for shares plan is not subject to the satisfaction of a performance target.

Dennis Stevenson, Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Rona Fairhead and 
John Makinson hold options under this plan. Details of these holdings are 
set out in table 5 and itemised as b on pages 35 and 36 of this report.

c Premium priced – The plan under which these options were granted was
replaced with the introduction of the Long-Term Incentive Plan in 2001.
No premium priced options have been granted to the directors since 1999.

The share price targets for the seven-year tranche of PPOs granted in 1999 and
all outstanding PPOs granted in 2000 have yet to be met (the real growth in
earnings per share target for PPOs to become exercisable having already been
met prior to 2005).

All Premium Priced Options (PPOs) that remain outstanding lapse if they
remain unexercised at the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.

Marjorie Scardino, David Bell, Peter Jovanovich and John Makinson hold
PPOs under this plan. Details of these awards are set out in table 5 and
itemised as c on pages 35 and 36 of this report.

d Long-term incentive – All options that remain outstanding are exercisable
and lapse if they remain unexercised at the tenth anniversary of the date 
of grant.

Details of the option grants under this plan for Marjorie Scardino, David Bell,
Rona Fairhead, Peter Jovanovich and John Makinson are set out in table 5
itemised as d on pages 35 and 36 of this report.

In addition, Marjorie Scardino contributes US$1,000 per month 
(the maximum allowed) to the US employee stock purchase plan. The terms 
of this plan allow participants to make monthly contributions for one year 
and to acquire shares at the end of that period at a price that is the lower 
of the market price at the beginning or the end of the period, both less 15%.

Terry Burns, Director

26 February 2006
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CO N S O L I DAT E D IN C O M E S TAT E M E N T

YE A R EN D E D 31 D E C E M B E R 2005

All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Continuing operations

Sales 2 4,096 3,696 3,850

Cost of goods sold (2,022) (1,789) (1,846)

Gross profit 2,074 1,907 2,004

Operating expenses 5 (1,592) (1,520) (1,594)

Other net gains and losses 4 40 9 (6)

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 14 8 2

Operating profit 2 536 404 406

Finance costs 7 (132) (96) (100)

Finance income 7 62 17 7

Profit before tax 466 325 313

Income tax 8 (124) (63) (61)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 342 262 252

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 3 302 22 23

Profit for the year 644 284 275

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 624 262 252

Minority interest 20 22 23

Earnings per share for profit from continuing and discontinued operations 
attributable to the equity holders of the Company during the year 
(expressed in pence per share)

– basic 9 78.2p 32.9p 31.7p

– diluted 9 78.1p 32.9p 31.7p

Earnings per share for profit from continuing operations attributable to the 
equity holders of the Company during the year (expressed in pence per share)

– basic 9 40.4p 30.8p 29.4p

– diluted 9 40.3p 30.8p 29.4p
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CO N S O L I DAT E D STAT E M E N T O F RE C O G N I S E D IN C O M E A N D EX P E N S E

YE A R EN D E D 31 DE C E M B E R 2005

All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 26 327 (203) (288)

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension and 
post-retirement medical schemes 24 26 (61) (28)

Taxation on items taken directly to equity 8 12 9 –

Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity 365 (255) (316)

Profit for the year 644 284 275

Total recognised income and expense for the year 1,009 29 (41)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 989 7 (64)

Minority interest 20 22 23

Effect of transition adjustment on adoption of IAS 39

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 34 (12)

CO N S O L I DAT E D BA L A N C E SH E E T

AS AT 31 DE C E M B E R 2005

All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11 384 355 402

Intangible assets 12 3,854 3,278 3,550

Investments in joint ventures and associates 13 36 47 64

Deferred income tax assets 14 385 359 342

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments 16 79 – –

Other financial assets 15 18 15 21

Other receivables 19 108 102 100

4,864 4,156 4,479

Current assets

Intangible assets – pre-publication 17 426 356 362

Inventories 18 373 314 319

Trade and other receivables 19 1,031 933 1,025

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments 16 4 – –

Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts) 20 902 461 551

2,736 2,064 2,257

Non-current assets classified as held for sale – 358 –

2,736 2,422 2,257

Total assets 7,600 6,578 6,736
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AS AT 31 DE C E M B E R 2005

All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings 21 (1,703) (1,714) (1,349)

Financial liabilities – Derivative financial instruments 16 (22) – –

Deferred income tax liabilities 14 (204) (139) (140)

Retirement benefit obligations 24 (389) (408) (364)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 22 (31) (43) (59)

Other liabilities 23 (151) (99) (70)

(2,500) (2,403) (1,982)

Current liabilities

Trade and other liabilities 23 (974) (868) (943)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings 21 (256) (109) (578)

Current income tax liabilities (104) (89) (54)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 22 (33) (14) (18)

(1,367) (1,080) (1,593)

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale – (81) –

Total liabilities (3,867) (3,564) (3,575)

Net assets 3,733 3,014 3,161

Equity

Share capital 25 201 201 201

Share premium 25 2,477 2,473 2,469

Other reserves 26 (328) (623) (410)

Retained earnings 26 1,214 749 709

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 3,564 2,800 2,969

Minority interest 169 214 192

Total equity 3,733 3,014 3,161

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors on 26 February 2006 and
signed on its behalf by

Rona Fairhead, Chief financial officer
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CO N S O L I DAT E D CA S H FLOW STAT E M E N T

YE A R EN D E D 31 DE C E M B E R 2005

All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 29 875 705 531

Interest paid (101) (98) (87)

Tax paid (65) (45) (44)

Net cash generated from operating activities 709 562 400

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 27 (246) (41) (60)

Acquisition of joint ventures and associates (7) (10) (5)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (PPE) (76) (101) (79)

Proceeds from sale of PPE 29 3 4 8

Purchase of intangible assets (24) (24) (26)

Investment in pre-publication (222) (181) (173)

Purchase of other financial assets (2) (1) (3)

Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 28 376 7 (3)

Disposal of joint ventures and associates 54 24 57

Disposal of other financial assets – 17 –

Interest received 29 13 11

Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 14 12 10

Net cash used in investing activities (101) (281) (263)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 25 4 4 5

Purchase of treasury shares (21) (10) (1)

Proceeds from borrowings – 414 235

Short-term investments (acquired)/repaid – (5) 1

Other borrowings – 59 (13)

Repayments of borrowings (79) (524) (159)

Finance lease principal payments (3) (2) (3)

Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders 10 (205) (195) (188)

Dividends paid to minority interests (17) (2) (19)

Net cash used in financing activities (321) (261) (142)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 13 (4) 45

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 300 16 40

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 544 528 488

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 844 544 528
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We have audited the Group and Company Financial
Statements (together the ‘Financial Statements’) of
Pearson plc for the year ended 31 December 2005.
The Group Financial Statements comprise the
Consolidated Income Statement, the Consolidated
Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of
Recognised Income and Expense, the Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement and the related Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company
Financial Statements comprise the Company Balance
Sheet, the Company Statement of Recognised Income
and Expense, the Company Cash Flow Statement
and the related Notes to the Company Financial
Statements. The Financial Statements have been
prepared under the accounting policies set out in 
the respective Notes to the Financial Statements.
We have also audited the information in the Report 
on Directors’ Remuneration that is described as 
having been audited.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the 
Annual Review, Governance and Financial Statements
in accordance with applicable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union are set out in the Statement of
Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Financial Statements
and the part of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration
to be audited in accordance with relevant legal and
regulatory requirements and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). This report, including
the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the
Company’s members as a body in accordance with
section 235 of the Companies Act 1985 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion,
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown 
or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the
Financial Statements give a true and fair view and
whether the Financial Statements and the part of the
Report on Directors’ Remuneration to be audited 
have been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation. We also report to you if, in our opinion,
the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the
Financial Statements, if the Company has not kept
proper accounting records, if we have not received all
the information and explanations we require for our
audit, or if information specified by law regarding
directors’ remuneration and other transactions is 
not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance
statement reflects the Company’s compliance with 
the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does
not. We are not required to consider whether the
Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual
Review, Governance and Financial Statements and
consider whether it is consistent with the audited
Financial Statements. The other information comprises
the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s
Review, the Financial and Operating Highlights, the
Operating Company reviews, the Operating and
Financial Review, the Financial Review, the Directors’
Report, the unaudited part of the Report on Directors’
Remuneration, and all other information referred to
on the contents page. We consider the implications for
our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
Financial Statements. Our responsibilities 
do not extend to any other information.
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Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland)
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the
Financial Statements and the part of the Report on
Directors’ Remuneration to be audited. It also includes
an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation 
of the Financial Statements, and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s 
and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied
and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain
all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the Financial Statements and the part of the Report on
Directors’ Remuneration to be audited are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we
also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the Financial Statements and the
part of the Report on Directors’ Remuneration to 
be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• The Group Financial Statements give a true and fair
view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as
at 31 December 2005 and of its profit and cash flows
for the year then ended;

• The Company Financial Statements give a true and
fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union, as applied in accordance with
the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state
of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2005 and
of its cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the Financial Statements and the part of the Report
on Directors’ Remuneration to be audited have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors, London
26 February 2006

IN D E P E N D E N T AU D I TO R S’ RE P O RT TO T H E ME M B E R S O F PE A R S O N PLC CO N T I N U E D
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NOT E S TO T H E C O N S O L I DAT E D FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

General information
Pearson plc (the Company) and its subsidiaries
(together the Group) are involved in the provision of
information for the educational sector, consumer
publishing and business information.

The Company is a limited liability company
incorporated and domiciled in England. The address of
its registered office is 80 Strand, London WC2R 0RL.

The Company has its primary listing on the London
Stock Exchange but is also listed on the New York
Stock Exchange.

These consolidated financial statements were 
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 
26 February 2006.

1 Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below.

a. Basis of preparation 
These consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with EU-adopted
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and with those
parts of the Companies Act 1985 applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS.

IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards’ has been applied in preparing
these financial statements. These consolidated financial
statements are the Group’s first financial statements to
be prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
EU.

The policies set out below have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, with the exception 
of IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation’ and IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement’ which have been
applied with effect from 1 January 2005.

Consolidated financial statements of Pearson plc until 
31 December 2004 had been prepared in accordance
with UK GAAP. UK GAAP differs in certain respects
from IFRS.

When preparing the Group’s 2005 consolidated
financial statements, management has amended
certain accounting, valuation and consolidation
methods applied in the UK GAAP financial statements
to comply with IFRS. The comparative figures in
respect of 2004 and 2003 were restated to reflect 
these adjustments.

Note 34 describes how, in preparing these consolidated
financial statements, the Directors have applied
accounting standards as adopted for use in the EU
under the first-time adoption provisions as set out 
in IFRS 1.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below
in ‘Critical accounting assumptions and judgements’.

Interpretations and amendments to published 
standards effective in 2005
The following amendments and interpretations to
standards are mandatory for the Group’s accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2005:

– IFRIC 2 ‘Members’ Shares in Co-operative Entities
and Similar Instruments’;

– SIC 12 (Amendment) ‘Consolidation – Special
Purpose Entities’; and

– IAS 39 (Amendment) ‘Transition and Recognition of
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’.

Management assessed the relevance of these
amendments and interpretations with respect to the
Group’s operations and concluded that they are not
relevant to the Group.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Standards, interpretations and amendments to
published standards that are not yet effective
Certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been
published that are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2006 or later periods but which the Group has not
early adopted. These are as follows:

– IFRS 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’
(effective from 1 January 2007). IFRS 7 introduces new
disclosures of qualitative and quantitative information
about exposure to risks arising from financial
instruments, including specified minimum disclosures
about credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

– A complementary amendment to IAS 1 ‘Presentation
of Financial Statements – Capital Disclosures’ (effective
from 1 January 2007). The amendment to IAS 1
introduces disclosures about the level of an entity’s
capital and how it manages capital. Management is
currently assessing the impact of IFRS 7 and the
complementary amendment to IAS 1 on the Group’s
financial statements; and

– IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease’ (effective from 1 January 2006).
IFRIC 4 requires the determination whether an
arrangement is or contains a lease to be based on 
the substance of the arrangement. Management is
currently assessing the impact of IFRIC 4 on the
Group’s operations, but does not expect it to 
be significant.

In addition, management assessed the relevance 
of the following amendments and interpretations with
respect to the Group’s operations and concluded that
they are not relevant to the Group:

– IAS 39 (Amendment) ‘Cash Flow Hedge Accounting
of Forecast Intragroup Transactions’ (effective from 
1 January 2006);

– IAS 39 (Amendment) ‘The Fair Value Option’
(effective from 1 January 2006);

– IAS 39 (Amendment) and IFRS 4 (Amendment)
‘Financial Guarantee Contracts’ (effective from 
1 January 2006);

– IFRS 1 (Amendment) ‘First-time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards’
(effective from 1 January 2006);

– IFRS 6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral
Resources’ (effective from 1 January 2006);

– IFRIC 5 ‘Rights of Interests arising from
Decommissioning, Restoration and Environmental
Rehabilitation Funds’ (effective from 1 January 
2006); and

– IFRIC 6 ‘Liabilities arising from Participating in a
Specific Market – Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment’ (effective from 1 December 2005).

b. Consolidation
(1) Subsidiaries – Subsidiaries are entities over 
which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a
shareholding of more than one half of the voting
rights. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group and are
de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account
for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group.
Acquisitions made prior to the date of transition to
IFRS were accounted for in accordance with UK GAAP
(see note 34). The cost of an acquisition is measured 
as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets and contingent assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired, after the identification of purchased
intangible assets, is recorded as goodwill. See note 1e(1)
for the accounting policy on goodwill.

(2) Joint ventures and associates – Joint ventures are
entities in which the Group holds an interest on a
long-term basis and which are jointly controlled, with
one or more other ventures, under a contractual
arrangement. Associates are entities over which the
Group has significant influence but not the power 
to control, generally accompanying a shareholding 
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in joint ventures and associates are
accounted for by the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s
investment in associates includes related goodwill.
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1 Accounting policies continued

The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ and associates’
post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in reserves.
The Group’s share of its joint ventures’ and associates’
results is recognised as a component of operating
profit as these operations form part of the core
publishing business of the Group and an integral part
of existing wholly owned businesses. The cumulative
post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in a joint venture or associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the joint venture or associate,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless the
Group has incurred obligations or made payments 
on behalf of the joint venture or associate.

c. Foreign currency translation
(1) Functional and presentation currency – Items
included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Sterling, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

(2) Transactions and balances – Foreign currency
transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies, are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying net
investment hedges.

Translation differences on other non-monetary items
such as equities held at fair value are reported as part 
of the fair value gain or loss through the income
statement. Fair value adjustments on non-monetary
items such as equities classified as available for sale
financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve 
in equity as from 1 January 2005.

(3) Group companies – The results and financial
position of all Group entities that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate
at the date of the balance sheet;

ii) income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates;

iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. The Group treats specific inter-
company loan balances, which are not intended to be
repaid for the foreseeable future, as part of its net
investment. When a foreign entity is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

At the date of transition to IFRS the cumulative
translation differences for foreign operations have been
deemed to be zero. Any gains and losses on disposals of
foreign operations will exclude translation differences
arising prior to the transition date.

The principal overseas currency for the Group is the
US Dollar. The average rate for the year against Sterling
was $1.81 (2004: $1.83; 2003: $1.63) and the year end
rate was $1.72 (2004: $1.92; 2003: $1.79).

d. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Land is not depreciated.
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

Buildings (freehold) 20–50 years

Buildings (leasehold) 50 years (or over the period of
the lease if shorter)

Plant and equipment 3–20 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
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1 Accounting policies continued

e. Intangible assets
(1) Goodwill – Goodwill represents the excess of the
cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s
share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary or associate at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in
intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates
is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on
the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount
of goodwill relating to the entity sold. IFRS 3 ‘Business
Combinations’ has not been applied retrospectively 
to business combinations before the date of transition
to IFRS. Subject to the transition adjustments 
to IFRS required by IFRS 1, the accounting for
business combinations before the date of transition 
has been grandfathered.

(2) Software development costs – Costs directly
associated with the production of identifiable and
unique software products, where it is probable that
they will generate economic benefits exceeding costs,
are recognised as intangible assets and are amortised
over their estimated useful lives not exceeding ten years
from when the software is available for use.

(3) Acquired intangible assets – Acquired intangible
assets comprise publishing rights, customer lists and
relationships, technology, trade names and trademarks.
These assets are capitalised on acquisition and included
in intangible assets and amortised over their estimated
useful lives between two and 30 years.

(4) Pre-publication costs – Pre-publication costs
represent direct costs incurred in the development 
of educational programmes and titles prior to their
publication. These costs are carried forward in current
intangible assets where the title will generate probable
future economic benefits and costs can be measured
reliably. These costs are amortised upon publication of
the title over estimated economic lives of five years or
less, being an estimate of the expected operating life
cycle of the title, with a higher proportion of the
amortisation taken in the earlier years. The investment
in pre-publication has been disclosed as part of the
investing activities in the cash flow statement.

f. Other financial assets
Up to 31 December 2004 – Other financial assets
include investments in companies other than
subsidiaries and associates and other securities.
Financial fixed assets are recorded at historical cost
less provisions for diminution in value.

From 1 January 2005 – Other financial assets,
designated as available for sale investments, are 
non-derivative financial assets measured at estimated
fair value. Changes in the fair value are recorded in
equity in the fair value reserve. On the subsequent
disposal of the asset, the net fair value gains or losses
are taken through the income statement.

g. Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the first in
first out (FIFO) method. The cost of finished goods
and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct
labour and other direct costs and related production
overheads. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. Provision is made for
slow moving and obsolete stock.

h. Royalty advances
Advances of royalties to authors are included within
trade and other receivables when the advance is paid
less any provision required to bring the amount down
to its net realisable value. The royalty advance is
expensed at the contracted or effective royalty rate as
the related revenues are earned. Royalty advances
which will be consumed within one year are held in
current assets. This represents the operating cycle 
of consumer publishing titles. Royalty advances 
which will be consumed after one year are held in 
non-current assets.

i. Newspaper development costs
Investment in the development of newspaper titles
consists of measures to increase the volume and
geographical spread of circulation. The measures
include additional and enhanced editorial content,
extended distribution and remote printing. These extra
costs arising are expensed as incurred as they do not
meet the criteria under IAS 38 to be capitalised as
intangible assets.
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1 Accounting policies continued

j. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash
flows include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less, and
bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

k. Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (Treasury shares) the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental
costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the
shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where
such shares are subsequently sold or reissued, any
consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income
tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders.

l. Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, which
is proceeds received net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost
with any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value being
recognised in the income statement over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
From 1 January 2005, accrued interest is also included
as part of the borrowing. Where a debt instrument is
in a fair value hedging relationship, an adjustment 
is made to the bond carrying value to reflect the
hedged risk.

m. Derivative financial instruments
Up to 31 December 2004 – Amounts payable or
receivable in respect of interest rate derivatives are
accrued within net interest payable over the period 
of the contract. Where the derivative instrument is
terminated early, the gain or loss is spread over the
remaining maturity of the original instrument.
Where the underlying exposure ceases to exist, any
termination gain or loss is taken to the income
statement. Foreign currency borrowings together with
their related cross currency derivatives are carried in
the balance sheet at the relevant exchange rates at the
balance sheet date. Gains or losses in respect of the
hedging of overseas subsidiaries are taken to reserves.
Gains or losses arising from foreign exchange contracts
are taken to the income statement in line with the
transactions which they are hedging.

From 1 January 2005 – Derivatives are initially
recognised at fair value at the date of transition to 
IAS 39 or, if later, on the date a derivative is entered
into. Derivatives are subsequently remeasured at 
their fair value. The fair value of derivatives has been
determined by using market data and the use of
established estimation techniques such as discounted
cashflow and option valuation models. The Group
designates certain of the derivative instruments within
its portfolio to be hedges of the fair value of its bonds
(fair value hedges) or hedges of net investments in
foreign operations (net investment hedges).

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded
in the income statement, together with any changes in
the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are
attributable to the hedged risk.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as net
investment hedges are recognised in equity. Gains and
losses accumulated in equity are included in the
income statement when the corresponding foreign
operation is disposed of. Gains or losses relating to the
ineffective portion are recognised immediately in
finance income or finance costs in the income
statement.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Certain derivatives do not qualify or are not designated
as hedging instruments. Such derivatives are classified
at fair value and any movement in their fair value is
recognised in finance income or finance costs in the
income statement immediately.

n. Taxation
Current tax is recognised on the amounts expected to
be paid or recovered under the tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability
method on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided in respect of the
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries other than
where it is intended that those undistributed earnings
will not be remitted in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in the income
statement, except when the tax relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the tax is
also recognised in equity.

o. Employee benefits
(1) Retirement benefit obligations – The Group has
elected to early adopt the amendment to IAS 19
‘Employee Benefits’ with effect from the date of
transition to IFRS. The liability in respect of defined
benefit pension plans is the present value of the
defined benefit obligations at the balance sheet date
minus the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent
actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is
determined by discounting estimated future cash flows
using yields on high quality corporate bonds which
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of
the related liability.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from differences
between actual and expected returns on plan assets,
experience adjustments on liabilities and changes in
actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in
the statement of recognised income and expense.

The service cost, representing benefits accruing over
the year, is included as an operating cost and the
unwinding of the discount rate on the scheme
liabilities and the expected return on scheme assets 
as a financing charge or financing income.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution
pension plans are recognised as an expense in the
income statement as incurred.

(2) Other post-retirement obligations – The Group
provides certain healthcare and life assurance benefits.
The principal plans are unfunded. The expected costs
of these benefits are accrued over the period of
employment, using an accounting methodology which
is the same as that for defined benefit pension plans.
The liabilities and costs relating to other post-
retirement obligations are assessed annually by
independent qualified actuaries.

(3) Share-based compensation – The Group has a
number of employee option and performance share
schemes. The fair value of options granted is
recognised as an employee expense after taking into
account the Company’s best estimate of the number of
awards expected to vest. Fair value is measured at the
date of grant and is spread over the vesting period of
the instrument. The fair value of the options granted 
is measured using whichever of the Black-Scholes,
Binomial and Monte Carlo model is most appropriate
to the award. Any proceeds received are credited to
share capital and share premium when the options are
exercised. The Group has applied IFRS 2 ‘Share-based
Payment’ retrospectively to all options granted but not
fully vested at the date of transition to IFRS.

p. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are
discounted to present value where the effect is material.
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The Group recognises a provision for deferred
consideration in the period that an acquisition is made
and the Group becomes legally committed to making
the payment.

The Group recognises a provision for integration 
and reorganisation costs in the period in which the
Group becomes legally or constructively committed to
making the payment.

The Group recognises a provision for onerous lease
contracts when the expected benefits to be derived
from a contract are less than the unavoidable costs 
of meeting the obligations under the contract.
The provision is based on the present value of future
payments for surplus leased properties under
non-cancellable operating leases, net of estimated
sub-leasing revenue.

q. Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
net of value-added tax and other sales taxes, rebates
and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the
Group. Revenue is recognised as follows:

Revenue from the sale of books is recognised when title
passes. Anticipated returns are estimated based
primarily on historical return rates. Circulation and
advertising revenue is recognised when the newspaper
or other publication is published. Subscription revenue
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of the
subscription.

Where a contractual arrangement consists of two or
more separate elements that can be provided to
customers either on a stand-alone basis or as an
optional extra, such as the provision of supplementary
materials with textbooks, revenue is recognised for
each element as if it were an individual contractual
arrangement.

Revenue from multi-year contractual arrangements,
such as contracts to process qualifying tests for
individual professions and government departments,
is recognised as performance occurs. Certain of these
arrangements, either as a result of a single service
spanning more than one reporting period or where the
contract requires the provision of a number of services
that together constitute a single project, are treated as 

long-term contracts with revenue recognised on a
percentage of completion basis. Losses on contracts 
are recognised in the period in which the loss first
becomes foreseeable. Contract losses are determined to
be the amount by which estimated total costs of the
contract exceed the estimated total revenues that will
be generated by the contract.

On certain contracts, where the Group acts as agent,
only commissions and fees receivable for services
rendered are recognised as revenue. Any third party
costs incurred on behalf of the principal that are
rechargeable under the contractual arrangement are
not included in revenue.

r. Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the
Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases
are capitalised at the commencement of the lease at the
lower of the fair value of the leased property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the
finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in
other long-term payables. The interest element of the
finance cost is charged to the income statement over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the
shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases by the lessee. Payments
made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of
the lease.

s. Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the Group’s financial
statements in the period in which they are approved by
the Company’s shareholders. Interim dividends are
recorded in the period in which they are approved 
and paid.
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1 Accounting policies continued

t. Non-current assets held for sale and 
discontinued operations
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale
and stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell if it is intended to recover their
carrying amount principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. No depreciation is
charged in respect of non-current assets classified as
held for sale.

u. Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at fair value less
provision for bad and doubtful debts and anticipated
future sales returns (see also note 1q).

Critical accounting assumptions and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting assumptions. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas requiring a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are discussed below.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(1) Revenue recognition – Revenue from the sale of
books is recognised when title passes. A provision for
anticipated returns is made based primarily on
historical return rates. If these estimates do not reflect
actual returns in future periods then revenues could 
be understated or overstated for a particular period.
The provision for sales returns is set out in note 19.

(2) Pre-publication costs – The assessment of the 
useful life of pre-publication costs and the calculation
of amortisation involve a significant amount of
judgement based on historical trends and management
estimation of their future potential sales, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 1e(4).
The overstatement of useful lives could result in excess
amounts being carried forward as intangible assets 
that would otherwise have been written off to the
income statement in an earlier period. Reviews are
performed regularly to estimate recoverability of
pre-publication costs. The carrying amount of
pre-publication costs is set out in note 17.

(3) Royalty advances – The realisable value of royalty
advances relies on a degree of management judgement
in determining the profitability of individual author
contracts, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in note 1h. If the estimated realisable value 
of author contracts is overstated then this will have 
an adverse effect on operating profits as these excess
amounts will be written off. The carrying amount of
royalty advances is set out in note 19.

(4) Income taxes – The Group is subject to income
taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement
is required in determining the estimates in relation to
the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

(5) Goodwill – The Group tests annually whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in note 1e(1).
The recoverable amounts of cash generating units have
been determined based on value in use calculations.
These calculations require the use of estimates 
(see note 12).

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies
(1) Revenue recognition – Revenue from multi-year
contractual arrangements is recognised as performance
occurs. The assumptions, risks, and uncertainties
inherent in long-term contract accounting can affect
the amounts and timing of revenue and related
expenses reported.

(2) Retirement benefit obligations – The determination
of the pension cost and defined benefit obligation 
of the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes
depends on the selection of certain assumptions,
which include the discount rate, inflation rate, salary
growth, longevity and expected return on scheme
assets. Differences arising from actual experience or
future changes in assumptions will be reflected in
subsequent periods.
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1 Accounting policies continued

(3) Deferred income tax – Deferred tax assets and
liabilities require management judgement in
determining the amounts to be recognised.
In particular, significant judgement is used when
assessing the extent to which deferred tax assets should
be recognised with consideration given to the timing
and level of future taxable income together with any
future tax planning strategies.

Financial risk management
The Group’s treasury policy governs the management
of financial risks within the Group. The policy, which is
approved by the treasury committee, covers interest
rate risk, liquidity and refinancing risk, counterparty
risk and foreign currency risk. In accordance with the
treasury policy, the Group actively monitors and
manages its financial risk exposures. The policy
permits the use of financial instruments such as
derivatives, where appropriate. The policy only permits
transactions related to underlying positions and
speculative transactions are not permitted.

Interest rate risk – A change in market interest rates can
cause fluctuations in the Group’s net income or
financial position. The Group is predominantly funded
through bonds issued at fixed rates and nearly all of
these bonds have been swapped to a floating rate for
the term of the debt. The Group’s policy (as updated in
September 2005) requires that interest rates on its net
debt position are fixed for the next four years such that
the fixed rate portion is within a range of 65% to 40%
in the first year, with the lower end of the range
declining by 10% each year such that the fixed rate
portion falls within a range of 65% to 10% in year
four. The Group also uses derivatives to change the
currency profile of its debt and to alter the timing of
floating interest rate resets in order to comply with its
policy. The Group manages the derivatives and debt to
achieve policy objectives on a portfolio basis. The
Group designates derivatives as hedges under IAS 39
where hedge accounting is possible, so long as a
designation will not have an adverse effect on the
balancing of the portfolio.

Liquidity and refinancing risk – The Group’s funding
objective is to ensure that committed funding is
available to the Group at a reasonable cost, with an
extended maturity profile and that funding is available
from diverse sources. To assist with the diversity of
funding objective, the Group has ratings with Moody’s
and Standard & Poor’s, which provides greater access
to international capital markets.

Counterparty risk – The Group’s risk of loss on deposits
or derivative contracts with individual banks is
managed in part through the use of counterparty
limits reflecting published credit ratings. Exposures to
individual counterparties are monitored on a regular
basis. Where appropriate, ISDA Master Agreements
permitting the netting of transactions in the event 
of counterparty failure are entered into with 
derivative counterparties.

Foreign currency risk – The Group has operations
overseas and is therefore exposed to movements 
in foreign currencies, particularly the US dollar.
For transactional foreign exchange exposure, the 
policy allows the use of derivatives where appropriate.
The Group mainly converts foreign currencies at 
spot rate and had no cash flow hedges in place at the
balance sheet date. Translational foreign exchange
exposure is of more significance to the Group. It seeks
to offset this exposure through its policy of aligning
approximately the currency composition of its core 
net borrowings with its forecast operating profit.
This policy only applies where a currency accounts 
for more than 15% of Group operating profit 
and currently is only applicable to the US dollar.
The Group uses its dollar denominated debt and the
foreign exchange portion of certain cross currency 
rate derivatives as net investment hedges of foreign
operations. Unremitted profits are not hedged with
foreign exchange contracts, as the Company judges it
inappropriate to hedge non-cash flow translational
exposure with cash flow instruments.
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2 Segment information
Due to the differing risks and rewards associated with each business segment and the different customer focus of
each segment, business is the Group’s primary reporting segment. At 31 December 2005 the Group is organised
into five primary business segments, School, Higher Education, Penguin, FT Publishing and Interactive Data
Corporation (IDC). The remaining business group, Professional, brings together a number of education
publishing, testing and services businesses and does not meet the criteria for classification as a ‘segment’
under IFRS.

Primary reporting format – business segments
Higher FT 2005

All figures in £ millions School Education Professional Penguin Publishing IDC Corporate Group

Continuing operations

Sales (external) 1,295 779 589 804 332 297 – 4,096

Sales (inter-segment) – – – 16 – – – 16

Operating profit before 
joint ventures and associates 138 156 44 60 49 75 – 522

Share of results of
joint ventures and associates 4 – 1 – 9 – – 14

Operating profit 142 156 45 60 58 75 – 536

Finance costs (132)

Finance income 62

Profit before tax 466

Income tax (124)

Profit for the year from 
continuing operations 342

Reconciliation to adjusted 
operating profit

Operating profit 142 156 45 60 58 75 – 536

Amortisation of acquired intangibles 5 – – – 1 5 – 11

Other net gains and losses – – – – (40) – – (40)

Other net finance costs of associates – – – – 2 – – 2

Adjusted operating profit – 
continuing operations 147 156 45 60 21 80 – 509

Segment assets 2,067 1,402 1,705 960 154 291 985 7,564

Joint ventures 6 – – 2 4 – – 12

Associates 6 – – – 18 – – 24

Total assets 2,079 1,402 1,705 962 176 291 985 7,600

Total liabilities (557) (341) (263) (280) (336) (109) (1,981) (3,867)

Other segment items

Capital expenditure
(notes 11, 12 and 17) 114 96 43 34 14 19 – 320

Depreciation (note 11) 26 8 17 7 11 11 – 80

Amortisation (notes 12 and 17) 91 78 20 24 3 5 – 221
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2 Segment information continued

Higher FT 2004
All figures in £ millions School Education Professional Penguin Publishing IDC Corporate Group

Continuing operations

Sales (external) 1,087 729 507 786 318 269 – 3,696

Sales (inter-segment) – – – 15 – – – 15

Operating profit before 
joint ventures and associates 109 133 42 46 4 62 – 396

Share of results of
joint ventures and associates 3 – – 1 4 – – 8

Operating profit 112 133 42 47 8 62 – 404

Finance costs (96)

Finance income 17

Profit before tax 325

Income tax (63)

Profit for the year from 
continuing operations 262

Reconciliation to adjusted 
operating profit

Operating profit 112 133 42 47 8 62 – 404

Amortisation of acquired intangibles – – – – – 5 – 5

Other net gains and losses (4) (4) (2) 5 (4) – – (9)

Adjusted operating profit – 
continuing operations 108 129 40 52 4 67 – 400

Segment assets 1,860 1,224 1,345 892 502 247 461 6,531

Joint ventures 7 – – 5 2 – – 14

Associates 5 – – – 28 – – 33

Total assets 1,872 1,224 1,345 897 532 247 461 6,578

Total liabilities (439) (286) (212) (259) (435) (110) (1,823) (3,564)

Other segment items

Capital expenditure
(notes 11, 12 and 17) 104 79 62 36 15 12 – 308

Depreciation (note 11) 25 9 16 9 16 9 – 84

Amortisation (notes 12 and 17) 74 65 18 29 2 5 – 193
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2 Segment information continued

Higher FT 2003
All figures in £ millions School Education Professional Penguin Publishing IDC Corporate Group

Continuing operations

Sales (external) 1,149 770 503 840 315 273 – 3,850

Sales (inter-segment) – – 1 15 – – – 16

Operating profit before 
joint ventures and associates 112 140 33 81 (28) 66 – 404

Share of results of
joint ventures and associates 2 – – 1 (1) – – 2

Operating profit 114 140 33 82 (29) 66 – 406

Finance costs (100)

Finance income 7

Profit before tax 313

Income tax (61)

Profit for the year from 
continuing operations 252

Reconciliation to adjusted 
operating profit

Operating profit 114 140 33 82 (29) 66 – 406

Amortisation of acquired intangibles – – – – – 4 – 4

Other net gains and losses 2 2 1 1 – – – 6

Adjusted operating profit – 
continuing operations 116 142 34 83 (29) 70 – 416

Segment assets 2,072 1,157 1,387 907 358 240 551 6,672

Joint ventures 6 – – 4 2 – – 12

Associates 5 – – – 47 – – 52

Total assets 2,083 1,157 1,387 911 407 240 551 6,736

Total liabilities (458) (318) (158) (398) (203) (113) (1,927) (3,575)

Other segment items

Capital expenditure
(notes 11, 12 and 17) 101 65 21 47 26 17 – 277

Depreciation (note 11) 26 9 13 6 19 12 – 85

Amortisation (notes 12 and 17) 68 58 18 39 2 5 – 190

Corporate costs are allocated to business segments on an appropriate basis depending on the nature of the cost
and therefore the segment result is equal to the Group result . Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s
length basis. Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories,
receivables and deferred taxation and exclude cash and cash equivalents and derivative assets. Segment liabilities
comprise operating liabilities and exclude borrowings and derivative liabilities. Corporate assets and liabilities
comprise cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and derivative financial instruments. Capital expenditure
comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including pre-publication but
excluding goodwill (see notes 11, 12 and 17).
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2 Segment information continued

Property plant and equipment and intangible assets acquired through business combinations were £111m
(2004: £16m; 2003: £54m) (see notes 11, 12 and 17). Capital expenditure, depreciation and amortisation
includes amounts relating to discontinued operations. In April 2005, Pearson sold its 79% interest in Recoletos
Grupo de Communicación S.A. This operation is now disclosed as a ‘discontinued’ operation. The related assets
and liabilities are disclosed within the FT Publishing segment in 2004 and 2003.

Secondary reporting format – geographical segments
Although the Group’s business segments are managed on a worldwide basis, they all operate in the following
main geographical areas:

Sales Total assets Capital expenditure

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Continuing operations

European countries 963 835 768 1,711 1,112 1,003 60 79 63

North America 2,717 2,504 2,742 5,476 4,716 5,015 242 208 188

Asia Pacific 300 263 255 325 302 301 13 10 11

Other countries 116 94 85 52 43 37 2 3 4

Total 4,096 3,696 3,850 7,564 6,173 6,356 317 300 266

Discontinued operations 
(European countries) 27 190 169 – 358 316 3 8 11

Joint ventures 
and associates – – – 36 47 64 – – –

Total 4,123 3,886 4,019 7,600 6,578 6,736 320 308 277

Sales are allocated based on the country in which the customer is located. This does not differ materially from
the location where the order is received. Total assets and capital expenditure are allocated to where the assets 
are located.
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3 Discontinued operations
In April 2005, Pearson sold its 79% interest in Recoletos Grupo de Communicación S.A. to Retos Cartera, a
consortium of investors. This operation is disclosed as a ‘discontinued’ operation (see note 28).

An analysis of the result and cash flows of discontinued operations is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Sales 27 190 169

Operating (loss)/profit (3) 26 43

Net finance income – 3 3

(Loss)/profit before tax (3) 29 46

Attributable tax benefit/(expense) 1 (7) (23)

(Loss)/profit after tax (2) 22 23

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations (note 28) 306 – –

Attributable tax expense (2) – –

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 302 22 23

Operating cash flows (6) 12 11

Investing cash flows – 17 47

Financing cash flows – – (92)

Total cash flows (6) 29 (34)

4 Other net gains and losses
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Profit on sale of interest in MarketWatch 40 – –

Other items – 9 (6)

Total other net gains and losses 40 9 (6)

Other net gains and losses represent profits and losses on the sale of subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and
other financial assets that are included within continuing operations.
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5 Operating expenses
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

By function:

Cost of goods sold 2,022 1,789 1,846

Operating expenses

Distribution costs 249 201 206

Administrative and other expenses 1,384 1,365 1,439

Other income (41) (46) (51)

Total operating expenses 1,592 1,520 1,594

Total 3,614 3,309 3,440

By nature:

Utilisation of inventory 768 700 710

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 11) 80 78 79

Amortisation of intangible assets – pre-publication (note 17) 192 168 158

Amortisation of intangible assets – other (note 12) 29 25 32

Employee benefit expense (note 6) 1,273 1,154 1,156

Operating lease rentals 119 126 148

Other property costs 88 73 61

Royalties expensed 363 331 354

Advertising, promotion and marketing 202 181 193

Information technology costs 84 76 85

Other costs 457 443 515

Other income (41) (46) (51)

Total 3,614 3,309 3,440
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5 Operating expenses continued

During the year the Group obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Statutory audit 4 3 3

Audit-related regulatory reporting services 1 1 –

Non-audit services:

Tax compliance 1 1 1

Tax advisory – 1 1

Other non-audit services 1 – –

Audit-related regulatory reporting services were £700,000 (2004: £600,000; 2003: £nil). This relates to services in
respect of the transition to IFRS and Sarbanes-Oxley section 404 compliance services. Other non-audit services
were £700,000 (2004: £100,000; 2003: £400,000) and mainly relate to due diligence work performed at IDC.

Non-audit fees in the UK were £1.0m (2004: £1.0m; 2003: £300,000) and were in respect of tax advisory, tax
compliance and other advisory services. The remainder of the non-audit fees related to overseas subsidiaries.

6 Employee information
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Employee benefit expense

Wages and salaries (including termination benefits and restructuring costs) 1,088 983 988

Social security costs 101 89 87

Share-based payment costs (note 24) 23 25 29

Pension costs – defined contribution plans (note 24) 35 32 28

Pension costs – defined benefit plans (note 24) 25 24 23

Other post-retirement benefits (note 24) 1 1 1

1,273 1,154 1,156

The details of the emoluments of the directors of Pearson plc are shown on pages 21 to 37.

Average number employed 2005 2004 2003

School 10,133 10,403 9,348

Higher Education 4,196 4,087 3,912

Professional 8,342 7,491 6,434

Penguin 4,051 4,085 4,318

FT Publishing 1,952 1,989 2,283

IDC 1,956 1,826 1,628

Other 1,573 1,365 928

Continuing operations 32,203 31,246 28,851

Discontinued operations – 1,840 1,733

32,203 33,086 30,584
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7 Net finance costs
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Interest payable (98) (91) (91)

Finance costs re employee benefits (7) (5) (9)

Net foreign exchange losses (9) – –

Other losses on financial instruments in a hedging relationship:

– fair value hedges (1) – –

– net investment hedges – – –

Other losses on financial instruments not in a hedging relationship:

– derivatives (17) – –

Finance costs (132) (96) (100)

Interest receivable 21 17 7

Net foreign exchange gains 21 – –

Other gains on financial instruments in a hedging relationship:

– fair value hedges 1 – –

– net investment hedges 3 – –

Other gains on financial instruments not in a hedging relationship:

– amortisation of transitional adjustment on bonds 7 – –

– derivatives 9 – –

Finance income 62 17 7

Net finance costs (70) (79) (93)

Analysed as:

Net interest payable (77) (74) (84)

Finance costs re employee benefits (7) (5) (9)

Net finance costs reflected in adjusted earnings (84) (79) (93)

Other net finance income 14 – –

Total net finance costs (70) (79) (93)
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8 Income tax
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Current tax

Charge in respect of current year (76) (65) (45)

Adjustments in respect of prior years (1) 25 13

Total current tax charge (77) (40) (32)

Deferred tax

In respect of timing differences (66) (46) (72)

Adjustments in respect of prior years 19 23 43

Total deferred tax charge (note 14) (47) (23) (29)

Total tax charge (124) (63) (61)

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK tax
rate as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Profit before tax 466 325 313

Tax calculated at UK rate (140) (97) (94)

Effect of overseas tax rates (22) (8) (6)

Joint venture and associate income reported net of tax 5 2 –

Income not subject to tax 16 6 11

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (9) (5) (7)

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses 11 5 15

Unutilised tax losses (3) (14) (36)

Prior year adjustments 18 48 56

Total tax charge (124) (63) (61)

UK (26) 5 (13)

Overseas (98) (68) (48)

Total tax charge (124) (63) (61)

Add back: tax benefit on other gains and losses (4) (36) (35)

Add back: tax benefit on amortisation of acquired intangibles (4) (2) (1)

Add back: tax charge on other finance income 3 – –

Adjusted income tax charge – continuing operations (129) (101) (97)

Adjusted income tax charge – discontinued operations 1 (7) (19)

Total adjusted income tax charge (128) (108) (116)

Tax rate reflected in adjusted earnings 30.3% 30.9% 32.5%
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8 Income tax continued

The tax benefit on items charged to equity is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Deferred tax on stock options 3 4 –

Current tax on foreign exchange gains and losses 9 5 –

12 9 –

9 Earnings per share

Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding ordinary shares
purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares.

Diluted
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares to take
account of all dilutive potential ordinary shares and adjusting the profit attributable, if applicable, to account for
any tax consequences that might arise from conversion of those shares.

Adjusted
In order to show results from operating activities on a comparable basis, an adjusted earnings per share 
is presented.

The following items are excluded in the calculation of adjusted earnings:

Other gains and losses represent profits and losses on the sale of subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and other
financial assets that are included within operating profit or represent the profit or loss on sale of a discontinued
operation. Such profits and losses are considered to distort the performance in any year.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles is the amortisation of intangible assets acquired through business
combinations. The amortisation charge is not considered to be fully reflective of the underlying performance 
of the Group.

Other net finance income/costs are foreign exchange and other gains and losses that represent short-term
fluctuations in market value and foreign exchange movements on transactions and balances that are no longer 
in a hedge relationship under IFRS. These gains and losses are subject to significant volatility and may not be
realised in due course as it is normally the intention to hold these instruments to maturity. The increased
volatility has been introduced as a result of adopting IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’ as at 1 January 2005 (see note 34) and through the application of IAS 21 ‘The Effects of Changes
in Foreign Exchange Rates’. Other net finance costs of Group companies are included in finance costs or finance
income as appropriate. Other net finance costs of joint ventures and associates are included within the share of
results of joint ventures and associates within operating profit.

The related tax and minority interest for the above items is also excluded from adjusted earnings.

The Company’s definition of adjusted earnings per share may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures reported by other companies.
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9 Earnings per share continued

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Earnings 624 262 252

Adjustments to exclude profit for the year from discontinued operations:

Profit for the year from discontinued operations (302) (22) (23)

Minority interest share of above – 5 5

Earnings – continuing operations 322 245 234

Earnings 624 262 252

Adjustments:

Other gains and losses (40) (9) (6)

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (note 12) 11 5 4

Other net finance costs of associates 2 – –

Profit on sale of discontinued operations (note 3) (306) – –

Other finance income (note 7) (14) – –

Taxation on above items (3) (38) (32)

Minority interest share of above items (2) (1) 1

Adjusted earnings 272 219 219

Amortisation of acquired intangibles (net of taxation and minority interest) (5) (2) (2)

Adjusted earnings including effect of amortisation of acquired intangibles 267 217 217

Weighted average number of shares (millions) 797.9 795.6 794.4

Effect of dilutive share options (millions) 1.1 1.1 0.9

Weighted average number of shares (millions) for diluted earnings 799.0 796.7 795.3
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9 Earnings per share continued

2005 2004 2003

Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations

Basic 78.2p 32.9p 31.7p

Diluted 78.1p 32.9p 31.7p

Earnings per share from continuing operations

Basic 40.4p 30.8p 29.4p

Diluted 40.3p 30.8p 29.4p

Earnings per share from discontinued operations

Basic 37.8p 2.1p 2.3p

Diluted 37.8p 2.1p 2.3p

Adjusted earnings per share 34.1p 27.5p 27.6p

Adjusted earnings per share including effect of amortisation of acquired intangibles 33.5p 27.3p 27.3p

10 Dividends
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Final paid in respect of prior year 15.7p (2004: 14.8p; 2003: 14.3p) 125 119 115

Interim paid in respect of current year 10p (2004: 9.7p; 2003: 9.4p) 80 76 73

205 195 188

The directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ending 31 December 2005 of
17.0p per share which will absorb an estimated £136m of shareholders’ funds. It will be paid on 5 May 2006 
to shareholders who are on the register of members on 7 April 2006. These financial statements do not reflect
this dividend payable (see note 34k).
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11 Property, plant and equipment
Assets in 

Land and Plant and course of
All figures in £ millions buildings equipment construction Total

Cost

At 1 January 2003 319 619 20 958

Exchange differences (19) (28) (3) (50)

Additions 12 52 14 78

Disposals (15) (55) – (70)

Acquisition through business combination 5 19 – 24

Disposal through business disposal (2) (6) – (8)

Reclassifications 1 9 (10) –

At 31 December 2003 301 610 21 932

Exchange differences (9) (10) (1) (20)

Additions 14 81 8 103

Disposals (13) (39) – (52)

Acquisition through business combination 1 4 – 5

Disposal through business disposal (4) – – (4)

Reclassifications – 13 (13) –

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (14) (81) (2) (97)

At 31 December 2004 276 578 13 867

Exchange differences 18 40 – 58

Transfers – 13 – 13

Additions 32 41 1 74

Disposals (5) (28) – (33)

Acquisition through business combination 3 6 – 9

Reclassifications – 7 (7) –

At 31 December 2005 324 657 7 988
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11 Property, plant and equipment continued

Assets in 
Land and Plant and course of

All figures in £ millions buildings equipment construction Total

Depreciation

At 1 January 2003 (104) (419) – (523)

Exchange differences 10 17 – 27

Charge for the year (16) (69) – (85)

Disposals 7 53 – 60

Acquisition through business combination – (14) – (14)

Disposal through business disposal 1 4 – 5

At 31 December 2003 (102) (428) – (530)

Exchange differences 4 5 – 9

Charge for the year (16) (68) – (84)

Disposals 6 38 – 44

Acquisition through business combination – (4) – (4)

Disposal through business disposal 4 – – 4

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale 2 47 – 49

At 31 December 2004 (102) (410) – (512)

Exchange differences (7) (33) – (40)

Charge for the year (17) (63) – (80)

Disposals – 30 – 30

Acquisition through business combination – (2) – (2)

At 31 December 2005 (126) (478) – (604)

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2003 215 200 20 435

At 31 December 2003 199 182 21 402

At 31 December 2004 174 168 13 355

At 31 December 2005 198 179 7 384

Depreciation expense of £19m (2004: £17m; 2003: £15m) has been included in the income statement in cost 
of goods sold, £7m (2004: £6m; 2003: £6m) in distribution expenses and £54m (2004: £55m; 2003: £58m) in
administrative and other expenses. In 2004 £6m (2003: £6m) relates to discontinued operations.

The Group leases certain equipment under a number of finance lease agreements. The net carrying amount of
leased plant and equipment included within property, plant and equipment was £3m (2004: £3m; 2003: £5m).
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12 Intangible assets
Acquired Other Total

publishing intangibles intangibles 
All figures in £ millions Goodwill Software rights acquired acquired Total

Cost

At 1 January 2003 3,610 146 – – – 3,756

Exchange differences (275) (10) – – – (285)

Additions 113 26 – – – 139

Disposals (4) (2) – – – (6)

Acquisition through business combination – – – 44 44 44

At 31 December 2003 3,444 160 – 44 44 3,648

Exchange differences (201) (8) – (3) (3) (212)

Additions 22 24 – – – 46

Disposals (4) (11) – – – (15)

Acquisition through business combination – – 10 5 15 15

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale (101) – – – – (101)

At 31 December 2004 3,160 165 10 46 56 3,381

Exchange differences 345 15 2 4 6 366

Transfers – (13) – – – (13)

Additions 155 24 – – – 179

Disposals (6) (10) – – – (16)

Acquisition through business combination – – 56 33 89 89

At 31 December 2005 3,654 181 68 83 151 3,986
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12 Intangible assets continued

Acquired Other Total
publishing intangibles intangibles 

All figures in £ millions Goodwill Software rights acquired acquired Total

Amortisation

At 1 January 2003 – (75) – – – (75)

Exchange differences – 7 – – – 7

Charge for the year – (28) – (4) (4) (32)

Disposals – 2 – – – 2

Acquisition through business combination – – – – – –

At 31 December 2003 – (94) – (4) (4) (98)

Exchange differences – 8 – 1 1 9

Charge for the year – (20) – (5) (5) (25)

Disposals – 11 – – – 11

Acquisition through business combination – – – – – –

At 31 December 2004 – (95) – (8) (8) (103)

Exchange differences – (10) – – – (10)

Charge for the year – (18) (5) (6) (11) (29)

Disposals – 10 – – – 10

Acquisition through business combination – – – – – –

At 31 December 2005 – (113) (5) (14) (19) (132)

Carrying amounts

At 1 January 2003 3,610 71 – – – 3,681

At 31 December 2003 3,444 66 – 40 40 3,550

At 31 December 2004 3,160 70 10 38 48 3,278

At 31 December 2005 3,654 68 63 69 132 3,854

Other intangibles acquired include customer lists and relationships, technology, trade names and trademarks.
Amortisation of £4m (2004: £3m; 2003: £5m) is included in the income statement in cost of sales and £25m
(2004: £22m; 2003: £27m) in administrative and other expenses.

Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
Impairment tests have been carried out where appropriate as described below. The recoverable amount for each
unit tested exceeds its carrying value.
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12 Intangible assets continued

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units identified according to the business segment.
Goodwill has been allocated as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Higher Education 1,106 950 1,007

School Book 861 739 783

School Assessment and Testing 271 232 246

School Technology 385 330 350

Other Assessment and Testing 245 211 223

Other Government Solutions 234 201 213

Other Book 70 60 63

Pearson Education total 3,172 2,723 2,885

Penguin US 149 122 138

Penguin UK 146 146 146

Pearson Australia 45 42 44

Penguin total 340 310 328

IDC 138 123 127

FT Publishing 4 4 4

Recoletos – – 100

Total goodwill 3,654 3,160 3,444

The Group has adopted IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ with effect from the date of transition to IFRS.
In accordance with IFRS 3, goodwill is no longer amortised but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis.
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment purposes to twelve cash generating units. The recoverable amount
of each cash generating unit is based on value in use calculations, with the exception of IDC which is assessed
on a market value basis.

The value in use calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five year period. The key assumptions used by management in the value in use calculations were:

Discount rate – The discount rate is based on the risk-free rate for government bonds, adjusted for a risk
premium to reflect the increased risk in investing in equities. The risk premium adjustment is assessed for 
each specific cash generating unit. The average pre-tax discount rates used are in the range of 8.5% to 11.5% 
for the Pearson Education businesses, 8% to 13% for the Penguin businesses and 8.5% to 11.5% for the 
FT Publishing businesses.

Perpetuity growth rates – The cash flows subsequent to the approval budget period are based upon the 
long-term historic growth rates of the underlying territories in which the cash generating unit operates and
reflect the long-term growth prospects of the sectors in which the cash generating unit operates. The perpetuity
growth rates used vary between 3.0% to 4.0%. The perpetuity growth rates are consistent with appropriate
external sources for the relevant markets.

Cash flow growth rates – The cash flow growth rates are derived from forecast sales growth taking into
consideration past experience of operating margins achieved in the cash generating unit. Historically, such
forecasts have been reasonably accurate.

The valuation of IDC is determined using an observable market price for each share. Other than goodwill there
are no intangible assets with indefinite lives.
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13 Investments in joint ventures and associates

Joint ventures
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

At beginning of year 14 12 12

Exchange differences (3) 1 4

Share of loss after tax (1) (5) (9)

Dividends (4) (3) (2)

Additions or further investment 6 9 7

At end of year 12 14 12

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised
at cost.

The aggregate of the Group’s share in its joint ventures, none of which are individually significant, are as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Assets

Non-current assets 3 3 –

Current assets 26 19 18

Liabilities

Current liabilities (17) (8) (6)

Net assets 12 14 12

Income 46 37 33

Expenses (47) (42) (42)

Loss after income tax (1) (5) (9)

Associates
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

At beginning of year 33 52 94

Share of profit after tax 15 15 13

Dividends (10) (9) (8)

Loan repayment – – (2)

Additions – 1 –

Disposals (14) (24) (45)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale – (2) –

At end of year 24 33 52

Investments in associates at 31 December 2005 include goodwill of £nil (2004: £6m; 2003: £7m). The share of
profit after tax includes £nil (2004: £2m; 2003: £2m) in respect of discontinued operations.
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13 Investments in joint ventures and associates continued

The Group’s interests in its principal associates, all of which are unlisted, were as follows:

2005 %
All figures in £ millions Country of incorporation Interest held Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit

The Economist Newspaper Ltd England 50 79 (67) 105 12

Other 42 (30) 49 3

Total 121 (97) 154 15

2004 %
All figures in £ millions Country of incorporation Interest held Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit

The Economist Newspaper Ltd England 50 71 (62) 98 11

Other 42 (18) 192 4

Total 113 (80) 290 15

2003 %
All figures in £ millions Country of incorporation Interest held Assets Liabilities Revenues Profit

The Economist Newspaper Ltd England 50 103 (101) 95 9

Other 81 (31) 139 4

Total 184 (132) 234 13

14 Deferred income tax
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 343 318 313

Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 42 41 29

385 359 342

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liability to be settled after more than 12 months (204) (139) (140)

Deferred tax liability to be settled within 12 months – – –

(204) (139) (140)

Net deferred tax 181 220 202

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities may be offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.
The Group has unprovided deferred tax assets at 31 December 2005 in respect of UK losses (£32m) and US
losses (£37m) and has not recognised a deferred tax asset on the net pension deficit on the basis that it is not
sufficiently certain that suitable future profits will arise against which to offset the liability. The related
unprovided deferred tax asset is £96m.

The recognition of the deferred tax assets is supported by management’s forecasts of the future profitability of
the relevant business units.
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14 Deferred income tax continued

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

At beginning of year 220 202 255

Transition adjustment on adoption of IAS 39 5 – –

Exchange differences 21 (13) (34)

Acquisition through business combination (21) – (15)

Transfer between current and deferred taxation – 41 25

Income statement charge (note 8) (47) (23) (29)

Tax benefit to equity (note 8) 3 4 –

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale – 9 –

At end of year 181 220 202

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Goodwill
Tax and

All figures in £ millions losses intangibles Other Total

Deferred income tax assets

At 1 January 2003 131 57 186 374

Exchange differences (16) (4) (22) (42)

Transfer between current and deferred taxation 25 – (17) 8

Income statement (charge)/release (27) (7) 36 2

At 31 December 2003 113 46 183 342

Exchange differences (10) (3) (11) (24)

Transfer between current and deferred taxation 41 – (11) 30

Income statement release/(charge) 6 (6) 7 7

Tax benefit to equity – – 4 4

At 31 December 2004 150 37 172 359

Transition adjustment on adoption of IAS 39 – – 5 5

Exchange differences 16 4 18 38

Acquisition through business combination – – 1 1

Transfer between current and deferred taxation – – 23 23

Income statement charge (32) (6) (6) (44)

Tax benefit to equity – – 3 3

At 31 December 2005 134 35 216 385

Other deferred tax assets include temporary differences on inventory, sales returns and other provisions.
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14 Deferred income tax continued

Goodwill and 
All figures in £ millions intangibles Other Total

Deferred income tax liabilities

At 1 January 2003 (25) (94) (119)

Exchange differences – 8 8

Acquisition through business combination (15) – (15)

Transfer between current and deferred taxation – 17 17

Income statement charge (19) (12) (31)

At 31 December 2003 (59) (81) (140)

Exchange differences 8 3 11

Transfer between current and deferred taxation – 11 11

Income statement charge (8) (22) (30)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale – 9 9

At 31 December 2004 (59) (80) (139)

Exchange differences (8) (9) (17)

Acquisition through business combination (24) 2 (22)

Transfer between current and deferred taxation – (23) (23)

Income statement (charge)/release (26) 23 (3)

At 31 December 2005 (117) (87) (204)

Other deferred tax liabilities include temporary differences on capital allowances and royalty advances.

15 Other financial assets
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

At beginning of year 15 21 22

Exchange differences 1 (1) (3)

Additions 4 5 3

Disposals (2) (8) (1)

Transfer to non-current assets held for sale – (2) –

At end of year 18 15 21

Other financial assets are non-current unlisted securities.
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16 Derivative financial instruments
2005 2005

All figures in £ millions Assets Liabilities

Interest rate derivatives – in a fair value hedging relationship 31 (16)

Interest rate derivatives – not in a hedging relationship 18 (6)

Cross currency rate derivatives – in a net investment hedging relationship 13 –

Cross currency rate derivatives – not in a hedging relationship 21 –

83 (22)

Analysed as:

Non-current 79 (22)

Current (expiring in less than 1 year) 4 –

83 (22)

The fair value of the above derivative financial instruments is the same as the carrying value.

The Group’s portfolio of derivatives is diversified by maturity, counterparty and type. Natural offsets between
transactions within the portfolio and the designation of certain derivatives as hedges, significantly reduces the
risk of income statement volatility.

Counterparty exposure from derivatives is managed, together with that from deposits and bank account
balances, within credit limits that reflect published credit ratings to ensure that there is no significant risk to any
one counterparty. No single derivative transaction had a market value (positive or negative) at the balance sheet
date that exceeded 3% of the Group’s consolidated total equity.

At the year end the Group had received an amount of £43m equivalent as collateral under a mark-to-market
agreement. This reflected the amount, at market rates prevailing at the end of October 2005, owed to the Group
by the counterparty for a set of three related derivatives. Under these the Group is due to exchange $209m for
a204m in February 2007. There are no restrictions on the Group’s use of these funds, which have been recorded
in borrowings as a current bank loan.

In accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, the Group has reviewed all its
material contracts for embedded derivatives that are required to be separately accounted for if they do not meet
certain requirements, and has concluded that there are no material embedded derivatives.
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17 Intangible assets – pre-publication
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Cost 

At beginning of year 1,109 1,104 1,189

Exchange differences 112 (63) (90)

Acquisition through business combination 27 – –

Additions 222 181 173

Disposals (113) (113) (168)

At end of year 1,357 1,109 1,104

Amortisation

At beginning of year (753) (742) (809)

Exchange differences (87) 44 57

Acquisition through business combination (12) – –

Charge for the year (192) (168) (158)

Disposals 113 113 168

At end of year (931) (753) (742)

Carrying amounts

At end of year 426 356 362

Amortisation is included in the income statement in cost of goods sold.

18 Inventories
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Raw materials 23 23 19

Work in progress 43 35 30

Finished goods 307 256 270

373 314 319

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in the income statement in cost of goods sold
amounted to £768m (2004: £700m; 2003: £710m). In 2005 £42m (2004: £41m; 2003: £37m) of inventory
provisions were charged in the income statement. None of the inventory is pledged as security.
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19 Trade and other receivables
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Current

Trade receivables 825 725 814

Royalty advances 124 114 110

Prepayments and accrued income 38 41 38

Other receivables 42 51 62

Receivables from related parties 2 2 1

1,031 933 1,025

Non-current

Royalty advances 67 70 83

Prepayments and accrued income 4 1 1

Other receivables 37 31 16

108 102 100

Trade receivables are stated net of provisions for bad and doubtful debts and sales returns of £313m 
(2004: £354m; 2003: £339m). The carrying amounts are stated at their fair value. Concentrations of credit 
risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s large number of customers, who are
internationally dispersed.

20 Cash and cash equivalents (excluding overdrafts)
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Cash at bank and in hand 393 338 302

Short-term bank deposits 509 123 249

902 461 551

Short-term bank deposits are invested with banks and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates.

The currency split of cash and cash equivalents in 2005 is 31% US dollars (2004: 38%), 38% Sterling 
(2004: 31%), 24% Euro (2004: 12%) and other 7% (2004: 19%).

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is the same as the carrying value.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents 902 461 551

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets classified as held for sale – 141 –

Bank overdrafts (58) (58) (23)

844 544 528
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21 Financial liabilities – Borrowings
The Group’s current and non-current borrowings are as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Non-current

Bank borrowings – 62 85

7.375% US Dollar notes 2006 (nominal amount $250m) – 130 139

6.125% Euro Bonds 2007 (nominal amount a591m) 436 390 343

10.5% Sterling Bonds 2008 (nominal amount £100m) 107 100 100

4.7% US Dollar Bonds 2009 (nominal amount $350m) 203 181 –

7% Global Dollar Bonds 2011 (nominal amount $500m) 307 260 278

7% Sterling Bonds 2014 (nominal amount £250m) 250 226 235

5.7% US Dollar Bonds 2014 (nominal amount $400m) 238 207 –

4.625% US Dollar notes 2018 (nominal amount $300m) 161 156 167

Finance lease liabilities 1 2 2

1,703 1,714 1,349

Included in the above is £35m of accrued interest in 2005.

Current

Due within one year or on demand:

Bank loans and overdrafts 102 107 119

7.375% US Dollar notes 2006 152 – –

9.5% Sterling Bonds 2004 – – 108

4.625% Euro Bonds 2004 – – 348

Finance lease liabilities 2 2 3

256 109 578

Total borrowings 1,959 1,823 1,927

Included in the above is £3m of accrued interest in 2005.

The Group has elected to apply the provisions of IAS 32 and IAS 39 with effect from 1 January 2005.
The comparative financial information is prepared in accordance with UK GAAP. The nature of the main
adjustments that would make the information comply with IAS 32 and IAS 39 are set out in note 34.

The 2004 and 2003 figures for the 2007 Euro Bonds and 2014 Sterling Bonds (together with the 2004 Sterling
and Euro Bonds which have now been redeemed) include the effect of accounting for the foreign exchange
element of the related derivatives.
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21 Financial liabilities – Borrowings continued

All of the Group’s borrowings are unsecured. In respect of finance lease obligations (£3m in 2005; £4m in 2004
and £5m in 2003) the rights to the leased asset revert to the lessor in the event of default.

The maturity of the Group’s non-current borrowing is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Between one and two years 437 131 86

Between two and five years 310 734 583

Over five years 956 849 680

1,703 1,714 1,349

As at 31 December 2005 the exposure of the borrowings of the Group to interest changes when the borrowings
re-price is as follows:

One to More than 
All figures in £ millions Total One year five years five years

Carrying value of borrowings 1,959 256 747 956

Effect of interest rate swaps – 1,161 (473) (688)

1,959 1,417 274 268

The carrying amounts and fair values of non-current borrowings are as follows:

Carrying Carrying Carrying 
Effective amount Fair value amount Fair value amount Fair value

All figures in £ millions interest rate 2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003

Bank borrowings n/a – – 62 62 85 85

7.375% US Dollar notes 2006 7.75% – – 130 138 139 157

6.125% Euro Bonds 2007 6.18% 436 419 390 409 343 448

10.5% Sterling Bonds 2008 10.53% 107 113 100 116 100 120

4.7% US Dollar Bonds 2009 4.86% 203 200 181 185 – –

7% Global Dollar Bonds 2011 7.16% 307 310 260 293 278 317

7% Sterling Bonds 2014 7.20% 250 282 226 255 235 275

5.7% US Dollar Bonds 2014 5.88% 238 234 207 217 – –

4.625% US Dollar notes 2018 4.69% 161 155 156 142 167 151

Finance lease liabilities n/a 1 1 2 2 2 2

1,703 1,714 1,714 1,819 1,349 1,555

The fair values are based on clean market prices at the year end or, where these are not available, on the quoted
market prices of comparable debt issued by other companies. The effective interest rates above relate to the
underlying debt instruments. The carrying amounts of current borrowings approximate their fair value.



21 Financial liabilities – Borrowings continued

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

US dollar 1,165 1,335 1,432

Sterling 357 202 201

Euro 437 284 292

Other currencies – 2 2

1,959 1,823 1,927

The maturity of the Group’s finance lease obligations is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Finance lease liabilities – minimum lease payments

Not later than one year 2 2 3

Later than one year and not later than five years 1 2 3

Later than five years – – –

Future finance charges on finance leases – – (1)

Present value of finance lease liabilities 3 4 5

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Not later than one year 2 2 3

Later than one year and not later than five years 1 2 2

Later than five years – – –

3 4 5

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their fair value.

The Group has the following undrawn committed borrowing facilities as at 31 December:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Floating rate

– expiring within one year – – –

– expiring beyond one year 786 641 950

786 641 950

In addition to the above facilities, there are a number of short-term facilities that are utilised in the normal
course of business.
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22 Provisions
Deferred Re-

All figures in £ millions consideration Integration organisations Leases Other Total

At 1 January 2005 20 5 11 14 7 57

Exchange differences 2 – 1 1 – 4

Charged to consolidated income statement

– Additional provisions – – – 1 13 14

– Unused amounts reversed – – (1) (3) (1) (5)

On acquisition/disposal 5 – – – – 5

Utilised during year (1) (2) (6) (1) (1) (11)

At 31 December 2005 26 3 5 12 18 64

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Analysis of provisions

Non-current 31 43 59

Current 33 14 18

64 57 77

Deferred consideration – During the year, additional deferred consideration of £5m was incurred mainly relating
to the acquisition of Index books.

Integration – During the year, £2m of this balance has been utilised, primarily in relation to properties, severance
and IT systems. The remaining provision should be utilised in the next two years.

Reorganisations – There were no additional provisions in 2005 and £5m has been utilised, mainly in respect 
of redundancies.

Lease commitments – These relate primarily to onerous lease contracts, acquired through business combinations,
which have various expiry dates up to 2010. The provision is based on current occupancy estimates.

23 Trade and other liabilities
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Trade payables 348 316 405

Social security and other taxes 21 14 4

Accruals and deferred income 600 509 465

Other liabilities 156 128 139

1,125 967 1,013

Less: non-current portion

Accruals and deferred income 66 21 9

Other liabilities 85 78 61

151 99 70

Current portion 974 868 943

The carrying value of the Group’s trade and other liabilities approximates their fair value.
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24 Employee benefits

Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a number of retirement benefit plans throughout the world, the principal ones being in the
UK and US. The major schemes are self-administered with the schemes’ assets being held independently of the
Group. Retirement benefit costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries.
The UK Group scheme is a hybrid scheme with both defined benefit and defined contribution sections but,
predominantly, consisting of defined benefit liabilities. There are a number of defined contribution schemes,
principally overseas.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the UK Group scheme was completed on 1 January 2004.

The principal assumptions used for the UK Group scheme are shown below. Weighted average assumptions
have been shown for the other schemes.

2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003
UK Group Other UK Group Other UK Group Other

% scheme schemes scheme schemes  scheme schemes

Inflation 2.80 2.95 2.80 2.98 2.75 2.98

Expected rate of increase in salaries 4.50 4.43 4.80 4.44 4.75 4.45

Expected rate of increase for pensions 2.50 to – 2.80 to – 2.75 to –
in payment and deferred pensions 4.00 4.00 4.00

Rate used to discount scheme liabilities 4.85 5.54 5.40 5.84 5.50 6.11

Expected return on assets 6.40 7.31 6.60 7.23 6.81 7.75

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Defined 
UK Group benefit Defined 2005

All figures in £ millions scheme other Sub total contribution Total

Current service cost (25) (2) (27) (35) (62)

Past service cost – – – – –

Curtailments – 2 2 – 2

Total operating charge (25) – (25) (35) (60)

Expected return on plan assets 75 6 81 – 81

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (79) (6) (85) – (85)

Net finance charge (4) – (4) – (4)

Net income statement charge (29) – (29) (35) (64)

Actual return on plan assets 214 7 221 – 221
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Defined 
UK Group benefit Defined 2004

All figures in £ millions scheme other Sub total contribution Total

Current service cost (22) (2) (24) (32) (56)

Past service cost – – – – –

Total operating charge (22) (2) (24) (32) (56)

Expected return on plan assets 71 6 77 – 77

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (72) (6) (78) – (78)

Net finance charge (1) – (1) – (1)

Net income statement charge (23) (2) (25) (32) (57)

Actual return on plan assets 135 9 144 – 144

Defined 
UK Group benefit Defined 2003

All figures in £ millions scheme other Sub total contribution Total

Current service cost (21) (2) (23) (28) (51)

Past service cost – – – – –

Total operating charge (21) (2) (23) (28) (51)

Expected return on plan assets 65 4 69 – 69

Interest on pension scheme liabilities (67) (7) (74) – (74)

Net finance charge (2) (3) (5) – (5)

Net income statement charge (23) (5) (28) (28) (56)

Actual return on plan assets 145 12 157 – 157

The total operating charge is included in administrative and other expenses.
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24 Employee benefits continued

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

2005 2005 2005 2004 2004 2004 2003 2003 2003
UK Other Other UK Other Other UK Other Other

Group funded unfunded 2005 Group funded unfunded 2004 Group funded unfunded 2003
All figures in £ millions scheme plans plans Total scheme plans plans Total scheme plans plans Total

Fair value of plan assets 1,390 110 – 1,500 1,198 82 – 1,280 1,089 75 – 1,164

Present value of
plan liabilities (1,661) (131) (11) (1,803) (1,502) (104) (9) (1,615) (1,340) (105) (9) (1,454)

Net pension liability (271) (21) (11) (303) (304) (22) (9) (335) (251) (30) (9) (290)

Other post-retirement 
medical benefit obligation (60) (58) (61)

Other pension accruals (26) (15) (13)

Total retirement 
benefit obligations (389) (408) (364)

The following amounts have been recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Amounts recognised for defined benefit schemes 21 (60) (25)

Amounts recognised on post-retirement medical benefit schemes 5 (1) (3)

Total recognised in year 26 (61) (28)

Cumulative amounts recognised (63) (89) (28)

The fair value of plan assets comprises the following:

2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003
UK Other UK Other UK Other

Group funded 2005 Group funded 2004 Group funded 2003
% scheme plans Total scheme plans Total scheme plans Total

Equities 47.4 4.3 51.7 49.7 4.2 53.9 50.5 4.2 54.7

Bonds 24.7 2.0 26.7 21.5 2.1 23.6 22.5 2.1 24.6

Properties 8.9 – 8.9 8.9 – 8.9 9.2 – 9.2

Other 11.7 1.0 12.7 13.5 0.1 13.6 11.4 0.1 11.5

The plan assets do not include any of the Group’s own financial instruments, nor any property occupied by 
the Group.
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Changes in the values of plan assets and liabilities are as follows:

2005 2004 2003 
UK Group 2005 2005 UK Group 2004 2004 UK Group 2003 2003 

All figures in £ millions scheme Other Total scheme Other Total scheme Other Total

Fair value of assets

Opening fair value 
of plan assets 1,198 82 1,280 1,089 75 1,164 974 57 1,031

Exchange differences – 9 9 – (5) (5) – (5) (5)

Expected return on 
plan assets 75 6 81 71 6 77 65 4 69

Actuarial gains and losses 139 1 140 64 3 67 80 8 88

Contributions by 
employer 35 10 45 30 9 39 24 9 33

Contributions by 
employee 6 – 6 6 – 6 6 – 6

Benefits paid (63) (6) (69) (62) (6) (68) (60) (6) (66)

Acquisition through 
business combination – 8 8 – – – – 8 8

Closing fair value of
plan assets 1,390 110 1,500 1,198 82 1,280 1,089 75 1,164

Present value of defined 
benefit obligation

Opening defined benefit 
obligation (1,502) (113) (1,615) (1,340) (114) (1,454) (1,207) (96) (1,303)

Exchange differences – (12) (12) – 6 6 – 9 9

Current service cost (25) (2) (27) (22) (2) (24) (21) (2) (23)

Curtailment – 2 2 – – – – – –

Interest cost (79) (6) (85) (72) (6) (78) (67) (7) (74)

Contributions by 
employee (6) – (6) (6) – (6) (6) – (6)

Acquisition through 
business combination – (10) (10) – – – – (10) (10)

Benefits paid 63 6 69 62 6 68 60 6 66

Actuarial gains
and losses (112) (7) (119) (124) (3) (127) (99) (14) (113)

Closing defined 
benefit obligation (1,661) (142) (1,803) (1,502) (113) (1,615) (1,340) (114) (1,454)
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The history of the defined benefit plans is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Present value of defined benefit obligation (1,803) (1,615) (1,454)

Fair value of plan assets 1,500 1,280 1,164

Net pension liability (303) (335) (290)

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (119) (127) (113)

Experience adjustments on plan assets 140 67 88

The expected rates of return on categories of plan assets are determined by reference to relevant indices.
The overall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the
anticipated balance in the plan’s investment portfolio.

The Group expects to contribute approximately £41m to its defined benefit plans in 2006.

Other post-retirement obligations
The Group operates a number of post-retirement medical benefit schemes, principally in the USA. These plans
are unfunded. The method of accounting and the frequency of valuations are similar to those used for defined
benefit pension schemes.

The principal assumptions used are shown below:

% 2005 2004 2003

Inflation 3.0 3.0 3.0

Initial rate of increase in healthcare rates 10.0 12.0 12.0

Ultimate rate of increase in healthcare rates 5.0 5.0 5.0

Rate used to discount scheme liabilities 5.6 6.1 6.1

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Current service cost (1) (1) (1)

Interest cost (3) (4) (4)

Net income statement charge (4) (5) (5)

The current service cost has been included in administrative and other expenses.
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All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Opening obligation (58) (61) (63)

Exchange differences (7) 6 6

Current service cost (1) (1) (1)

Interest cost (3) (4) (4)

Benefits paid 4 3 4

Actuarial gains and losses 5 (1) (3)

Closing obligation (60) (58) (61)

The effect of a one percentage point increase (and decrease) in the assumed medical cost trend rates is 
as follows:

2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003
All figures in £ millions 1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease 1% increase 1% decrease

Effect on:

Aggregate of service cost and interest cost 0.2 (0.2) 0.2 (0.2) 0.3 (0.3)

Defined benefit obligation 4.7 4.1 4.1 (3.7) 4.8 (4.2)

Share-based compensation
The Group recognised the following charges in the income statement in respect of its share-based 
payment plans:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Pearson plans 13 15 20

IDC plans 10 10 9

Total share-based payment costs 23 25 29

The Group operates the following equity-settled employee option and performance plans:

Profit Sharing Plan – The Group operates a profit sharing plan for all employees, the payment of which is at the
discretion of the Pearson board and may be made in cash or Pearson shares.

Save for Shares Plans – Since 1994 the Group has operated a Save-As-You-Earn plan for UK employees.
In 1998, the Group introduced a Worldwide Save for Shares Plan. Under these plans, employees can save a
portion of their monthly salary over periods of three, five or seven years. At the end of this period, the employee
has the option to purchase ordinary shares with the accumulated funds at a purchase price equal to 80% 
of the market price prevailing at the time of the commencement of the employee’s participation in the plan.
Options that are not exercised within six months of the third, fifth or seventh anniversary after grant 
lapse unconditionally.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan – In 2000, the Group established an Employee Stock Purchase Plan which allows
all employees in the United States to save a portion of their monthly salary over six month periods. At the end of
the period the employee has the option to purchase ADRs with their accumulated funds at a purchase price
equal to 85% of the lower of the market price prevailing at the beginning or end of the period.

Executive Share Option Plan – Under this plan, options were granted to senior management at an exercise price
equal to the market price of the shares on the date of grant. Options granted prior to 1996 are not subject 
to performance conditions. The exercise of options granted since 1996 is subject to growth in the Group’s
adjusted earnings per share over a three year period prior to exercise. Options become exercisable on the third
anniversary of the date of grant and lapse if they remain unexercised at the tenth. No new awards will be made
under this plan.

Reward Plan – Awards of premium priced options were made under this plan in 1999 and 2000 with an exercise
price above the market value of the shares at the grant date. The exercise of options is subject to Pearson’s share
price remaining above certain thresholds for specified periods of time and to growth in the Group’s adjusted
earnings per share over the three year period prior to exercise. Options became exercisable on the third
anniversary of the date of grant and lapse if they remain unexercised at the tenth. No new awards will be 
made under this plan.

Special Share Option Plan – In 2000, the Group made a special one-off award of share options with an exercise
price equal to the market price of the shares on the grant date. They vested in tranches of 50% on the first
anniversary of the date of grant and 25% on the second and third anniversaries of the grant date. Options lapse
if they remain unexercised at the tenth anniversary of the grant date. No new awards will be made under 
this plan.

Long-Term Incentive Plan – This plan was introduced in 2001 and consists of two parts: share options and/or
restricted shares.

Options were granted under this plan in 2001 based on a pre-grant earnings per share growth test and are not
subject to further performance conditions on exercise. The options became exercisable in tranches and lapse if
they remain unexercised at the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
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The vesting of restricted shares is normally dependent upon the satisfaction of corporate performance targets
over a three year period. These targets may be based on market and/or non-market performance criteria.
Restricted shares granted in 2001 vested based on Pearson’s three-year cumulative free cash flow per share
performance. Awards made in December 2002 and September 2003 vest in tranches. One sixth of the award
vests after three years with no performance conditions. The vesting of the balance depends on Pearson’s share
price performance over the seven year period following the grants. Restricted shares awarded in December 2004
and September 2005 vest dependent on the following market and non-market performance criteria: relative
shareholder return, return on invested capital and a combination of earnings per share and sales growth.
The award is split equally across all three measures.

Annual Bonus Share Matching Plan – This plan permits executive directors and senior executives around the
Group to invest up to 50% of any after tax annual bonus in Pearson shares. If these shares are held and the
Group meets an earnings per share growth target, the Company will match them on a gross basis of up to 
one share for every one held after three years and another one for two originally held after five years.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options granted under the Group’s schemes are 
as follows:

2005 2004 2003
2005 Weighted 2004 Weighted 2003 Weighted

Number of average Number of average Number of average
share exercise share exercise share exercise 

options price options price options price
000s £ 000s £ 000s £

Outstanding at beginning of year 26,179 5.93 32,284 6.93 35,608 8.84

Granted during the year 606 5.06 886 4.56 2,309 5.16

Exercised during the year (324) 6.78 (254) 10.10 (89) 10.60

Forfeited during the year (4,352) 10.42 (6,301) 7.49 (5,053) 16.25

Expired during the year (432) – (436) – (491) –

Outstanding at end of year 21,677 5.05 26,179 5.93 32,284 6.93

Options exercisable at the end of year 7,634 7.80 9,071 9.23 9,882 9.44

Options were exercised regularly throughout the year. The weighted average share price during the year was
£6.52 (2004: £6.25; 2003: £5.72). Early exercises are treated as an acceleration of vesting and the remaining
charge is recognised at the date of exercise.
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The options outstanding at the end of the year have weighted average remaining contractual lives and exercise
prices as follows:

2005 2004 2003
2005 Weighted 2004 Weighted 2003 Weighted

Number of average Number of average Number of average
share contractual share contractual share contractual 

Range of exercise prices options life options life options life
£ 000s Years 000s Years 000s Years

0 – 5 2,773 2.08 3,251 2.97 2,740 3.66

5 – 10 5,555 4.48 6,538 5.44 7,797 6.02

10 – 15 8,237 4.63 9,604 5.57 11,758 6.63

15 – 20 1,168 3.80 1,469 4.81 2,210 5.78

20 – 25 930 3.80 1,346 4.92 2,210 6.02

>25 3,014 4.22 3,971 4.65 5,569 5.79

21,677 4.13 26,179 5.00 32,284 5.99

In 2005, 2004 and 2003 options were granted under the Worldwide Save for Shares Plan. The weighted average
estimated fair value for the options granted was calculated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.

The weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average

Fair value £2.34 £2.70 £1.82

Weighted average share price £6.54 £6.58 £5.15

Weighted average exercise price £5.08 £4.96 £4.25

Expected volatility 33.69% 41.95% 48.74%

Expected life 3.6 years 3.8 years 4.0 years

Risk free rate 4.48% 4.77% 3.84%

Expected dividend yield 2.40% 2.72% 4.55%

Forfeiture rate 20.0% 21.1% 18.7%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 
3 – 7 years depending on the vesting term of the options.

During the year the following shares were granted under restricted share arrangements:

2005 2004 2003
2005 Weighted 2004 Weighted 2003 Weighted

Number average Number average Number average
of shares fair value of shares fair value of shares fair value

000s £ 000s £ 000s £

Annual Bonus Share Matching Plan 71 5.57 53 5.42 108 4.36

Long-term Incentive Plan 3,987 5.05 2,413 4.54 1,711 5.21
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The fair value of shares awarded under the Annual Bonus Share Matching Plan was determined using a Black-
Scholes model. Shares awarded under the Long-Term Incentive Plan were also valued using a Black-Scholes
model provided the shares vest unconditionally. The weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into
the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

2005 2004
Weighted Weighted 

average average

Fair value £6.19 £4.54

Weighted average share price £6.69 £6.13

Weighted average exercise price – –

Expected volatility 32.79% 38.39%

Expected life 3.3 years 3.0 years

Risk free rate 4.19% 4.59%

Expected dividend yield 2.35% 4.00%

Forfeiture rate 9.9% 4.5%

In 2003, no restricted shares granted were valued using a Black-Scholes model. The fair value of restricted shares
that vest conditionally upon the fulfilment of a market condition were valued by an independent actuary using a
Monte Carlo model. Shares with a non-market vesting condition were fair valued based on the share price at the
date of grant taking into account any future dividend payments. The performance conditions were considered
by adjusting the number of shares expected to vest based on the most likely outcome of the relevant
performance criteria.

Subsidiary share option plans
IDC, a 61% subsidiary of the Group, operates the following share-based payment plans:

2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan In 2001, IDC adopted the 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan for all eligible
employees worldwide. The 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan allows employees to purchase stock at a
discounted price at specific times.

2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan Under this plan, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors can
grant share-based awards representing up to 20% of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding 
at the date of grant. The plan provides for the discretionary issuance of share-base awards to directors, officers
and employees of IDC, as well as persons who provide consulting or other services to IDC. The exercise price
for all options granted to date has been equal to the market price of the underlying shares at the date of grant.
Options expire ten years from the date of grant and generally vest over a three to four year period without any
performance criteria attached.
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In addition, grants of restricted stock can be made to certain executives and members of the Board of Directors
of IDC. The awarded shares are available for distribution, at no cost, at the end of a three-year vesting period.
No performance criteria are attached to shares granted under this plan.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options granted under the 2000 Long-Term Incentive
Plan is as follows:

2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003
2005 Weighted Weighted 2004 Weighted Weighted 2003 Weighted Weighted

Number average average Number average average Number average average
of share exercise exercise of share exercise exercise of share exercise exercise
options price price options price price options price price

000s $ £ 000s $ £ 000s $ £

Outstanding at 
beginning of year 9,832 13.46 7.36 9,358 12.15 7.44 8,619 10.43 6.38

Granted during the year 1,940 21.38 11.80 1,937 17.48 9.56 2,107 16.40 10.04

Exercised during the year (1,412) 11.57 6.39 (1,157) 9.59 5.24 (1,195) 7.20 4.41

Forfeited during the year (292) 16.86 9.31 (306) 13.32 7.28 (173) 12.36 7.57

Outstanding at end 
of year 10,068 15.16 8.37 9,832 13.46 7.36 9,358 12.15 7.44

Options exercisable at 
end of year 6,052 12.58 6.94 5,321 11.41 6.24 4,259 9.93 6.08

The options outstanding at the end of the year have a weighted average remaining contractual life and exercise
price as follows:

2005 2004 2003
2005 Weighted 2004 Weighted 2003 Weighted

Number average Number average Number average
of share contractual of share contractual of share contractual

Range of exercise prices options life options life options life
$ 000s Years 000s Years 000s Years

0 – 4.4 33 4.2 64 4.3 143 6.1

4.4 – 7.5 206 3.6 287 4.5 499 5.0

7.5 – 12 2,685 5.3 3,398 6.3 4,117 7.3

12 – 20 5,243 7.4 6,083 8.4 4,599 8.8

> 20 1,901 9.5 – – – –

10,068 5.4 9,832 7.5 9,358 7.9

During the year IDC granted the following shares under restricted share arrangements:

2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003
2005 Weighted Weighted 2004 Weighted Weighted 2003 Weighted Weighted

Number average average Number average average Number average average
of shares fair value fair value of shares fair value fair value of shares fair value fair value

000s $ £ 000s $ £ 000s $ £

2000 Long-Term 
Incentive Plan 148 20.57 11.35 69 17.57 9.61 76 16.97 10.39

2001 Employee
Stock Purchase Plan 178 3.68 2.03 124 3.24 1.77 118 2.64 1.62
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Shares awarded under the 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan were valued based on the share price prevailing 
at the date of grant. The fair value of the options granted under the Long-Term Incentive Plan and of the 
shares awarded under the 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan was estimated using a Black-Scholes model.
The weighted average estimated fair values and the inputs into the Black-Scholes model are as follows:

Long-Term Incentive Plan Employee Stock Purchase Plan

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted

average average average average average average

Fair value $5.56 $7.50 $8.09 $3.68 $3.24 $2.64

Weighted average share price $21.38 $17.48 $16.40 $15.46 $14.48 $11.24

Weighted average exercise price $21.38 $17.48 $16.40 $15.46 $14.48 $11.24

Expected volatility 24.50% 32.20% 61.10% 20.00% 20.00% 25.00%

Expected life 4.0 years 4.0 years 4.0 years 0.5 years 0.5 years 0.5 years

Risk free rate 3.86% 3.45% 2.00% 2.33% 1.03% 1.20%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Forfeiture rate 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of IDC’s share price over the vesting term of
the options.

25 Share capital and share premium
Number Ordinary Share
of shares Shares Premium

(thousands) £m £m

At 1 January 2003 801,662 200 2,465

Issue of shares – share option schemes 726 1 4

At 31 December 2003 802,388 201 2,469

Issue of shares – share option schemes 862 – 4

At 31 December 2004 803,250 201 2,473

Issue of shares – share option schemes 770 – 4

At 31 December 2005 804,020 201 2,477

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 1,186 million shares (2004: 1,182 million shares;
2003: 1,178 million shares) with a par value of 25 pence per share (2004: 25p per share; 2003: 25p per share).
All issued shares are fully paid.
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26 Other reserves
Total

Treasury Translation Fair value other Retained
All figures in £ millions shares reserve reserve reserves earnings

At 1 January 2003 (121) – – (121) 644

Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – (288) – (288) –

Purchase of treasury shares (1) – – (1) –

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent – – – – 252

Dividends paid – – – – (188)

Equity settled transactions – – – – 29

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit schemes – – – – (28)

Taxation on items taken directly to equity – – – – –

At 31 December 2003 (122) (288) – (410) 709

Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – (203) – (203) –

Purchase of treasury shares (10) – – (10) –

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent – – – – 262

Dividends paid – – – – (195)

Equity settled transactions – – – – 25

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit schemes – – – – (61)

Taxation on items taken directly to equity – – – – 9

At 31 December 2004 (132) (491) – (623) 749

Net exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – 327 – 327 –

Cumulative translation adjustment disposed – (14) – (14) –

Purchase of treasury shares (21) – – (21) –

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent – – – – 624

Dividends paid – – – – (205)

Equity settled transactions – – – – 23

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit schemes – – – – 26

Taxation on items taken directly to equity – – – – 12

Transition adjustment on adoption of IAS 39 (note 34) – 3 – 3 (15)

At 31 December 2005 (153) (175) – (328) 1,214

The translation reserve includes exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments.
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27 Business combinations
On 22 July 2005 the Group acquired 100% of the voting rights of AGS Publishing, an educational assessments
and curriculum materials publisher. In addition, several other businesses were acquired in the current and prior
years, none of which were individually material to the Group.

The assets and liabilities arising from acquisitions in each of the years are as follows:

2005
2004 2003

AGS AGS AGS Other Total Total Total
Carrying Fair Fair Fair Fair Fair Fair

All figures in £ millions amount value adjs value value value value value

Tangible fixed assets 1 – 1 6 7 1 10

Intangible assets – 58 58 31 89 15 44

Intangible assets – pre-publication 15 – 15 – 15 – –

Inventory 3 – 3 7 10 2 –

Receivables 7 – 7 25 32 3 32

Payables (5) (1) (6) (36) (42) (4) (95)

Provisions (2) – (2) (1) (3) 1 (4)

Deferred taxation – (20) (20) (1) (21) – (15)

Cash and cash equivalents (1) – (1) 4 3 – 34

Equity minority interests – – – 8 8 (3) (8)

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired at fair value 18 37 55 43 98 15 (2)

Goodwill 105 – 105 50 155 22 113

Total 160 93 253 37 111

Satisfied by:

Cash (160) (89) (249) (39) (87)

Deferred cash consideration – (5) (5) – (24)

Costs provided for – 1 1 (1) –

Net prior year adjustments – – – 3 –

Total consideration (160) (93) (253) (37) (111)

Book value of net assets/(liabilities acquired) 18 40 58 4 (32)

Fair value adjustments 37 3 40 1 30

Fair value to the Group 55 43 98 5 (2)

The fair value adjustments relating to the acquisition of AGS are provisional and will be finalised during 2006.
They include the valuation of intangible assets, the related deferred tax effect and recognition of provisions.
Adjustments to 2004 provisional fair values largely relate to the acquisition of Dominie Press.

Net cash outflow on acquisition:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Cash – current year acquisitions (249) (39) (87)

Deferred payments for prior year acquisitions and other items – (2) (7)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 3 – 34

Cash outflow on acquisition (246) (41) (60)
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27 Business combinations continued

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of AGS is attributable to the profitability of the acquired business and
the significant synergies expected to arise.

AGS contributed £21m of sales and £6m to the Group’s profit before tax between the date of acquisition and the
balance sheet date. Other businesses acquired contributed £1m to the Group’s profit before tax between the date
of acquisition and the balance sheet date.

If the acquisitions had been completed on 1 January 2005, total Group sales for the period would have been
£4,168m, and profit before tax would have been £474m.

28 Disposals
In April 2005 the Group disposed of its 79% interest in Recoletos Grupo de Communicación S.A.

2005
2004 2003

All figures in £ millions Recoletos Other Total Total Total

Disposal of subsidiaries

Property, plant and equipment (48) – (48) – (3)

Other financial assets (2) – (2) – –

Associates (3) – (3) – –

Inventory (4) – (4) – (2)

Receivables (59) – (59) (4) (9)

Payables 68 3 71 2 10

Provisions 2 1 3 – –

Deferred taxation 8 – 8 – –

Net (cash and cash equivalents)/borrowings (132) (2) (134) 1 1

Equity minority interests 60 (6) 54 (4) –

Attributable goodwill (98) (6) (104) (4) (4)

Currency translation adjustment 14 – 14 – –

Net assets disposed of (194) (10) (204) (9) (7)

Proceeds received 503 10 513 8 1

Costs (3) – (3) (2) (1)

Deferred consideration – – – – 2

Net prior year adjustments – – – – 1

Profit/(loss) on sale 306 – 306 (3) (4)

2005 2004 2003

Cash flow from disposals

Cash – current year disposals 513 8 1

Costs paid (3) (2) (2)

Deferred receipts and payments from prior year disposals and other amounts – – (3)

Cash and cash equivalents/net debt disposed of (134) 1 1

Net cash outflow 376 7 (3)
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29 Cash generated from operations
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Net profit 644 284 275

Adjustments for:

Tax 125 70 84

Depreciation 80 84 85

Amortisation of purchased intangible assets 11 5 4

Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 20 28

Amortisation of pre-publication investment 192 168 158

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment – 4 2

(Profit)/loss on sale of other financial assets – (16) 1

Net finance costs 70 76 90

Share of results of joint ventures and associates (14) (10) (4)

(Profit)/loss on sale of subsidiaries and associates (346) 3 (8)

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) from transactions 39 (15) (51)

Share-based payments 23 25 29

Inventories (17) (12) 10

Trade and other receivables (4) (18) (92)

Trade and other payables 71 61 (50)

Provisions (17) (24) (30)

Cash generated from operations 875 705 531

Dividends from joint ventures and associates 14 12 10

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (76) (101) (79)

Purchase of intangibles (24) (24) (26)

Capital element of finance leases (3) (2) (3)

Sale of property, plant and equipment 3 4 8

Investment in pre-publication (222) (181) (173)

Add back: Cash received relating to acquired deferred income – – 42

Add back: Non-operating property, plant and equipment 1 1 –

Add back: Integration costs 2 4 8

Operating cash flow 570 418 318

Operating tax paid (65) (55) (34)

Operating finance charges paid (65) (85) (76)

Operating free cash flow 440 278 208

Non operating tax received/(paid) – 10 (10)

Non-operating finance charges paid (7) – –

Integration costs (2) (4) (8)

Total free cash flow 431 284 190

Dividends paid (including to minorities) (222) (197) (207)

Net movement of funds from operations 209 87 (17)
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29 Cash generated from operations continued

In the cash flow statement, proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Net book amount 3 8 10

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment – (4) (2)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 3 4 8

Non-cash transactions

The principal non-cash transactions are movements in finance lease obligations – (1) (1)

30 Contingencies
There are contingent Group liabilities that arise in the normal course of business in respect of indemnities,
warranties and guarantees in relation to former subsidiaries and in respect of guarantees in relation to
subsidiaries and associates. In addition there are contingent liabilities of the Group in respect of legal claims.
None of these claims is expected to result in a material gain or loss to the Group.

31 Commitments

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred is as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Property, plant and equipment 1 6 1

The Group leases various offices and warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases
have varying terms and renewal rights. The Group also leases various plant and equipment under operating
lease agreements, also with varying terms. The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the
year is disclosed in note 5.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments in respect of operating leases are as follows:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Not later than one year 129 117 123

Later than one year and not later than five years 397 353 375

Later than five years 869 584 529

1,395 1,054 1,027

32 Related party transactions
Joint ventures and associates Amounts advanced to joint ventures and associates during the year and at the
balance sheet date are set out in note 13. Amounts falling due from joint ventures and associates are set out 
in note 19.

Key management personnel are deemed to be the members of the board of directors of Pearson plc. It is 
this board which has responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.
Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in the directors’ remuneration report.

There were no other material related party transactions.

No guarantees have been provided to related parties.
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33 Events after the balance sheet date
On 9 January 2006 Pearson announced the purchase of 1,130,739 shares in Interactive Data Corporation (IDC)
for $21.67 per share in cash. This purchase brings Pearson’s total holding in IDC to almost 62%. On 23 January
2006 Pearson announced the acquisition of Promissor, a leading professional testing business from Houghton
Mifflin Company for $42m in cash.

34 Explanation of transition to IFRS
These are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted 
by the EU.

The accounting policies set out in note 1 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2005, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2003 and the preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 
1 January 2003 (the Group’s date of transition). IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’
and IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation’ have not been applied to the comparative
periods because the Group has taken a transitional exemption and adopted those standards prospectively from 
1 January 2005. The effect of the transitional adjustment on the balance sheet as at 1 January 2005 is set out in
the tables below.

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Group has made adjustments to amounts previously reported
in its financial statements under UK GAAP. An explanation of how the transition from previous UK GAAP 
to IFRS has affected the Group’s financial position and cash flows is set out in the tables and notes below.
These adjustments include some reclassifications of items within the income statement and within the balance
sheet in accordance with IFRS disclosure requirements.

Balance sheet as at 1 January 2003 (date of transition)
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 503 (68) 435

Intangible assets 3,610 71 3,681

Investments in joint ventures and associates 113 (7) 106

Deferred income tax assets – 374 374

Other financial assets 22 – 22

Other receivables – 74 74

4,248 444 4,692

Current assets

Intangible assets – pre-publication – 380 380

Inventories 734 (380) 354

Trade and other receivables 1,059 (79) 980

Deferred income tax assets 174 (174) –

Cash and cash equivalents 575 (10) 565

2,542 (263) 2,279

Total assets 6,790 181 6,971
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Balance sheet as at 1 January 2003 (date of transition) continued

All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (1,734) (2) (1,736)

Deferred income tax liabilities – (119) (119)

Retirement benefit obligations – (351) (351)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges (165) 120 (45)

Other liabilities (60) (10) (70)

(1,959) (362) (2,321)

Current liabilities

Trade and other liabilities (1,114) 178 (936)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (249) (3) (252)

Current income tax liabilities – (52) (52)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges – (34) (34)

(1,363) 89 (1,274)

Total liabilities (3,322) (273) (3,595)

Net assets 3,468 (92) 3,376

Equity

Share capital 200 – 200

Share premium 2,465 – 2,465

Other reserves (121) – (121)

Retained earnings 732 (88) 644

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 3,276 (88) 3,188

Minority interest 192 (4) 188

Total equity 3,468 (92) 3,376

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2003
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 468 (66) 402

Intangible assets 3,260 290 3,550

Investments in joint ventures and associates 64 – 64

Deferred income tax assets – 342 342

Other financial assets 21 – 21

Other receivables – 100 100

3,813 666 4,479
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2003 continued

All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Current assets

Intangible assets – pre-publication – 362 362

Inventories 683 (364) 319

Trade and other receivables 1,134 (109) 1,025

Deferred income tax assets 145 (145) –

Cash and cash equivalents 561 (10) 551

2,523 (266) 2,257

Total assets 6,336 400 6,736

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (1,347) (2) (1,349)

Deferred income tax liabilities – (140) (140)

Retirement benefit obligations – (364) (364)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges (152) 93 (59)

Other liabilities (45) (25) (70)

(1,544) (438) (1,982)

Current liabilities

Trade and other liabilities (1,129) 186 (943)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (575) (3) (578)

Current income tax liabilities – (54) (54)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges – (18) (18)

(1,704) 111 (1,593)

Total liabilities (3,248) (327) (3,575)

Net assets 3,088 73 3,161

Equity

Share capital 201 – 201

Share premium 2,469 – 2,469

Other reserves (122) (288) (410)

Retained earnings 345 364 709

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 2,893 76 2,969

Minority interest 195 (3) 192

Total equity 3,088 73 3,161
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2004
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 473 (118) 355

Intangible assets 2,890 388 3,278

Investments in joint ventures and associates 48 (1) 47

Deferred income tax assets – 359 359

Other financial assets 17 (2) 15

Other receivables – 102 102

3,428 728 4,156

Current assets

Intangible assets – pre-publication – 356 356

Inventories 676 (362) 314

Trade and other receivables 1,104 (171) 933

Deferred income tax assets 165 (165) –

Cash and cash equivalents 613 (152) 461

2,558 (494) 2,064

Non-current assets classified as held for sale – 358 358

2,558 (136) 2,422

Total assets 5,986 592 6,578

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (1,712) (2) (1,714)

Deferred income tax liabilities – (139) (139)

Retirement benefit obligations – (408) (408)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges (123) 80 (43)

Other liabilities (60) (39) (99)

(1,895) (508) (2,403)

Current liabilities

Trade and other liabilities (1,168) 300 (868)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (107) (2) (109)

Current income tax liabilities – (89) (89)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges – (14) (14)

(1,275) 195 (1,080)

Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale – (81) (81)

Total liabilities (3,170) (394) (3,564)

Net assets 2,816 198 3,014
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Balance sheet as at 31 December 2004 continued

All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Equity

Share capital 201 – 201

Share premium 2,473 – 2,473

Other reserves (132) (491) (623)

Retained earnings 61 688 749

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 2,603 197 2,800

Minority interest 213 1 214

Total equity 2,816 198 3,014

Adjustments to equity
All figures in £ millions Notes 1 Jan 2003 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004

Total equity UK GAAP 3,468 3,088 2,816

Goodwill amortisation a 66 228 394

Intangible assets acquired b – 40 48

Intangible assets – capitalised software costs c 3 – –

Intangible assets – pre-publication expenditure d – – –

Share-based payments e 13 15 22

Employee benefits f (259) (284) (338)

Leases g (12) (22) (33)

Joint ventures h (3) (5) (6)

Associates i (10) (10) (8)

Income taxes j (3) (5) (7)

Dividends k 115 119 125

Other (2) (3) 1

Discontinued operations l – – –

Total adjustments to equity (92) 73 198

Total equity IFRS 3,376 3,161 3,014
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Income statement for the year to 31 December 2003
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Continuing operations

Sales 4,048 (198) 3,850

Cost of goods sold (1,910) 64 (1,846)

Gross profit 2,138 (134) 2,004

Operating expenses (1,912) 318 (1,594)

Other net gains and losses 6 (12) (6)

Share of results of joint ventures and associates – 2 2

Operating profit 232 174 406

Net finance costs (80) (13) (93)

Profit before tax 152 161 313

Income tax (75) 14 (61)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 77 175 252

Profit for the year from discontinued operations – 23 23

Profit for the year 77 198 275

Income statement for the year to 31 December 2004
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Continuing operations

Sales 3,919 (223) 3,696

Cost of goods sold (1,866) 77 (1,789)

Gross profit 2,053 (146) 1,907

Operating expenses (1,832) 312 (1,520)

Other net gains and losses 9 – 9

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 10 (2) 8

Operating profit 240 164 404

Net finance costs (69) (10) (79)

Profit before tax 171 154 325

Income tax (62) (1) (63)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 109 153 262

Profit for the year from discontinued operations – 22 22

Profit for the year 109 175 284
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Adjustments to profit
All figures in £ millions Notes 2003 2004

Profit for the year UK GAAP 77 109

Goodwill amortisation a 242 204

Intangible assets acquired b (4) (5)

Intangible assets – capitalised software costs c (1) (1)

Intangible assets – pre-publication expenditure d – –

Share-based payments e (23) (16)

Employee benefits f 1 6

Leases g (10) (12)

Joint ventures h (2) (2)

Associates i (2) (2)

Income taxes j (2) (2)

Other (1) 5

Discontinued operations l – –

Total adjustments to profit for the year 198 175

Profit for the year IFRS 275 284

Cash flow for the year to 31 December 2003
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Cash flows from operating activities 228 172 400

Cash flows from investing activities (91) (172) (263)

Cash flows from financing activities (228) 86 (142)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 37 8 45

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (54) 94 40

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 340 148 488

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 286 242 528

Cash flow for the year to 31 December 2004
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP Adjs IFRS

Cash flows from operating activities 387 175 562

Cash flows from investing activities (102) (179) (281)

Cash flows from financing activities (255) (6) (261)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (3) (1) (4)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 27 (11) 16

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 286 242 528

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 313 231 544
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Effect of IAS 32 and IAS 39 transitional adjustment (note 1m)

All figures in £ millions 31 Dec 2004 Adj 1 Jan 2005

Non-current assets

Deferred income tax assets 359 5 364

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments – 145 145

Current assets

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments – 1 1

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (1,714) (134) (1,848)

Financial liabilities – Derivative financial instruments – (40) (40)

Current liabilities

Trade and other liabilities (868) 14 (854)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (109) – (109)

Financial liabilities – Derivative financial instruments – (3) (3)

Reserves (126) 12 (114)

First-time adoption exemptions applied
IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards’ sets out the transition rules
which must be applied when IFRS is adopted for the
first time in reporting IFRS financial information.
In general the Group is required to select accounting
policies in accordance with IFRS valid at its first IFRS
reporting date and apply those polices retrospectively.
The standard sets out certain mandatory exceptions 
to retrospective application and certain optional
exemptions. The most significant optional exemptions
adopted by the Group are set out below:

1 Business combinations
The Group has elected not to apply IFRS 3
‘Business Combinations’ retrospectively to business
combinations that occurred before the date of
transition. Subject to the transition adjustments to
IFRS required by IFRS 1, the accounting for business
combinations before the date of transition is
grandfathered at the date of transition from the UK
GAAP financial statements.

2 Employee benefits
All cumulative actuarial gains and losses have been
recognised in full in the period in which they occur 
in the statement of recognised income and expense 
in accordance with IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’
(as amended on 16 December 2004).

3 Share-based payments
The Group has elected to apply IFRS 2 ‘Share-based
Payment’ retrospectively to all options granted but not
fully vested at the date of transition. Consequently the
share-based payment charge from 2003 represents the
charge for all options granted and not fully vested at 
31 December 2002.

4 Financial instruments
The Group has elected to apply IAS 39 ‘Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and 
IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation’ from 1 January 2005. After this date,
where hedge accounting cannot be applied under 
IAS 39, changes in the market value of financial
instruments will be taken to the income statement.
No adjustment to the 2003 or 2004 UK GAAP
financial statements was required due to the chosen
adoption date of IAS 32 and IAS 39.

5 Cumulative translation differences
The Group has deemed the cumulative translation
differences for foreign operations to be zero at the date
of transition. Any gains and losses on disposals of
foreign operations will exclude translation differences
arising prior to the transition date.
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Significant adjustments
a. Goodwill amortisation – IFRS 3‘Business
Combinations’ requires that goodwill is not amortised
but instead is subject to an impairment review annually
or when there are indications that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. The Group has elected not to
apply IFRS 3 retrospectively to business combinations
before the date of transition.

b. Intangible assets acquired – Business combinations
since the date of transition have been accounted for 
in accordance with IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’,
with intangible assets recognised and amortised over
their useful economic lives where they are separable or
arise from a contractual or legal right. As part of the
acquisition of Comstock Inc in February 2003, certain
intangible assets were acquired, mainly relating to
customer lists and acquired technology, which are
being amortised over periods between two and
30 years. In addition, other less significant intangible
assets, mainly relating to publishing rights, have been
recognised for some of the smaller acquisitions made
during 2004 and amortised over periods of up to
15 years.

c. Capitalised software costs – Under IAS 38 ‘Intangible
Assets’ computer software which is not integral to a
related item of hardware should be classified as an
intangible asset. As such, certain computer software
costs have been re-classified from property, plant and
equipment to intangible assets. In addition, certain
costs relating to software development, previously
expensed under UK GAAP, have been capitalised
under IAS 38 and are being amortised over their
estimated useful lives.

d. Pre-publication expenditure – Under IAS 38
‘Intangible Assets’, intangible assets are required to be
recognised if they meet the criteria of identifiability,
control over a resource and existence or probability 
of inflow of future economic benefits. As such pre-
publication costs (the direct costs incurred in the
development of educational programmes and titles
prior to their publication) have been re-classified from
inventory to intangible assets. They continue to be
amortised upon publication of the title over estimated
economic lives of five years or less, being an estimate 
of the expected operating life cycle of the title, with a
higher proportion of the amortisation taken in the
earlier years.

e. Share-based payments – IFRS 2 ‘Share-based
Payment’ requires that the expense incurred for equity
instruments granted is recognised in the financial
statements at their fair value measured at the date of
grant and that the expense is recognised over the
vesting period of the instrument. The Group has a
number of employee option and performance share
schemes. The Group has elected to apply IFRS 2
‘Share-based Payment’ retrospectively to all options
granted but not fully vested at the transition date.
Consequently the share-based payment charge from
2003 represents the charge for all options granted and
not fully vested at 31 December 2002.

f. Employee benefits – IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ was
amended on 16 December 2004. The Group has
elected to adopt the December 2004 amendments 
to the standard early and differences between the 
actual and expected return on assets, changes in the
retirement benefit obligation due to experience and
changes in actuarial assumptions are included in full 
in equity in the statement of recognised income and
expense. Therefore the amount recognised on the
balance sheet in respect of liabilities for defined benefit
pension and other post-retirement benefit plans
represents the present value of the obligations for 
past service offset by the fair value of scheme assets.

The service cost of benefits accruing is accounted for as
an operating cost and the unwinding of the discount
rate on the scheme liabilities and the expected return
on scheme assets as a financing charge or financing
income. The Group has adopted the same assumptions
under IAS 19 as were used for FRS 17 purposes under
UK GAAP in 2003 and 2004.

The restated opening IFRS balance sheet reflects the
fair value of the plan assets and the present value of the
defined benefit obligation of the Group’s defined
benefit schemes.

g. Leases – IAS 17 ‘Leases’ sets out additional criteria 
to be considered in ascertaining whether a lease is a
finance or operating lease. Following a review of all
lease agreements no properties have been re-classified.

In addition, IAS 17 requires that the expense is
recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term,
including any rent-free periods given at the inception of
a lease. Contracted future lease increments must also be
amortised evenly over the full period of the lease rather
than the period to which the lease is estimated to revert
to market rates. The profit and loss account has been
adjusted to take into account the amortisation of lease
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34 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

incentives over longer periods than under UK GAAP
and to accelerate the charge in respect of fixed
contractual increments in lease payments.

h. Joint ventures – Following a review, the Group has
concluded that its 50% holding in Maskew Miller
Longman should be accounted for as a joint venture
under IFRS rather than its classification as a subsidiary 
under UK GAAP.

i. Joint ventures and associates – The results of all joint
ventures and associates have been adjusted to take 
into account IFRS adjustments within their own
financial statements.

j. Income taxes – IAS 12 ‘Income Taxes’, requires that
deferred taxation also be provided on all temporary
differences, not just timing differences as required
under UK GAAP. Deferred tax is provided, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements unless
the initial recognition exemption applies. Deferred tax
is not recognised for temporary differences arising
on initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination if at the
time of transaction neither accounting nor taxable
profit is affected. Deferred taxation has been provided
on the post-acquisition difference between the book
and tax bases of intangible assets and goodwill if
its amortisation is tax deductible. A deferred tax
liability has also been recognised in respect of the
undistributed earnings of subsidiaries other than
where it is intended that those undistributed earnings
will not be remitted in the foreseeable future.

Deferred taxation has been recognised on the IFRS
adjustments at the tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and 

are expected to apply when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

k. Dividends – IAS 10 ‘Events after the Balance Sheet
Date’ requires that dividends declared after the 
balance sheet date should not be recognised as a
liability at the balance sheet date as they do not
represent a present obligation at that date as defined 
by IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets’.

The final dividends relating to the years to 
31 December 2002, 2003 and 2004 have been reversed
and recognised as a liability in the years 2003, 2004 and
2005 respectively.

l. Discontinued operations – Consistent with the UK
GAAP treatment, Recoletos has been treated as
discontinued as at 31 December 2004 and met the
criteria as ‘held for sale’ at that date. Accordingly the
results are disclosed in one line in the income
statement, ‘Profit for the year from discontinued
operations’ for both 2003 and 2004 and, at 
31 December 2004, it is disclosed in the balance sheet
in two lines – ‘Non-current assets classified as held for
sale’ and ‘Liabilities associated with non-current assets
classified as held for sale’.

When an asset’s carrying value will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use and certain criteria regarding
probability and proximity of the sale are satisfied, it 
is classified as held for sale and stated at the lower 
of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell.
No depreciation is charged in respect of non-current
assets classified as held for sale.

CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

Company statement of recognised income and expense
Year ended 31 December 2005
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves net of tax – (20) (23)

(Loss)/profit for the year (362) 946 (10)

Total recognised income and expense for the year (362) 926 (33)

Effect of transition adjustment on adoption of IAS 39 (see note 11) (3)
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Company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2005
All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Assets

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 2 6,883 7,134 6,343

Amounts due from subsidiaries 289 288 944

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments 5 79 – –

Other financial assets 1 1 –

7,252 7,423 7,287

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries 691 674 1,394

Current income tax assets 67 66 3

Cash and cash equivalents 3 598 332 378

Other assets 3 – –

Total assets 8,611 8,495 9,062

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings 4 (1,261) (1,132) (1,123)

Financial liabilities – Derivative financial instruments 5 (22) – –

Amounts due to subsidiaries (591) (440) (234)

Provisions for other liabilities and charges – (4) (2)

(1,874) (1,576) (1,359)

Current liabilities

Other liabilities (1) (13) (17)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings 4 (366) (433) (913)

Amounts due to subsidiaries (2,274) (1,816) (2,860)

Total liabilities (4,515) (3,838) (5,149)

Net assets 4,096 4,657 3,913

Equity

Share capital 6 201 201 201

Share premium 6 2,477 2,473 2,469

Other reserves 7 1,418 1,983 1,243

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 4,096 4,657 3,913

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors on 26 February 2006 and
signed on its behalf by 

Rona Fairhead, Chief financial officer

C O M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D
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Company cash flow statement
Year ended 31 December 2005
All figures in £ millions Notes 2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Net (loss)/profit (362) 946 (10)

Adjustments for:

Tax (54) (69) (16)

Net finance costs 241 161 50

Amounts due from subsidiaries 454 619 99

Provisions 95 – –

Cash generated from operations 374 1,657 123

Interest paid (159) (145) (92)

Tax received 57 4 21

Net cash generated from operating activities 272 1,516 52

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (33) – (15)

Interest received 13 1 92

Purchase of other financial assets (60) (983) (1)

Disposal of other financial assets 341 – –

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 261 (982) 76

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 4 4 5

Net Group contribution to purchase of treasury shares 5 9 6

Proceeds from borrowings – – 76

Repayments of borrowings (59) (258) –

Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders (205) (195) (188)

Net cash used in financing activities (255) (440) (101)

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (3) (4) 26

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 275 90 53

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (3) (93) (146)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3 272 (3) (93)

CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D
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NOT E S TO T H E CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S

1 Accounting policies

a. Basis of preparation
The financial statements on pages 107 to 115 comprise the separate financial statements of Pearson plc.
As permitted by section 230(4) of the Companies Act 1985, only the Group’s income statement has
been presented.

b. Group accounting policies
The accounting policies applied in the preparation of these Company financial statements are the same as 
those set out in Note 1 to the Group financial statements with the addition of the following:

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less provisions for diminution in value.

2 Investments in subsidiaries
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

At beginning of year 7,134 6,343 6,422

Subscription for share capital in subsidiaries 61 915 –

External acquisition 30 – 15

Share repurchase from subsidiary (331) – –

Disposal to subsidiary (11) – (22)

Provision for diminution in value – (100) (33)

Revaluations – (24) (39)

At end of year 6,883 7,134 6,343

3 Cash and cash equivalents
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Short-term bank deposits 598 332 378

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purpose of the cash flow statement:

2005 2004 2003

Cash and cash equivalents 598 332 378

Bank overdrafts (326) (335) (471)

272 (3) (93)

Short-term bank deposits are invested with banks and earn interest at the prevailing short-term deposit rates.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is the same as the carrying value.
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4 Financial liabilities – Borrowings
All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Non-current

6.125% Euro Bonds 2007 (nominal amount a591m) 436 390 343

10.5% Sterling Bonds 2008 (nominal amount £100m) 107 100 100

7% Global Dollar Bonds 2011 (nominal amount $500m) 307 260 278

7% Sterling Bonds 2014 (nominal amount £250m) 250 226 235

4.625% US Dollar notes 2018 (nominal amount $300m) 161 156 167

1,261 1,132 1,123

Current

Due within one year or on demand:

Bank loans and overdrafts 366 433 565

4.625% Euro Bonds 2004 – – 348

366 433 913

Total borrowings 1,627 1,565 2,036

The 2004 and 2003 figures for the 2007 Euro Bonds and 2014 Sterling Bonds (together with the 2004 Euro
Bond which has now been redeemed) include the effect of accounting for the foreign exchange element of the
related derivatives.

As at 31 December 2005 the exposure of the borrowings of the Company to interest rate changes when the
borrowings re-price is as follows:

Maturity of non-current borrowings:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

Between one and two years 436 – –

Between two and five years 107 490 443

Over five years 718 642 680

1,261 1,132 1,123

One to More than
All figures in £ millions Total One year five years five years

Carrying value of borrowings 1,627 366 543 718

Effect of interest rate swaps – 1,160 (471) (689)

1,627 1,526 72 29

N O T E S TO T H E CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D
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NOT E S TO T H E CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D

4 Financial liabilities – Borrowings continued

The carrying amounts and fair values of non-current borrowings are as follows:

Carrying Carrying Carrying
Effective amount Fair value amount Fair value amount Fair value

All figures in £ millions interest rate 2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003

6.125% Euro Bonds 2007 6.18% 436 419 390 409 343 448

10.5% Sterling Bonds 2008 10.53% 107 113 100 116 100 120

7% Global Dollar Bonds 2011 7.16% 307 310 260 293 278 317

7% Sterling Bonds 2014 7.20% 250 282 226 255 235 275

4.625% US Dollar notes 2018 4.69% 161 155 156 142 167 151

1,261 1,279 1,132 1,215 1,123 1,311

The fair values are based on clean market prices at the year end or, where these are not available, on the quoted
market prices of comparable debt issued by other companies. The effective interest rates above relate to the
underlying debt instruments. The carrying amounts of current borrowings approximate their fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

All figures in £ millions 2005 2004 2003

US dollar 834 761 1,083

Sterling 357 510 649

Euro 436 294 304

1,627 1,565 2,036

5 Derivative financial instruments
2005

All figures in £ millions Assets Liabilities

Interest rate derivatives – in a fair value hedging relationship 31 (16)

Interest rate derivatives – not in a hedging relationship 14 (6)

Cross currency rate derivatives – in a net investment hedging relationship 13 –

Cross currency rate derivatives – not in a hedging relationship 21 –

79 (22)

The fair value of the above derivative financial instruments is the same as the carrying value.
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6 Share capital and share premium
Number Ordinary Share
of shares Shares Premium

(thousands) £m £m

At 1 January 2003 801,662 200 2,465

Issue of shares – share option schemes 726 1 4

At 31 December 2003 802,388 201 2,469

Issue of shares – share option schemes 862 – 4

At 31 December 2004 803,250 201 2,473

Issue of shares – share option schemes 770 – 4

At 31 December 2005 804,020 201 2,477

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 1,186 million shares (2004: 1,182 million shares; 2003:
1,178 million shares) with a par value of 25 pence per share (2004: 25p per share; 2003: 25p per share).
All issued shares are fully paid.

7 Other reserves
Treasury Special Retained 

All figures in £ millions shares reserve earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2003 (39) 447 1,050 1,458

Net exchange adjustments net of tax – – (23) (23)

Loss for the financial year – – (10) (10)

Dividends paid – – (188) (188)

Treasury shares purchased less Group contribution 6 – – 6

Balance at 31 December 2003 (33) 447 829 1,243

Net exchange adjustments net of tax – – (20) (20)

Profit for the financial year – – 946 946

Dividends paid – – (195) (195)

Treasury shares purchased less Group contribution 9 – – 9

Balance at 31 December 2004 (24) 447 1,560 1,983

Loss for the financial year – – (362) (362)

Dividends paid – – (205) (205)

Treasury shares purchased less Group contribution 5 – - 5

Transition adjustment on adoption of IAS 39 (note 11) – – (3) (3)

Balance at 31 December 2005 (19) 447 990 1,418

The special reserve represents the cumulative effect of cancellation of the Company’s share premium account.
Included in the profit for the financial year 2004 are dividends received from subsidiaries. During 2005, a
dividend of £407m was repaid to a subsidiary as it was subsequently found that the subsidiary did not have
adequate distributable reserves as defined under the Companies Act and the guidance set out in the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales – Technical Release 7/03 (‘Guidance on the determination of
realised profits and losses in the context of distributions under the Companies Act 1985’).

NOT E S TO T H E CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D
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8 Contingencies
There are contingent liabilities that arise in the normal course of business in respect of indemnities, warranties
and guarantees in relation to former subsidiaries and guarantees in relation to subsidiaries. In addition there are
contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims. None of these claims is expected to result in a material gain or
loss to the Company.

9 Audit fees
Statutory audit fees relating to the Company were £30,000 (2004: £20,000; 2003: £20,000). Audit-related
regulatory reporting fees relating to the Company were £225,000 (2004: £225,000; 2003: £200,000).

10 Related party transactions
Subsidiaries The Company transacts and has outstanding balances with its subsidiaries. Amounts due from
subsidiaries and amounts due to subsidiaries are disclosed on the face of the Company Balance Sheet.
These loans are generally unsecured and interest is calculated based on market rates. The Company has interest
payable to subsidiaries during the year of £111m (2004: £131m; 2003: £63m) and interest receivable from
subsidiaries during the year of £36m (2004: £51m; 2003: £104m). Management fees payable to subsidiaries in
respect of centrally provided services amounted to £37m (2004: £20m; 2003: £1m).

Key management personnel are deemed to be the members of the board of directors of the Company. It is 
this board which has responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company.
Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in the directors’ remuneration report.

There were no other material related party transactions.

11 Explanation of transition to IFRS
These are the Company’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.

The accounting policies set out in note 1 of the Pearson plc consolidated financial statements have been applied
in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005, the comparative information
presented in these financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2004 and 31 December 2003 and the
preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 January 2003 (the Company’s date of transition). IAS 39
‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ and IAS 32 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure and
Presentation’ have not been applied to the comparative periods because the Company has taken a transitional
exemption and adopted those standards prospectively from 1 January 2005. After this date, where hedge
accounting cannot be applied under IAS 39, changes in the market value of financial instruments will be taken
to the profit and loss account. No adjustment to the 2003 or 2004 UK GAAP financial statements was required
due to the chosen adoption date of IAS 32 and IAS 39. The effect of the transitional adjustment on the balance
sheet as at 1 January 2005 is set out in the tables below.

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Company has made adjustments to amounts previously
reported in its financial statements under UK GAAP. An explanation of how the transition from previous 
UK GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s financial position is set out below. IFRS has had no effect on 
the Company’s cash flow.

Equity
All figures in £ millions 1 Jan 2003 31 Dec 2003 31 Dec 2004

Total equity UK GAAP 4,008 3,794 4,532

Dividends 115 119 125

Total equity IFRS 4,123 3,913 4,657

NOT E S TO T H E CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D
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11 Explanation of transition to IFRS continued

Dividends IAS 10 ‘Events after the Balance Sheet Date’ requires that dividends declared after the balance sheet
date should not be recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date as they do not represent a present obligation
at that date as defined by IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’.

Effect of IAS 32 and IAS 39 transitional adjustment 
All figures in £ millions 31 Dec 2004 Adj 1 Jan 2005

Non-current assets

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments – 135 135

Current assets

Financial assets – Derivative financial instruments – 1 1

Current income tax assets 66 1 67

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (1,132) (109) (1,241)

Financial liabilities – Derivative financial instruments – (40) (40)

Current liabilities

Other liabilities (13) 12 (1)

Financial liabilities – Borrowings (433) – (433)

Financial liabilities – Derivative financial instruments – (3) (3)

Reserves (1,983) 3 (1,980)

NOT E S TO T H E CO M PA N Y FI NA N C I A L STAT E M E N T S CO N T I N U E D
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PR I N C I PA L SU B S I D I A R I E S

The principal operating subsidiaries at 31 December 2005 are listed below. They operate mainly in the countries
of incorporation or registration, the investments are in equity share capital and they are all 100% owned unless
stated otherwise.

Country of incorporation or registration

Pearson Education

Pearson Education Inc. US

Pearson Education Ltd England

NCS Pearson Inc. US

FT Group

The Financial Times Ltd England

Financial Times Business Ltd England

Interactive Data Corporation (61%) US

Les Echos SA France

The Penguin Group

Penguin Putnam Inc. US

The Penguin Publishing Co Ltd England

Dorling Kindersley Holdings Ltd* England

*Direct investment of Pearson plc
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FI V E YE A R SU M M A RY

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
All figures in £ millions UK GAAP UK GAAP IFRS IFRS IFRS

Sales

Continuing operations  4,075 4,172 3,850 3,696 4,096

Discontinued operations 150 148 169 190 27

4,225 4,320 4,019 3,886 4,123

Adjusted operating profit

Pearson Education 274 326 292 277 348

FT Group 49 51 41 71 101

The Penguin Group 80 87 83 52 60

Continuing operations 403 464 416 400 509

Adjusted earnings per share 21.4p 30.3p 27.6p 27.5p 34.1p

Dividends per share 22.3p 23.4p 24.2p 25.4p 27.0p

Net assets 3,920 3,468 3,161 3,014 3,733

Net debt  2,379 1,408 1,376 1,221 996

Operating free cash flow per share 29.6p 38.3p 26.2p 34.9p 55.1p

Total free cash flow per share 17.6p 27.0p 23.9p 35.7p 54.0p

Return on invested capital % 4.6 6.0 6.0 6.2 6.7

Information for 2001 and 2002 is presented under UK GAAP. Information for 2003 onwards is presented under IFRS. See note 34 for details of the adjustments
made in transitioning from UK GAAP to IFRS.
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CO R P O R AT E A N D OP E R AT I N G ME A S U R E S

Sales – underlying and constant exchange rate movement
Sales movement for continuing operations excluding the impact of acquisitions and disposals and movements
in exchange rates.

All figures in £ millions 2005

Underlying increase 325

Portfolio changes 29

Exchange differences 46

Total sales increase 400

Underlying increase 9%

Constant exchange rate increase 10%

Adjusted income statement
Reconciliation of the Consolidated Income Statement to the adjusted numbers presented as non-GAAP
measures in the financial statements.

2005

Re-analyse Amortisation Other net Adjusted
Income Discontinued Other gains of acquired finance Income

All figures in £ millions Statement operations and losses intangibles costs Statement

Gross profit 2,074 27 – – – 2,101 

Operating expenses (1,592) (30) – 11 – (1,611)

Other net gains and losses 40 306 (346) – – – 

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 14 – – – 2 16 

Operating profit 536 303 (346) 11 2 506 

Net finance costs (70) – – – (14) (84)

Profit before tax 466 303 (346) 11 (12) 422 

Income tax (124) (1) (2) (4) 3 (128)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 342 302 (348) 7 (9) 294 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 302 (302) – – – – 

Profit for the year 644 – (348) 7 (9) 294 

Minority interest (20) – – (2) – (22)

Earnings 624 – (348) 5 (9) 272
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2004

Re-analyse Amortisation Other net Adjusted
Income Discontinued Other gains of acquired finance Income

All figures in £ millions Statement operations and losses intangibles costs Statement

Gross profit 1,907 129 – – – 2,036 

Operating expenses (1,520) (105) – 5 – (1,620)

Other net gains and losses 9 – (9) – – – 

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 8 2 – – – 10 

Operating profit 404 26 (9) 5 – 426 

Net finance costs (79) 3 – – – (76)

Profit before tax 325 29 (9) 5 – 350 

Income tax (63) (7) (36) (2) – (108)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 262 22 (45) 3 – 242 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 22 (22) – – – – 

Profit for the year 284 – (45) 3 – 242 

Minority interest (22) – – (1) – (23)

Earnings 262 – (45) 2 – 219 

2003

Re-analyse Amortisation Other net Adjusted
Income Discontinued Other gains of acquired finance Income

All figures in £ millions Statement operations and losses intangibles costs Statement

Gross profit 2,004 116 – – – 2,120 

Operating expenses (1,594) (87) – 4 – (1,677)

Other net gains and losses (6) 12 (6) – – – 

Share of results of joint ventures and associates 2 2 – – – 4 

Operating profit 406 43 (6) 4 – 447 

Net finance costs (93) 3 – – – (90)

Profit before tax 313 46 (6) 4 – 357 

Income tax (61) (23) (31) (1) – (116)

Profit for the year from continuing operations 252 23 (37) 3 – 241 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations 23 (23) – – – – 

Profit for the year 275 – (37) 3 – 241 

Minority interest (23) – 2 (1) – (22)

Earnings 252 – (35) 2 – 219 

CO R P O R AT E A N D OP E R AT I N G ME A S U R E S CO N T I N U E D



Adjusted operating profit – underlying and constant exchange rate movement
Operating profit movement excluding the impact of acquisitions and disposals and movements in 
exchange rates.

2005

All figures in £ millions Continuing Discontinued Total

Underlying increase 88 – 88

Portfolio changes 9 (29) (20)

Exchange differences 12 – 12

Adjusted operating profit increase 109 (29) 80

Underlying increase 22% – 22%

Constant exchange rate increase 24% – 16%

Free cash flow per share
Operating cash flow for continuing and discontinued operations less tax, interest and integration costs paid,
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue.

All figures in £ millions 2003 2004 2005

Adjusted operating profit 447 426 506

Cash conversion 71% 98% 113%

Operating cash flow 318 418 570

Tax paid on operating profits (34) (55) (65)

Net finance costs (76) (85) (65)

Operating free cash flow 208 278 440

Non operating finance changes – – (7)

Non operating tax (paid)/received (10) 10 –

Integration costs (8) (4) (2)

Total free cash flow 190 284 431

Weighted average number of shares in issue (millions) 794.4 795.6 797.9

Operating free cash flow per share 26.2p 34.9p 55.1p

Total free cash flow per share 23.9p 35.7p 54.0p

CO R P O R AT E A N D OP E R AT I N G ME A S U R E S CO N T I N U E D
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Return on invested capital*
Adjusted operating profit less cash tax expressed as a percentage of gross invested capital.

All figures in £ millions 2003 2004 2005

Adjusted operating profit 447 426 506

Cash tax (15%) (67) (64) (76)

Return 380 362 430

Gross goodwill 5,295 5,150 5,663

Net operating assets 1,020 728 792

Invested capital 6,315 5,878 6,455

Return on invested capital 6.0% 6.2% 6.7%
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SH A R E H O L D E R IN F O R M AT I O N

Payment of dividends to mandated accounts 
Where shareholders have given instruction for
payment to be made direct into a bank or building
society, this is done through the Bankers Automated
Clearing System (BACS), with the associated tax
voucher showing the tax credit attributable to the
dividend payment sent direct to the shareholder at the
address shown on our register. If you wish the tax
voucher to be sent to your bank or building society,
please inform our registrar, Lloyds TSB Registrars,
The Causeway, Worthing, West Sussex BN99 6DA.
Telephone 0870 600 3986 or, for those shareholders
with hearing difficulties, textphone number 
0870 600 3950.

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP)
The plan provides the benefit of giving shareholders
the right to buy the company’s shares on the London
stock market with the cash dividend. If you would like
further information about the DRIP, please contact
Lloyds TSB Registrars. Telephone 0870 241 3018.

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
Lloyds TSB Registrars offer ISAs in Pearson 
shares. They can be contacted for information 
on 0870 242 4244.

Low cost share dealing facilities 
A telephone and internet dealing service has been
arranged through Lloyds TSB Registrars which
provides a simple way of buying and selling Pearson
shares. Commission is 0.5% with a minimum charge
of £20 for telephone dealing and £17.50 for internet
dealing. For telephone sales call 0870 850 0852 between
8.30 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday, and for
internet sales log on to www.shareview.co.uk/dealing.
You will need your shareholder reference number
shown on your share certificate. A postal facility,
which provides a simple, low cost way of buying 
and selling Pearson shares, is available through 
the company’s stockbroker, JPMorgan Cazenove
Limited, 20 Moorgate, London EC2R 6DA.
Telephone 020 7588 2828. An alternative weekly 
postal dealing service is available through our
registrars, telephone 0870 242 4244 for details.

ShareGift
Shareholders with small holdings of shares, whose
value makes them uneconomic to sell, may wish to
donate them to ShareGift, the share donation charity
(registered charity number 1052686). ShareGift is
particularly designed to use donated shares to support
a wide range of UK charities. Over £7m has been 
given by ShareGift so far to over 1,000 UK charities.
Further information about ShareGift and the charities
it has supported may be obtained from their website,
www.sharegift.org or by contacting ShareGift at 
46 Grosvenor Street, London W1K 3HN.
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Shareholder information online 
Lloyds TSB Registrars provide a range of shareholder
information online. You can check your holding and
find practical help on transferring shares or updating
your details at www.shareview.co.uk. Lloyds TSB
Registrars can be contacted for information on 
0870 600 3970.

Information about the Pearson share price 
The current price of Pearson ordinary shares 
can be obtained from the company’s website,
www.pearson.com or from www.ft.com.

American Depositary Receipts (ADRs) 
Pearson’s ordinary shares are listed on the New York
Stock Exchange in the form of ADRs and traded under
the symbol PSO. Each ADR represents one ordinary
share. All enquiries regarding registered ADR holder
accounts and payment of dividends should be directed
to The Bank of New York, the authorised depositary
bank for Pearson’s ADR programme, at The Bank 
of New York, Investor Services, P.O. Box 11258,
Church Street Station, New York, NY 10286-1258,
telephone 1-888 BNY ADRs (toll free within 
the US) or (1) 212 815 3700 (outside the US),
or e-mail shareowners@bankofny.com, or sign-in at
www.stockbny.com. Voting rights for registered ADR
holders can be exercised through The Bank of New
York, and for beneficial ADR holders (and/or nominee
accounts) through your US brokerage institution.
Pearson will file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission a report on Form 20-F that will contain 
a US GAAP reconciliation.

Advisers 
Auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Bankers HSBC Bank Plc

Brokers JPMorgan Cazenove Limited, Citigroup

Financial advisers Lazard Brothers & Co. Limited,
J. Henry Schroder & Co. Limited

Solicitors Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer, Herbert
Smith and Morgan, Lewis & Bockius

2006 Financial calendar

Ex-dividend date       5 April

Record date 7 April

Last date for dividend reinvestment election 20 April

Annual general meeting  21 April

Payment date for dividend and share 
purchase date for dividend reinvestment 5 May

Interim results         31 July

Interim dividend      22 September

SH A R E H O L D E R IN F O R M AT I O N CO N T I N U E D
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